HEALTH TECHNOLOGY ASSESSMENT

VOLUME 18 ISSUE 52 AUGUST 2014 ISSN 1366-5278

The effectiveness of collaborative care for people with memory problems in primary care: results of the CAREDEM case management modelling and feasibility study

Steve Iliffe, Amy Waugh, Marie Poole, Claire Bamford, Katie Brittain, Carolyn Chew-Graham, Chris Fox, Cornelius Katona, Gill Livingston, Jill Manthorpe, Nick Steen, Barbara Stephens, Vanessa Hogan and Louise Robinson for the CAREDEM research team



The effectiveness of collaborative care for people with memory problems in primary care: results of the CAREDEM case management modelling and feasibility study

Steve Iliffe,^{1*} Amy Waugh,² Marie Poole,³ Claire Bamford,³ Katie Brittain,³ Carolyn Chew-Graham,⁴ Chris Fox,⁵ Cornelius Katona,² Gill Livingston,² Jill Manthorpe,⁶ Nick Steen,⁷ Barbara Stephens,⁸ Vanessa Hogan⁷ and Louise Robinson³ for the CAREDEM research team

¹Research Department of Primary Care and Population Health, University College London, London, UK
²Mental Health Sciences, University College London, London, UK
³Institute for Ageing, University of Newcastle, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
⁴Primary Care and Health Sciences, Keele University, Keele, UK
⁵Norwich Medical School, University of East Anglia, Norwich, UK
⁶Social Care Workforce Research Unit, King's College London, London, UK
⁷Clinical Trials Unit, Institute of Health and Society, University of Newcastle, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
⁸Dementia UK, London, UK

*Corresponding author

Declared competing interests of authors: during this study Steve Iliffe was Associate Director of the Dementia and Neurodegenerative Diseases Research Network (DeNDRoN), responsible for promoting primary care research; Barbara Stephens was CEO of Dementia UK at the time of the project; and Louise Robinson was Chair of the Primary Care Clinical Studies Group of DeNDRoN at the time of the research.

Published August 2014 DOI: 10.3310/hta18520

This report should be referenced as follows:

lliffe S, Waugh A, Poole M, Bamford C, Brittain K, Chew-Graham C, *et al.* The effectiveness of collaborative care for people with memory problems in primary care: results of the CAREDEM case management modelling and feasibility study. *Health Technol Assess* 2014;**18**(52).

Health Technology Assessment is indexed and abstracted in Index Medicus/MEDLINE, Excerpta Medica/EMBASE, Science Citation Index Expanded (SciSearch®) and Current Contents®/ Clinical Medicine.

Health Technology Assessment

HTA/HTA TAR

ISSN 1366-5278 (Print)

ISSN 2046-4924 (Online)

Impact factor: 5.116

Health Technology Assessment is indexed in MEDLINE, CINAHL, EMBASE, The Cochrane Library and the ISI Science Citation Index and is assessed for inclusion in the Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: nihredit@southampton.ac.uk

The full HTA archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hta. Print-on-demand copies can be purchased from the report pages of the NIHR Journals Library website: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Criteria for inclusion in the Health Technology Assessment journal

Reports are published in *Health Technology Assessment* (HTA) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HTA programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

Reviews in *Health Technology Assessment* are termed 'systematic' when the account of the search appraisal and synthesis methods (to minimise biases and random errors) would, in theory, permit the replication of the review by others.

HTA programme

The HTA programme, part of the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), was set up in 1993. It produces high-quality research information on the effectiveness, costs and broader impact of health technologies for those who use, manage and provide care in the NHS. 'Health technologies' are broadly defined as all interventions used to promote health, prevent and treat disease, and improve rehabilitation and long-term care.

The journal is indexed in NHS Evidence via its abstracts included in MEDLINE and its Technology Assessment Reports inform National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance. HTA research is also an important source of evidence for National Screening Committee (NSC) policy decisions.

For more information about the HTA programme please visit the website: http://www.nets.nihr.ac.uk/programmes/hta

This report

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HTA programme as project number 08/53/99. The contractual start date was in March 2011. The draft report began editorial review in June 2013 and was accepted for publication in November 2013. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HTA editors and publisher have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' report and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this report.

This report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the HTA programme or the Department of Health. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the HTA programme or the Department of Health.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Prepress Projects Ltd, Perth, Scotland (www.prepress-projects.co.uk).

Editor-in-Chief of *Health Technology Assessment* and NIHR Journals Library

Professor Tom Walley Director, NIHR Evaluation, Trials and Studies and Director of the HTA Programme, UK

NIHR Journals Library Editors

Professor Ken Stein Chair of HTA Editorial Board and Professor of Public Health, University of Exeter Medical School, UK

Professor Andree Le May Chair of NIHR Journals Library Editorial Group (EME, HS&DR, PGfAR, PHR journals)

Dr Martin Ashton-Key Consultant in Public Health Medicine/Consultant Advisor, NETSCC, UK

Professor Matthias Beck Chair in Public Sector Management and Subject Leader (Management Group), Queen's University Management School, Queen's University Belfast, UK

Professor Aileen Clarke Professor of Public Health and Health Services Research, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, UK

Dr Tessa Crilly Director, Crystal Blue Consulting Ltd, UK

Dr Peter Davidson Director of NETSCC, HTA, UK

Ms Tara Lamont Scientific Advisor, NETSCC, UK

Professor Elaine McColl Director, Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit, Institute of Health and Society, Newcastle University, UK

Professor William McGuire Professor of Child Health, Hull York Medical School, University of York, UK

Professor Geoffrey Meads Professor of Health Sciences Research, Faculty of Education, University of Winchester, UK

Professor Jane Norman Professor of Maternal and Fetal Health, University of Edinburgh, UK

Professor John Powell Consultant Clinical Adviser, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), UK

Professor James Raftery Professor of Health Technology Assessment, Wessex Institute, Faculty of Medicine, University of Southampton, UK

Dr Rob Riemsma Reviews Manager, Kleijnen Systematic Reviews Ltd, UK

Professor Helen Roberts Professor of Child Health Research, University College London, UK

Professor Helen Snooks Professor of Health Services Research, Institute of Life Science, College of Medicine, Swansea University, UK

Please visit the website for a list of members of the NIHR Journals Library Board: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/about/editors

Editorial contact: nihredit@southampton.ac.uk

Abstract

The effectiveness of collaborative care for people with memory problems in primary care: results of the CAREDEM case management modelling and feasibility study

Steve Iliffe,^{1*} Amy Waugh,² Marie Poole,³ Claire Bamford,³ Katie Brittain,³ Carolyn Chew-Graham,⁴ Chris Fox,⁵ Cornelius Katona,² Gill Livingston,² Jill Manthorpe,⁶ Nick Steen,⁷ Barbara Stephens,⁸ Vanessa Hogan⁷ and Louise Robinson³ for the CAREDEM research team

¹Research Department of Primary Care and Population Health, University College London, London, UK
²Mental Health Sciences, University College London, London, UK
³Institute for Ageing, University of Newcastle, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
⁴Primary Care and Health Sciences, Keele University, Keele, UK
⁵Norwich Medical School, University of East Anglia, Norwich, UK
⁶Social Care Workforce Research Unit, King's College London, London, UK
⁷Clinical Trials Unit, Institute of Health and Society, University of Newcastle, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
⁸Dementia UK, London, UK

*Corresponding author

Background: People with dementia and their families need support in different forms, but currently services are often fragmented with variable quality of care. Case management offers a way of co-ordinating services along the care pathway and therefore could provide individualised support; however, evidence of the effectiveness of case management for dementia is inconclusive.

Objective: To adapt the intervention used in a promising case management project in the USA and test its feasibility and acceptability in English general practice.

Design: In work package 1, a design group of varied professionals, with a carer and staff from the voluntary sector, met six times over a year to identify the skills and personal characteristics required for case management; protocols from the US study were adapted for use in the UK. The feasibility of recruiting general practices and patient–carer dyads and of delivering case management were tested in a pilot study (work package 2). An embedded qualitative study explored stakeholder views on study procedures and case management.

Setting: Four general practices, two in the north-east of England (Newcastle) one in London and one in Norfolk, took part in a feasibility pilot study of case management.

Participants: Community-dwelling people with dementia and their carers who were not already being case managed by other services.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Intervention: A social worker shared by the two practices in the north-east and practice nurses in the other two practices were trained to deliver case management. We aimed to recruit 11 people with dementia from each practice who were not already being case managed.

Main outcome measures: Numbers of people with dementia and their carers recruited, numbers and content of contacts, needs identified and perceptions of case management among stakeholders.

Results: Recruitment of practices and patients was slow and none of the practices achieved its recruitment target. It took more than 6 months to recruit a total of 28 people with dementia. Practice Quality and Outcome Framework registers for dementia contained only 60% of the expected number of people, most living in care homes. All stakeholders were positive about the potential of case management; however, only one of the four practices achieved a level of case management activity that might have influenced patient and carer outcomes. Case management was hindered by limited clarity about the role, poor integration with existing services and a lack of embeddedness within primary care. There were discrepancies between case manager and researcher judgements about need, and evidence of a high threshold for acting on unmet need. The practice nurses experienced difficulties in ring-fencing case management time.

Conclusions: The model of case management developed and evaluated in this feasibility study is unlikely to be sustainable in general practice under current conditions and in our view it would not be appropriate to attempt a definitive trial of this model. This study could inform the development of a case management role with a greater likelihood of impact. Different approaches to recruiting and training case managers, and identifying people with dementia who might benefit from case management, are needed, as is exploration of the scale of need for this type of working.

Trial registration: Current Controlled Trials ISRCTN74015152.

Funding: This project was funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Health Technology Assessment programme and will be published in full in *Health Technology Assessment*; Vol. 18, No. 52. See the NIHR Journals Library website for further project information.

Contents

List of tables	xiii
List of figures	xv
List of boxes	xvii
List of abbreviations	xix
Plain English summary	xxi
Scientific summary	xxiii
Chapter 1 Background and rationale The scale of the problem Care co-ordination The evidence base Impact of case management Clinical and economic effectiveness Learning from the PREVENT study Overview of the CAREDEM study Patient and public involvement Data handling, record keeping and confidentiality Ethics committee approval	1 2 3 4 5 7 7 7 7
Chapter 2 Work package 1 Development group Review groups Results/outputs Job description and person specification Educational needs assessment The manual	9 10 10 10 11 11 12
Chapter 3 Work package 2 Recruitment of practices and case managers London Norfolk Newcastle Recruitment of patient and carer dyads Inclusion and exclusion criteria Quantitative data collection methods Qualitative data collection Qualitative data management and analysis Confidentiality	13 13 13 13 14 14 14 15 15 17 17
Chapter 4 Recruitment to the study and characteristics of participants at baseline and follow-up Recruitment <i>Recruitment and follow-up by site</i>	19 19 19

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Baseline data collection	21
Demographics of participants at baseline	21
Outcome measures	22
Neuropsychiatric Inventory	22
Safety: serious adverse events	29
Costs	29
Chapter 5 Implementing the pilot study: review of processes and procedures	33
Recruitment processes	33
Accessibility of patient and carer information sheets	33
Problems with practice dementia registers	34
Introduction of additional screening criteria	35
Complexity of the recruitment process	36
Process of seeking informed consent	37
Acceptability and feasibility of the outcome measures	37
Outcome measures for patients	38
Outcome measures for carers	40
Patient and carer views on study participation	41
Case manager and mentor views on study procedures	42
Chapter 6 Capturing what case managers do	45
Case notes and data extraction	45
Limitations of the data	45
Demographic information on patients and carers	46
Type and frequency of contact	47
Needs identified	48
Actions taken	48
Views on the documentation	50
Chapter 7 Implementing case management for people with dementia in general	
practice: views of key stakeholders	53
Knowledge and skills required for case management: patient and carer perspectives	53
Core knowledge and skills	53
Protessional background	53
Interpersonal skills	54
Case management in theory and practice: patient and carer perspectives	54
Clarity ever the case manager rele	54
Clarity over the case management in practice	20
Implementing case management through primary care: patient and carer perspectives	20
Knowledge and skills required for case management: perspectives of health and social	20
care professionals	59
Core knowledge and skills	59
Professional background	60
Interpersonal skills	60
Holistic approach	61
Case management in theory and practice: perspectives of health and social	
care professionals	61
Potential and actual benefits of case management	61
Clarity over the case manager role	63
Implementing case management in practice	63

Delivery of case management through primary care: perspectives of health and social	
care professionals	65
Advantages and disadvantages of siting case management in primary care	65
Embedding case management in primary care	65
Supervision and support of case managers	68
Knowledge and skills required for case management: perspectives of case managers,	
the mentor and the research team	69
Core knowledge and skills	69
Professional background	70
Interpersonal skills	71
Case management in theory and practice: perspectives of case managers,	
the mentor and the research team	71
Potential and actual benefits of case management	71
Clarity over the case manager role	73
Implementing case management in practice	74
Delivery of case management through primary care: perspectives of case managers,	
the mentor and the research team	78
Advantages and disadvantages of primary care	78
Embedding case management in primary care	78
Supervision and support of case managers	80
Chapter 8 Conclusions and future work	83
Implications for further research and development	83
Clarifying the purpose of case management	84
Revisiting which skills and attributes are required for case management	84
Embedding delivery of case management	84
Establishing when case management is likely to have maximum effect	84
Key issues for any future trial of case management	85
Recruitment and follow-up	85
Case management intervention	85
Conclusions and recommendations	86
Acknowledgements	89
References	91
Appendix 1 Case manager job description	97
Annendiu 2 Case manager namer analification	00
Appendix 2 Case manager person specification	99
Annendiv 2 Educational poods assessment tool	101
Appendix 3 Educational needs assessment tool	101
Appendix 4 The CAPEDEM care manager's manual	102
Appendix 4 The CAREDEM case manager's manual	105
Appendix E Notes obstraction form	127
Appendix 5 Notes abstraction form	157
Appendix 6 Notes from the case manager meeting	139
Appendix o Notes from the case manager meeting	155
Appendix 7 Dementia and Neurodegerative Diseases Research Network public	
and patient involvement review	145
Appendix 8 Design lessons for a definitive trial	147
The second s	

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NHRR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

List of tables

TABLE 1 Attributes of an innovation that may determine its uptake	9
TABLE 2 Patient and carer interviews by area	16
TABLE 3 Role of participating health and social care professionals ($n = 18$)	16
TABLE 4 Recruitment of dyads and follow-up by site	20
TABLE 5 Characteristics of carers ($n = 29$)	21
TABLE 6 Characteristics of patients with dementia $(n = 28)$	21
TABLE 7 Neuropsychiatric Inventory total scores: descriptive statistics	22
TABLE 8 European Quality of Life-5 Dimensions visual analogue scale:descriptive statistics	24
TABLE 9 Bristol Activities of Daily Living Scale total scores: descriptive statistics	25
TABLE 10 General Health Questionnaire total scores: descriptive statistics	26
TABLE 11 General Health Questionnaire domain scores: descriptive statistics	27
TABLE 12 Mini Mental State Examination scores: descriptive statistics	28
TABLE 13 Mini Mental State Examination category at baseline	29
TABLE 14 Dementia Quality of Life scale total scores: descriptive statistics	30
TABLE 15 Dementia Quality of Life scale domain scores: descriptive statistics	31
TABLE 16 Extract from field notes relating to patient B06	39
TABLE 17 Illustration of coding of case manager notes	45
TABLE 18 Recording of patients' demographic information by case managers	46
TABLE 19 Recording of demographic information on the main carer by case managers	47
TABLE 20 Number of contacts recorded by case managers	47
TABLE 21 Type of contact by case manager	48
TABLE 22 Needs identified	48
TABLE 23 Actions taken for unmet needs	49

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

TABLE 24 Whether or not any actions were recorded by case managers by areaof unmet need	49
TABLE 25 Sample discrepancies between researcher and case manager	50
TABLE 26 Characteristics of case managers	69

List of figures

FIGURE 1 Relationship between the four work packages of the CAREDEM study	6
FIGURE 2 Recruitment flow diagram	20
FIGURE 3 Neuropsychiatric Inventory total scores: box and whiskers plot of baseline values	22
FIGURE 4 Plot of NPI scores at 5 months against scores at baseline	23
FIGURE 5 European Quality of Life-5 Dimensions visual analogue scale: box and whiskers plot of baseline values	24
FIGURE 6 Bristol Activities of Daily Living Scale total scores: box and whiskers plot of baseline values	25
FIGURE 7 General Health Questionnaire total scores: box and whiskers plot of baseline values	26
FIGURE 8 General Health Questionnaire domain scores: box and whiskers plot	28
FIGURE 9 Mini Mental State Examination scores: box and whiskers plot	29
FIGURE 10 Dementia Quality of Life scale total scores: box and whiskers plot	30
FIGURE 11 Dementia Quality of Life scale domain scores: box and whiskers plot	32

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

List of boxes

BOX 1 Case managers' key reasons for limited use of documentation	50
BOX 2 Perceived advantages and disadvantages of delivering case management through primary care (views of health and social care professionals)	66
BOX 3 Perceived benefits of case management (views of case managers)	72
BOX 4 Advantages and disadvantages of case management in primary care (views of case managers, mentor and research team members)	78

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

List of abbreviations

BADLS	Bristol Activities of Daily Living Scale	NoCLoR	North Central London Research Consortium
BPSD	behavioural and psychological	NPI	Neuropsychiatric Inventory
	symptoms of dementia	NRES	National Research Ethics Service
CI	confidence interval	РСТ	primary care trust
CMHT	Community Mental Health Team	PPI	public and patient involvement
CSRI	Client Service Receipt Inventory	PWD	person with dementia
DEMQOL	Dementia Quality of Life	QALY	quality-adjusted life-year
DeNDRoN	Dementia and Neurodegerative Diseases Research Network	QOF	Quality and Outcomes Framework
EQ-5D	European Quality of Life-5 Dimensions	WP1	work package 1 of the CAREDEM project
GHQ-28	28-item General Health Questionnaire	WP2	work package 2 of the CAREDEM project
GP	general practitioner	WP3	work package 3 of the CAREDEM project
HTA	Health Technology Assessment	WP4	work package 4 of the CAREDEM
IT	information technology		project
MMSE	Mini Mental State Examination	WTE	whole-time equivalent

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Plain English summary

Support for people with dementia and their family carers is too often poorly co-ordinated. This might be improved if there was someone whose job it was to co-ordinate services – a 'case manager'. This study explored:

- 1. what skills are needed to be a dementia case manager working in primary care and who might be suited to this role
- whether or not case management is acceptable and beneficial to people with dementia and their families
- 3. whether or not case management of people with dementia is feasible in UK general practice and
- 4. what resources are needed to deliver case management to people with dementia in UK primary care.

We tried to answer these questions by consulting experts about what case managers would do, what skills they would need and what resources they would require. The CAREDEM project studied what case managers did in four general practices in different parts of England. These case managers worked with a small number of people with dementia living at home and also with their carers. They found it hard to recruit sufficient numbers and nurse case managers struggled to devote dedicated time to the work. Although some of the CAREDEM case managers identified significant unmet needs, the benefits were not as great as expected and it appeared difficult for the case managers to make a difference. We conclude that the idea of case managers needs to be reconsidered given the current situation of NHS general practice and that the CAREDEM study should not proceed to a full trial.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Scientific summary

Background

Dementia care in the UK is in urgent need of improvement, with difficulties in delivering services in a timely, integrated, effective or cost-effective manner. Current national guidance on dementia care recommends the provision of co-ordinated health and social care, led by a single health or social care professional (a case manager). Case managers systematically follow up patients under regular supervision and (usually) provide psychological support and practical help. However, there is little reason to promote case management for people with dementia on the current available evidence, and there is a clear lack of UK-based research exploring the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of a case management approach in dementia care.

Objectives

This feasibility study was designed to explore (1) what skills are needed to be a dementia case manager working in primary care, and by whom, and how these skills are best provided; (2) whether or not case management is acceptable and beneficial to people with dementia and their families; (3) whether or not case management of people with dementia is feasible in UK general practice; and (4) what resources are needed to deliver case management to people with dementia in UK primary care.

Methods

Following a literature review, three work packages were carried out in this study. In work package 1 (WP1) a co-design approach was taken to the development of the intervention, with an intervention design group comprising health and social care professionals, a carer and members of the Alzheimer's Society and Age UK. This group met six times over a year to identify the skills and personal characteristics required for case management and the types of information and advice needed by people with dementia and their family carers. An independent panel of subject area experts from different backgrounds critically reviewed the materials produced by the design group, which included a case management training programme, built around educational needs assessment, training and mentoring, and a manual on case management with information materials to use with people with dementia and their carers. Care protocols used in a US study were adapted for use in a UK setting with people with dementia and their family carers.

In work package (WP2), the case management intervention was tested in four volunteer general practices for its acceptability to key stakeholders (patients, carers and professionals) and its feasibility for use in UK primary care. Two practices (in London and Norfolk) seconded one of their practice nurses to the case management project for one session per week. The other two (in Newcastle) had access to a full-time social worker seconded from local authority adult services. People with dementia were identified from practice Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) dementia registers and their eligibility was assessed by case managers in conjunction with practice staff. Inclusion criteria were (1) having a dementia diagnosis confirmed by specialist services; (2) having a carer; (3) not being resident in a care home; and (4) not having regular reviews by specialist services. Eligible patient–carer dyads were invited by either general practitioners or case managers to participate in an evaluation of the case management intervention, and those who expressed an interest were visited by researchers to obtain consent. Baseline data were collected from carers about the person with dementia using the Neuropsychiatric Inventory, the Bristol Activities of Daily Living Scale and the Client Services Receipt Inventory. Carers were asked to complete the 28-item General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-28) and the European Quality of Life-5 Dimensions (EQ-5D)

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

scale, and the person with dementia was asked to complete the Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) and the Dementia Quality of Life (DEMQOL) scale; the latter was completed only if the MMSE score was > 10. After 5 months, participants were contacted to establish whether or not they were available and willing to be followed up.

Case managers were asked to document their needs assessment of the dyads and any subsequent action taken, including planned contact with the dyads. An Admiral nurse (specialist community nurse) seconded to the project provided regular mentoring for the case managers, accompanying them on the first needs assessment encounters when possible, visiting the practices as needed and maintaining contact by telephone and e-mail. Case managers met to discuss their experiences close to the midpoint of the study, and preliminary findings from the project were presented to a Dementia and Neurodegerative Diseases Research Network (DeNDRON) public and patient involvement (PPI) group for external review and comment.

In the third work package an embedded qualitative study ran alongside WP2 to explore the feasibility and acceptability of study procedures and views on case management. Qualitative interviews were carried out with people with dementia and their carers, the case managers and their mentor and other professionals in their general practices and in local specialist services. Interviews were digitally recorded, transcribed and analysed thematically.

Results

The case management intervention developed in WP1 had high face validity for the expert and review groups and was feasible to use in primary care but a longer induction and preparation period would have been helpful. None of the four practices achieved its recruitment target of 11 dyads over a 6-month period but at least one would have done so if case management tasks had been less demanding of time. Although in the present study patients living in care homes or being regularly reviewed by specialist services were excluded, many professionals considered that these patients had unmet needs and would also have benefited from case management. Inclusion and exclusion criteria were not consistently followed but were often modified by case managers and their colleagues in participating practices. Practice QOF dementia registers contained fewer patients than expected and additional searches of electronic medical records identified people with dementia who were not included on the register but who were being prescribed anticholinesterase inhibitors. Problems were encountered with the use of the DEMQOL scale and the GHQ-28 as outcome measures.

People with dementia and their carers were positive about the intervention, although the direct benefits to them during the short duration of the feasibility study were limited. Although all stakeholders identified a range of potential benefits of case management, only one of the four practices achieved a level of case management activity that would be likely to have an effect on outcomes for people with dementia or their carers. Barriers to effective case management included erosion of case manager time by other clinical tasks in practices in which nurses fulfilled the role; difficulties in identifying and acting on 'low level' unmet needs; a lack of clarity over case management; poor integration with local services; and a lack of embeddedness within the primary care team. There was considerable variation in case activity between case managers and this was not related to the amount of time that they had available for the role. Data capture for research purposes was inconsistent, challenging the evaluation, and there was evidence of research burden for both dyads and case managers.

Conclusions

In line with the purpose of a feasibility study, the experiences of implementing an innovative way of working led to some changes of emphasis between the original plan (as documented in the protocol) and the actual study. Case management as implemented in this study did appear to be compatible with the values, norms and perceived needs of the practices, the case managers and the recipients of case management, although the compatibility was more conceptual than practical. Case managers experienced some lack of clarity about case management and concern was expressed about potential duplication of existing roles. The case managers' difficulties also arose from time constraints and unfamiliarity with dementia, as well as from the demands of the research process.

Implications for practice

In this pilot study we were not able to identify signs that case management produced measurable gains for patients, and the role as conceived and constructed was difficult to implement. The flexibility that was built into the case management role, in order to tailor it to the different disciplines of case managers, the practice settings and the needs of dyads, interfered with the research function. Embedding case manager work in the practices proved difficult. Senior staff in practices made decisions about participation, encouraging their staff to take up the case manager role, but did not necessarily support them in the new role.

Implications for research

Although this study identified significant unmet needs, the CAREDEM model of case management is not suitable for further evaluation in a randomised controlled trial, and further developmental work is needed. The skills and attributes that appear to be needed for potentially effective case management for people with dementia may not be widely available in the existing primary care workforce, and a training programme to enhance skills may need to be longer than that tested in this study. Different approaches to recruiting and training case managers, and to identifying people with dementia who might benefit from case management, are needed. Finally, we note that the research processes themselves can have a detrimental effect on the implementation and evaluation of an innovative way of working, and this should be addressed in future development studies.

Trial registration

This trial is registered as ISRCTN74015152.

Funding

Funding for this study was provided by the Health Technology Assessment programme of the National Institute for Health Research.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Chapter 1 Background and rationale

n the UK, dementia is a key government priority for reseach, as outlined in the Prime Minister's challenge.¹ Improving the health and social care of older people is also a priority for health and social care policy.^{2,3} Changing demographics will lead to an increase in the prevalence of age-related illnesses, such as dementia, which will in turn present considerable challenges for families and health and social care providers. This will particularly be the case for primary and social care services following the recommendations of the White Paper, *Our Heath, Our Care, Our Say*, which stipulated that care for older people, and for other people with long-term conditions, should be delivered as close to their homes as possible.⁴

The scale of the problem

Dementia is one of the main causes of disability in later life; in terms of global burden of disease, it contributes 11.2% of all years lived with disability, which is higher than stroke (9.5%), musculoskeletal disorders (8.9%), heart disease (5%) and cancer (2.4%).⁵ One in 14 people aged > 65 years has a form of dementia, rising to one in six of those aged > 85 years.⁵ Currently, around 800,000 people in the UK have dementia;⁶ this is estimated to rise to 1 million by 2020 and 1.7 million by 2050, an increase of over 150%.⁵ The current costs of caring for people with dementia in the UK have been estimated at around £23B a year,⁶ which is far greater than the corresponding costs for heart disease, stroke and cancer.¹ Around two-thirds of people with dementia currently live at home, with the majority of their care provided by family members, with support from primary and social care teams.^{2,5} It is estimated that family caregiving saves public expenditure on dementia of around £8B each year.⁶

The rising number of older people will lead to an increasing number of frail older people requiring complex care packages if they are to continue to live independently and postpone or avoid moving into care homes. This will present considerable challenges for primary and social care. People with dementia aged > 65 years occupy one-quarter of NHS beds at any one time.⁶ There has been a significant increase in the number of people with dementia entering the acute hospital system, which is an area of concern,⁷ particularly with regard to care and assessment practice.⁸ The NHS Operating Framework for 2012/13 in England⁹ has emphasised the need for greater provision of care and support in the community to reduce unnecessary hospital admissions for people with dementia.

Current evidence suggests that dementia care is in urgent need of improvement,^{1,5} with frequent failure to deliver services in a timely, integrated or cost-effective manner.¹⁰ General practitioners (GPs) in primary care experience and describe difficulties in diagnosing and managing dementia.¹⁰ In the UK, educational interventions in primary care have been implemented to try and improve dementia diagnosis and management rates; however, these interventions have not significantly affected diagnosis or clinical management.¹¹ In an attempt to address this issue within primary care, the NHS Commissioning Board has recently developed guidance for GP practices to implement an enhanced service for detecting dementia in people who may be at risk.¹² The aims of this service are to increase rates of early dementia diagnosis and improve the care of people with dementia (including provision of appropriate treatment and signposting). The National Audit Office report of 2007¹⁰ encouraged the use of case management by Community Mental Health Teams (CMHTs), believing it would reduce unnecessary hospital admissions of people with dementia.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Care co-ordination

Current national guidance¹³ on dementia care recommends the provision of co-ordinated health and social care, led by a single health or social care professional (often known as a 'care manager' in local authority adult services but as a 'case manager' in health care). This recommendation^{10,14} largely mirrors the views of people with dementia and their family carers. In NHS mental health services, case management is a particular type of collaborative care¹⁵ in which workers, known as 'case managers', systematically follow up patients under regular supervision and (usually) provide both brief psychological therapy and medication management. 'Collaborative care' has itself been variously defined to mean everything from collaboration between services, and 'shared care', to the more highly structured definition that is now becoming accepted internationally.¹⁶

The components of a collaborative care model for depression are (1) a multiprofessional approach to patient care provided by a case manager working with the GP under supervision from specialist mental health medical and psychological therapies clinicians; (2) a structured management plan of medication support and brief psychological therapy; (3) scheduled patient follow-ups; and (4) enhanced interprofessional communication with patient-specific written feedback to GPs via electronic records and through personal contact.¹⁷

In earlier studies of depression, mental health professionals provided the enhanced staff input to primary care settings and undertook a care co-ordinator role.^{18,19} More recently, primary care nurses^{20,21} were used to fulfil the role of care co-ordinator. Most studies of collaborative care have taken place in the USA. In the UK, in one published study (carried out about 16 years ago) practice nurses undertook the care co-ordinator role but did not improve either patient antidepressant use or outcomes compared with usual GP care;²¹ however, more recently, Chew-Graham *et al.*²² demonstrated an improvement in depression outcomes with the collaborative care approach and a flexible psychological intervention delivered by a mental health nurse. A systematic review of models of care for depression suggested that components that were found to significantly predict improvement were (1) the revision of professional roles; (2) the provision of a case manager who provided direct feedback and delivered a psychological therapy; and (3) an intervention that incorporated patient preferences into care.²³

The evidence base

A literature review²⁴ published as part of the preliminary work for this study provided a commentary on case management interventions for people with dementia and a summary of its findings are provided here. The review set out to address (1) what are case managers and how do they relate to dementia care; (2) whether or not dementia care can be improved by case management; (3) what people with dementia and their carers want from a case manager and whether or not this can be provided; (4) whether or not we can measure the cost-effectiveness of case management; and (5) what direction research into case management needs to take.

A literature review,²⁴ published as part of the preliminary work for the CARDEM study, provided a commentary on case management interventions for people with dementia and a summary of its findings are provided here. The review suggested that this diversity has led to difficulties in understanding the impact of the case manager role, who is most appropriate to undertake it, which populations may benefit most from it and what services should be offered as part of the case manager package. The review by Koch *et al.*²⁴ identified that many authors have suggested factors that may lead to a successful case manager approach. For example, Goodman *et al.*²⁵ proposed that successful case management requires:

- 1. a broad set of clinical skills
- 2. designated and protected time for case management
- 3. close involvement in multidisciplinary teamwork including a medical clinician and
- 4. having the mandate to undertake case management activities recognised by providers or commissioners or funders of services, especially if continuity of care and stability of services are to be assured.

Similarly, Minkman *et al.*²⁶ suggested that success factors for case management in dementia include the case manager having a wide knowledge base; working within a strong, local provider network that accepts case management; having effective multidisciplinary teams with medical input; and having a low threshold for accessing support services. Minkman *et al.*²⁶ also identified factors associated with failure, including a lack of investment, ill-defined patient inclusion criteria and an absence of involvement of primary care practitioners.

In addition to these findings, Verkade *et al.*²⁷ identified 44 essential components of case management and proposed that case management should be based on individual needs, should integrate management into the care chain, should offer a systematic active care approach and should provide information, support, co-ordination and monitoring roles. In our review²⁴ we also reported the proposed theoretical framework of Connor *et al.*,²⁸ which identified 45 frequent case manager activities, which were further categorised into four main case management domains:

- 1. behaviour management
- 2. clinical strategies and caregiver support
- 3. community agency and
- 4. safety.

Connor *et al.*²⁸ commented that ad hoc but regular contact and the individualistic approach inherent in case management were responsible for the wide range of activities.

Impact of case management

Several empirical studies have illustrated the variety of roles that a case manager might undertake, including assessment, care planning, education, problem-solving, liaising, monitoring and counselling.^{29–33} Overall, it was found that some studies showed positive results in the form of increased referrals to community services,²⁹ fewer hospital and emergency admissions and less embarrassment, isolation and relationship strain,³¹ reduced stress³⁰ and reduced risk of relocation to a care home,³⁴ although few recorded a large effect.²⁴

The benefits associated with case management are variable and context specific. There is conflicting information about the duration of effects produced by case management, with some studies reporting a significant improvement in activities of daily living³⁵ or reductions in relocation to care homes.³⁶ Additionally, our review²⁴ found that case manager activities were being undertaken by a number of different professionals, to the extent that Newcomer *et al.*³⁷ concluded that there is currently no agreed choice of professional background for the role of case manager. Our review²⁴ described how the level of heterogeneity of patients involved in case manager studies and the lack of subgroup analysis made it difficult to identify at what stage in the course of the illness patients and their carers would derive most benefit from a case management intervention.

Our review²⁴ identified evidence that the needs of people with dementia and their caregivers revolve mainly around social networks, daytime activities, company and psychological distress,^{38,39} with behavioural and psychological symptoms of dementia (BPSD) and lack of social networks impacting indirectly on the person's perceived quality of life.³⁸ These findings match the potential of aspects of various case management programmes well. As Mittelman *et al.*⁴⁰ suggested, there may be a direct association between quality of life and other measures such as time to institutionalisation, so that quality of life functions as an intermediate, early-changing, surrogate measurement for consequences that may take longer to appear. All this depends, of course, on regarding life in a care or nursing home as an undesirable outcome that leads to diminished quality of life, which may not always be the case.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Clinical and economic effectiveness

Verkade *et al.*²⁷ argued that, from the perspectives of clinical and economic effectiveness, there is little reason to promote case management programmes based on the current available evidence. Nevertheless, one could postulate that, because Mittelman *et al.*⁴⁰ – having followed participants for so long (17 years) – reported such convincing results, most of the trials described have failed to follow up participants for adequate periods of time to be able to demonstrate any outcome improvements or cost-effectiveness gains.

Our review²⁴ suggested that the main limitation in these studies was the choice of outcome measures. It may be that aiming to delay a care home move may be an unrealistic or inappropriate goal, certainly in the short term, and the ambitions for case management therefore ought to be revisited. Most of the studies with positive findings report improvements in measures such as caregiver burden or stress,^{30,35,41} caregiver confidence,²⁹ negative feelings about the patient,³¹ function³⁵ and uptake of community services.^{37,42} Moreover, in Mittelman's study,⁴⁰ spouse caregivers' reactions to memory loss and challenging behaviour (BPSD), and satisfaction with social support, accounted for at least 30% of the effect of the intervention on nursing home admission. Reducing caregivers' negative reactions to memory loss and BPSD accounted for 48.7% of the intervention's impact, whereas depressive symptoms and frequency of BPSD were weaker (but still significant) mediators of the intervention effects. This subanalysis is pertinent as it seems to suggest that the intervention is more effective when it positively influences caregivers' perceptions and reactions to the problems presented by dementia, rather than affecting any practical changes in their ability to manage the problems themselves. These findings corroborate the proposition that case management may affect the quality of life of both people with dementia and their carers.

The case management trials that we reviewed²⁴ showed substantial heterogeneity in several domains: the number of activities or services offered, the length of the programme, the intensity of contact with the person with dementia or caregiver, and the personal and clinical characteristics of those individuals. Each of these could significantly affect the cost or cost-effectiveness of case management. Employing a case manager in primary care is likely to increase the use of other health and social care resources in the short term, which would need to be included in any economic evaluation. In many of the studies that attempted an economic evaluation and which concluded that using case management was too costly, the unfunded opportunity costs of caregivers' and others' inputs – whether for lost work time, lost leisure time or diminished caregiver health and well-being – were not considered. Case management should be costed from a societal perspective as well as the perspective of health and social care services if we are to understand its full impact and potential.

Our review²⁴ suggested that case management does not need to reduce service costs to be cost-effective. It needs to demonstrate that any improvement in outcomes is worth any additional expenditure incurred. For example, Duru *et al.*⁴³ found that using internet-based case management software, developing a care plan and referring on to primary care and community agencies for specific treatment and care services were not cost-saving compared with standard care but were cost-effective because of improvements in patient and carer outcomes and because the quality of care of people with dementia was also significantly better. However, Pimouguet *et al.*⁴⁴ found only three randomised trials that included an explicit economic analysis and argued that no conclusion can be drawn about the economic impacts of case management. Nevertheless, some well-conducted long-term studies have demonstrated how case management can delay relocation to long-term care, with potentially important economic pay-offs.^{40,45}

Our review concluded by suggesting that there is a clear lack of UK-based research exploring the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of alternative models of service delivery in dementia care. It proposed that a detailed specification of the sorts of activities to be included in case management was required, including developing a better understanding of how case managers might tailor their support to the needs

of the person with dementia and their family.²⁴ The review recommended that further questions to be addressed include:

- 1. determining which skills are most appropriate to the role
- 2. where these may be located
- 3. which cohort of patients with dementia would benefit most from case management and
- 4. the type and intensity of contact required to successfully carry out case management for people with dementia in primary care.

We embarked on the CAREDEM study to explore these issues, following discussions within the Dementia and Neurodegerative Diseases Research Network (DeNDRoN) Primary Care and Dementia Clinical Studies Groups. Our exploration began with an assessment of a successful case management trial conducted in the USA the PREVENT study.³⁰

Learning from the PREVENT study

The PREVENT study,³⁰ a US-based trial of such a collaborative care model, led by a nurse practitioner working with a social worker in primary care, used evidence-based protocols to manage neuropsychiatric symptoms encountered by family carers of people with dementia. This study demonstrated significant improvements for both people with dementia (increased prescribing of cholinesterase medication, fewer behavioural and psychological symptoms) and their family carers (improved depression scores and higher carer satisfaction ratings). However, because of the limited follow-up period, effects on the rate of moves to long-term care facilities and cost-effectiveness could not be determined.

Following this positive US study, and the recommendations for primary care services from the *World Alzheimer Report 2011*,⁴⁶ testing a case management approach for people with dementia in NHS primary care looked attractive. However, it quickly became apparent that there were grounds for being cautious. A recently completed critical review of nurse-led case management as a technique for supporting patients with complex needs warned against expecting substantial benefits from this approach.²⁵ Although a recent international systematic review of randomised controlled trials had identified studies of case management for people with dementia and their caregivers, with time to institutionalisation and cost as the main outcome variables, the authors of this study concluded that the evidence for the efficacy of case management in terms of cost and resource usage remains equivocal.⁴⁴ They highlighted that any further studies ought to consider which individuals might particularly benefit from case management.⁴⁴

Overview of the CAREDEM study

The CAREDEM study was a research and development project designed to (1) adapt the US-derived PREVENT intervention³⁰ for use in English NHS contexts; (2) train primary care staff in the use of a culturally adapted intervention; and (3) test the acceptability and feasibility of this intervention in a pilot study in four general practices.

The full CAREDEM project as originally proposed consisted of four work packages; this report focuses on the pilot rehearsal trial and corresponding qualitative evaluation. The protocol for this study can be found at www.controlled-trials.com (ISRCTN74015152). *Figure 1* shows the relationships between the work packages.

The aim of the full CAREDEM trial was to develop a collaborative case management approach that can be embedded into primary care, to enable better management of common problems in dementia. Work package 1 (WP1) involved the development of case management protocols and evidence-based care

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.



FIGURE 1 Relationship between the four work packages of the CAREDEM study. RCT, randomised controlled trial.

pathways. Work package 2 (WP2) assessed the feasibility and acceptability of the intervention developed in WP1. The study design was such that, if WP2 demonstrated that the case management programme fitted into everyday primary care practice and also showed positive benefits, it would then be evaluated in a large-scale randomised controlled trial [work package 3 (WP3)]. Work package 4 (WP4) was designed to provide a qualitative evaluation of each stage to gain a comprehensive and systematic evaluation of this project.

Following the development of WP1 materials, the CAREDEM pilot (WP2) took place in general practice-based primary care in three areas; London, Norfolk and Newcastle. During the final months of the pilot study the researchers engaged with whole Practice Based Commissioning (Clinical Commissioning Groups since 1 April 2013) localities and consortia. Based on the outcome of WP2, it was intended that the main trial (WP3) would take place in general practice-based primary care. For the main trial we estimated a target equivalent to 56 medium-sized general practices (with average list sizes of around 6000 patients). It was anticipated that each practice would recruit 11 patients to the main trial (WP3), with six retained at the 18-month follow-up; these rates of recruitment and retention would be reviewed and, if necessary, revised based on data from the pilot study (WP2).

Our proposed case manager role was designed to be carried out by practitioners located within primary care and working in liaison with secondary care services, to provide a multiprofessional care co-ordination approach. We anticipated providing training in collaborative care and case management techniques to a range of primary care practitioners as determined by the local skill mix and by local commissioning needs and intentions. Scheduled patient follow-ups were designed to be included as part of the case management process, with the frequency and location of meetings being client led. Enhanced interprofessional communication and liaison using patient-specific written feedback to GPs via electronic records as well as personal (face-to-face or telephone) contact were designed to be an integral part of the case management method.

We envisaged that professionals undertaking the case management role could be already in post within a community-based organisation [individual GP-based primary care team, primary care trust (PCT), CMHT or social worker], depending on existing local arrangements, interest and expertise. We anticipated that practitioners interested in taking on the case manager role might be nurses with the level of experience found at band 7, working in district nursing, as community psychiatric nurses or as practice nurses. It was planned that they would be able to undertake additional training (developed in WP1 and tested in WP2), provided through the Admiral Nurse organisation Dementia UK, with an induction period, periodic refresher days, experiential learning and mentoring and formal on-site supervision by Admiral nurses in the

three planned study centres. Training was to be delivered by a regional senior clinician from the project team and an Admiral nurse, with other clinicians or allied medical professionals delivering specific training as required. In the PREVENT model, training takes place over eight 2-hour sessions and this study anticipated that at least this amount of time would be necessary. In addition to individual training and mentoring, a meeting of case managers was convened during the project to allow an opportunity for group reflection on the case management task and the research project. Details of this can be found in *Appendix 6*.

Patient and public involvement

The CAREDEM proposal arose from discussions within the DeNDRON Primary Care and Dementia Clinical Studies Groups, both of which have public and patient involvement (PPI) representatives who contributed to the discussion about the intervention and desirable outcomes. The chief executive of Dementia UK (Barbara Stephens) drew on the expertise of carers in this organisation. The director of the Social Care Workforce Research Unit at King's College London (Professor Manthorpe) was responsible for PPI in the management of the trial, at the trial steering committee, at trial management and site management committee levels and also in the PPI forum. A PPI forum was held after WP1 to enable individuals to participate in debates about the development of the case management training, the content of the care pathways, the optimal ways to engage people with dementia and their carers in the trial, the interpretation of the findings and the planning of dissemination. The invitation to join this group was extended to a carer representative from a local Alzheimer's Society, the Greater London Forum for Older People, other relevant bodies such as Age UK and Pensioner Forum volunteers. This meeting was held in February 2012 and 11 lay experts attended.

In addition, preliminary findings from the whole study were presented to a PPI group assembled by DeNDRoN in March 2013, to obtain insights into the project's outcomes. See *Appendix 7* for further details of this consultation.

Data handling, record keeping and confidentiality

Throughout each stage of the CAREDEM study, data collection and transfer in this trial complied with the National Research Ethics Service (NRES), Caldicott principles⁴⁷ and the Data Protection Act 1998.⁴⁸ All study documentation was held in secure offices and the research team operated to a written and signed code of confidentiality. A clinical data management software package was used for data entry and processing, allowing a full audit trail of any alterations made to the data post entry. Identifiable data will be kept for the duration of the trial and thereafter destroyed. All study documentation will be archived and held for 10 years by the study sponsor.

Ethics committee approval

The conduct of this study has been in accordance with the recommendations for physicians involved in research on human subjects adopted by the 18th World Medical Assembly (Helsinki, Finland, 1964) and later revisions. Ethical approval was successfully sought from an appropriate research ethics committee before the commencement of the work packages. Separate protocols were prepared and separate ethics applications were made for WP1 (North West London Research Ethics Committee 10/H0722/50) and WP2 (NRES Wandsworth 11/LO/1555).

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.
Chapter 2 Work package 1

Changing clinical practice is difficult. Although some new and effective treatments are adopted quickly and diffuse across health-care systems, many do not.⁴⁹ The variability of general practice is a problem for those seeking to change it, but may be an asset for patients because it favours personalisation and tailoring of care. As Miller *et al.*⁵⁰ put it: 'Standardising care without identifying desirable variation or unique adaptations that take advantage of local opportunities or strengths misses an opportunity to identify and investigate unanticipated circumstances or locally adapted practice configurations associated with better health care outcomes' (p. 874).

The adoption of new ways of working depends on both the characteristics of the new approaches themselves and the characteristics of the professionals and patients who use them. Diffusion science, as summarised by Berwick,⁴⁹ underpinned the development processes in WP1. The characteristics of innovations that favour their uptake and diffusion through clinical practice^{51,52} are shown in *Table 1*.

A full discussion of the development of WP1 has been published.⁵³ WP1 was designed to review, adapt and customise the PREVENT intervention³⁰ for implementation in the CAREDEM study within NHS general practice. Development of WP1 took place in the area covered by Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care Partnership Trust. This location allowed for good facilitation of meetings and covered a diverse population and different organisational boundaries. As noted, ethical committee permission for this part of the study was obtained successfully (NW London Rec1 10/H0722/50) and local research governance permissions were also obtained.

Attribute	Description
Compatibility	Innovations that are compatible with the values, norms and perceived needs of intended adopters will be more easily adopted and implemented
Complexity/ ease of use	The degree to which the innovation is expected to be free of effort. Innovations that are perceived by key players as simple to use will be more easily adopted and implemented. The perceived complexity of an innovation can be reduced by practical experience and demonstration
Relative advantage	Innovations that have a clear, unambiguous advantage in terms of either effectiveness or cost-effectiveness will be more easily adopted and implemented. This advantage must be recognised and acknowledged by all key players. If a potential user sees no relative advantage in the innovation, he or she does not generally consider it further; in other words, relative advantage is a sine qua non for adoption. Relative advantage is a socially constructed phenomenon. In other words, even so-called 'evidence-based' innovations go through a lengthy period of negotiation amongst potential adopters, in which their meaning is discussed, contested and reframed; such discourse can either increase or decrease the perceived relative advantage of the innovation
Trialability	Innovations that can be experimented with by intended users on a limited basis will be more easily adopted and implemented. Such experimentation can be supported and encouraged through provision of 'trialability space'
Observability/result demonstrability	If the benefits of an innovation are visible to intended adopters, it will be more easily adopted and implemented. Initiatives to make the benefits of an innovation more visible (e.g. through demonstrations) increase the chances of successful adoption
Reinvention	If a potential adopter can adapt, refine or otherwise modify the innovation to suit his or her own needs, it will be more easily adopted and implemented. Reinvention is a particularly critical attribute for innovations that arise spontaneously as 'good ideas in practice' and which spread primarily through informal, decentralised, horizontal social networks
Image and visibility	The degree to which it is seen as adding to the user's social approval and the degree to which the use of the innovation is seen by others
'Voluntariness'	The degree to which use of the innovation is controlled by the potential user's free will

TABLE 1 Attributes of an innovation that may determine its uptake

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

A co-design method was implemented to gain insight from a diverse range of experienced practitioners and carers⁵⁴ (it was unfortunately not possible to recruit a person with dementia to this group). Following the development group meetings, the materials produced were reviewed and critiqued by two separate review groups, one a virtual group of practitioners and the other a forum of carers and older people with experience of using health and social care services. The virtual professional group responded to the output from the design group in a cyclic process, in which a series of prototypes were refined until the development group felt confident that it had produced a version of materials worth field-testing in WP2. Potential participants in the carers' and older people's forum who were unable to attend a meeting were invited to contribute their comments by post or e-mail.

Development group

The research team invited an expert group of stakeholders including family carers as well as health and social care practitioners from the NHS, local authority and voluntary sectors to participate in the development group. Twelve people from a variety of backgrounds, including occupational therapy, social work, Admiral nursing, psychiatry, general practice and community mental health nursing, volunteered to join this core multidisciplinary development group. A family carer, an outreach worker from the local branch of the Alzheimer's Society and an Age UK manager also joined the development group to ensure that a full range of perspectives were included during this process.

The group met six times (each meeting lasted half a day) with members of the research team (SI, JM and CF) from April 2010 to June 2011 to carry out the following tasks:

- 1. adapt the PREVENT intervention to meet service and cultural expectations in England
- 2. devise a job description and a list of desirable and essential attributes for a case manager
- 3. agree the contents of an educational needs assessment that would inform training and mentoring
- 4. produce written information designed to be used by the case managers with carers and people with dementia.

Review groups

The co-design process was extended by two further groups offering their comments on the materials produced by the development group. The research team recruited 10 professionals from different parts of England to provide comments by e-mail and, as noted earlier, also arranged a PPI forum of 11 older people with substantial experience of using health and social care services, including current and former carers of people with dementia. This was a diverse group including people from different ethnic and sociodemographic backgrounds and who held a variety of caregiving relationships (e.g. spouse/partner carers and adult/child carers). The forum membership was drawn from different locations from the development group to reflect a broader range of current service arrangements. During the forum a presentation was given on the objectives, activities and outputs of WP1 and the group was asked specific questions and for their general views. This forum served as a useful validation step, as participants' comments helped to provide some assurance that the materials produced by the development group were suitable for other parts of England and for people with different experiences and circumstances.

Results/outputs

The development group agreed on the tasks that a case manager would carry out. That list of tasks was used to create a case manager job description (see *Appendix 1*), a person specification (see *Appendix 2*) and an educational needs assessment tool (see *Appendix 3*) to assist with recruitment, induction to the role and mentoring. A case management 'manual' (see *Appendix 4*) was also created (modified from

materials used in the PREVENT study³⁰). This manual included accessible leaflets for people with dementia and their carers, which could be used as an opportunity for information-giving and as talking points between case managers and their clients (both carers and people with dementia).

Job description and person specification

The development group was mindful to ensure that the job description and person specification did not overlap with existing roles. The group agreed that nurses would be a first obvious choice for this role (as in the PREVENT trial) but that other allied health and social care professionals might also be suitable. Therefore, the development of the job description focused on skills rather than specifying professional qualifications. The group was mindful that some professionals, for example doctors, were expensive and, therefore, possibly unaffordable. Important themes raised in the discussions included:

- Interaction. Case managers would benefit from sharing knowledge and experiences with each other on a regular basis.
- Mapping resources. Case managers would need to be proactive, ready to identify current resources to support people with dementia and their carers and able to identify gaps in the provision of services and the accessibility of resources.
- Managing the risk of overload. There was a risk that the role might overwhelm the case manager (physically or emotionally) and the feasibility study (WP2) needed to highlight any such overload. This risk could be mitigated by developing close working relationships with specialist teams.

Educational needs assessment

The challenge for those seeking to change clinical performance is to find ways of working with the grain of professional knowledge and practice. One approach to working with the grain is to use educational needs assessments.⁵⁵ Assessment of educational needs has the potential to accommodate variations in individual understanding and competence, learning preferences and skill mix. Such tailoring of an educational 'intervention' to the specific identified needs of practitioners also draws on diffusion theory (as mentioned earlier) in that the 'intervention' itself can be modified in such a way as to make it more likely to be adopted. The educational needs assessment was constructed to take into account practitioners' knowledge of the local health and social care systems, to reflect the complexity of the potential care processes for people with dementia, and to acknowledge the complexity of the disease process itself.⁵⁶ It was intended to foster reflection, allow practitioners to create time and space to plan changes and enable them to tolerate tension and discomfort.⁵⁷

During the development of the educational needs assessment, the group discussed case management tasks, competencies required or desirable for them, risks to minimise and tools required to undertake the case management role successfully. These conversations resulted in the production of a 'task matrix', which informed the job description (see *Appendix 1*) and person specification (see *Appendix 2*) as well as the educational needs assessment tool (see *Appendix 3*). This matrix was designed to be work in progress, with the expectation that some further risks and tools might emerge in WP2.

The overarching topics considered most important by the group were how existing competencies of case managers should be assessed in meeting the emotional needs of a person with dementia and their carers, and how to develop the skills of the case manager in areas where these could be improved. This was seen as important as each case manager was likely to bring different experiences and attributes and an adult learning approach would build on these and not assume that a common training package would suit all.

The competencies, risks and tools identified in the task matrix were used as the basis for an educational needs assessment tool. This mapped competencies onto the dementia disease trajectory under five headings:

- 1. supporting patients at the time of diagnosis
- 2. managing breakdown of support systems

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- 3. managing acute illness and hospital admission
- 4. supporting decisions about relocation
- 5. supporting the person with dementia and his or her family at the end of life.

Subheadings were agreed for each of the five main headings (see *Appendix 3*). This educational needs assessment was designed not only to be used in the case manager induction process but also as a topic guide for mentoring during active case management.

The group viewed mentoring as essential to the introduction of case management approaches in primary care, as the new case managers would be learning through the experience of working with a diverse patient and carer group. The task of the mentor was to support the case manager in 'absorbing' the needs of people with dementia and their carers, 'digesting' these needs to understand what was tractable and needed solution and 'providing' where possible for unmet needs.⁵⁸

The manual

The manual focused on topics such as communication with the person with dementia, behaviour problems, mobility, personal care, sleep, legal and financial issues, physical health, depression and anxiety and how to respond to psychotic or distressing symptoms.

Rules were implemented in the adaptation of the PREVENT manual, to systematically alter the language and tone of the US version. These included:

- Removal of all references to the person with dementia as the 'loved one' and replacement of this term with 'relative'.
- Use of words such as 'try', 'consider' and 'may' to make the manual less directive and prescriptive and deletion of phrases such as 'instruct the carer'.
- Replacement of phrases with a negative tone (advising carers not to do things) with more positive
 actions or things to try. Here the group added explanations for why the person with dementia might
 behave in a certain way and tried to make the manual more person centred by explaining that
 symptoms and difficulties were likely to vary from time to time and from person to person.

Information about local NHS and social care services and about the Alzheimer's Society and local support organisations was added to the manual. Suggestions that the carer should speak to the case manager were included to make the manual more interactive. 'Key points' boxes and subheadings were added and the order of the contents was changed to provide a more coherent structure. Images were removed when these were inappropriate for the English context and distracted from the content. The development group felt that the manual required some additional sections and so it added an introduction and contents page; it also developed pages on asking for help, looking after yourself, physical health, aggression and agitation, depression and anxiety, and planning for the future.

Chapter 3 Work package 2

This chapter describes the second work package (WP2) in the CAREDEM study, in which the previously developed case management programme (WP1) was tested in a feasibility trial. The primary objective for this pilot phase was to ensure that case management skills and the collaborative care model would be easy to acquire and implement in routine practice. The secondary objectives were to determine whether or not practices could recruit 11 patients into the study (depending on practice size), that nine could be contacted at 6 months and that stakeholders would find the brief intervention procedures acceptable and feasible within routine NHS practice. The researchers intended to check assumptions about practice and patient recruitment and retention and to ensure the feasibility (data yield and quality) of outcome measures; if necessary, the sample size calculation for WP3 would be adjusted based on these data. Practices that took part in the pilot study would not be able to participate in the main trial. Approval for WP2 was obtained from Wandsworth NRES (11/LO/1555).

Recruitment of practices and case managers

Practices were recruited from each site as detailed in the following sections. Data were obtained on practice population size, number of GPs and deprivation score. The average deprivation score in England is 21.5, with a higher value indicating greater deprivation.

London

In December 2011, the researchers wrote to 26 GP practices in Camden and Islington, inviting them to take part in the CAREDEM pilot study. Eight practices contacted the research team requesting more information; however, seven of these practices declined participation. Reasons given for declining participation were concerns about time, resources and current commitments, meaning that they were already very busy. One of these eight practices invited the researchers to present the proposed study at its practice meeting. After this meeting the practice agreed to participate in the study on the condition that the research team could guarantee Service Support Costs for a practice nurse, to backfill their time whilst working on CAREDEM.

Additionally, in January 2012 the researchers made contact with the North Central London Research Consortium (NoCLoR), which put them in touch with two further GP practices from NoCLoR's local research clusters. One of these practices agreed to the researchers presenting the proposed study at its practice meeting in January 2012 and this practice subsequently agreed to take part in the research. At this point, as it was not possible to guarantee the Service Support funding, the practice that wished to take part unconditionally was recruited. During this process the researchers were further assisted by NoCLoR, whose staff negotiated with local commissioners on the study's behalf to obtain Service Support funding for the CAREDEM study in London. This process facilitated engagement with the local research network and the researchers have retained the details of four GP practices who were interested in taking part in the main trial or in further research in this area but who could not commit to the pilot study. The list size of the recruited practice is 15,510 patients and the practice is served by 8.5 whole-time equivalent (WTE) GPs. The practice serves a population spread across two London boroughs, with deprivation scores of 21.5 and 27.

Norfolk

In Norfolk, 30 practices were contacted through the primary care research network and the DeNDRoN local research network and 12 expressed an interest in participating in the study. Practices were visited and the first to confirm involvement was recruited. The practice recruited covers a mainly rural setting with one large market town at the main practice and two satellite practices. The main practice was located adjacent to a community hospital. The practice had a list size of 14,400 patients and is served by 4.5 WTE GPs. Its deprivation score is 18.77.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Newcastle

Two GP practices were approached by the site lead and agreed to participate in the study. Adult services in one local authority were approached to assist with recruitment of the case manager and offered a seconded role of a full-time case manager to provide the intervention across the two GP practices. Funding for the role was brokered by the locality PCT. A social worker with considerable experience of working with people with dementia and their families was initially recruited but accepted another post at the beginning of the recruitment screening. A second experienced social worker with knowledge of dementia took over the role. Recipients of case management were unaffected by the change in personnel. The social worker was primarily located at the larger practice but also spent a significant proportion of time in adult services, which afforded access to social work systems.

Patients were recruited across the two sites. One was a large, two-centred practice with a central and a satellite practice covering the city centre plus a broad radius of suburbs; the other was a smaller practice covering one area of the city. The larger practice had a list size of 28,396 patients served by 15 WTE GPs, and the practice's deprivation score was 27.8 (putting this practice in the fourth most deprived centile). The smaller practice had a list size of 6501 patients served by 4.25 WTE GPs, and its deprivation score was 29.7. Recruitment was more successful in the larger practice.

Recruitment of patient and carer dyads

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The target patient population for the CAREDEM WP2 study was people of any age with a diagnosis of any type of dementia (confirmed by secondary care assessment). Potential participants had to be living in the community at the point of recruitment and to have a carer (spouse, close relative, friend or other informal carer) who maintained regular contact. Those resident in care homes or being seen regularly by specialist dementia services were deemed to be being case managed already and were therefore excluded. Those unable to read English language information sheets about the study were also excluded.

Delays in achieving approval from local PCT research and development departments meant that recruitment of patients could not begin before July 2012. Practices recruited people with dementia and their carers over a 6-month period between July and December 2012 and followed them up for 5 months, the last interview being on 31 May 2013.

The WP2 protocol stated that patients would be invited to take part by their GP; however, in the London and Norfolk practices this was not realistic and eligible patients were screened and invited to take part by the practice nurse working in the case manager role, with the agreement of their GP. In the Newcastle practices the invitations were offered by the patients' GPs and followed up by the research team.

The case manager or GP sent the patient and carer an information sheet, an opt-in form and a prepaid envelope and followed this up with a telephone call. Once the opt-in form or verbal consent form had been received, the research team was informed and contacted potential participants to answer any questions that they may have had. If the patient and carer were happy to proceed, the researcher arranged a visit at home or in another place specified by them to obtain informed consent and collect the baseline data. At the end of the baseline interview the researcher explained the next stages of the process and agreed with the participants that they would contact them for a follow-up appointment.

Directly after the baseline appointment the researcher informed the local case manager that the baseline assessment had been completed so that they could commence the intervention and completed a reflection log on the informed consent form process. Mentoring was provided by an Admiral nurse seconded to the project from Dementia UK, who visited the practices, carried out joint assessments with the case managers, communicated by telephone and e-mail with case managers on a regular basis and used the educational needs assessment and task matrix as the framework for discussing the case management role.

Patients were followed up at 5 months (instead of 6 months as specified in the protocol) to allow completion of the study.

Quantitative data collection methods

Following the process of informed consent, interviews were conducted with the carer and the person with dementia individually, unless either person preferred the interview to take place with their relative in the room.

Demographic details, including date of birth, gender, marital status, level of education, employment status, ethnicity and relationship to care recipient, were obtained from participants at the baseline interview.

The carer completed the following assessments:

- The Neuropsychiatric Inventory (NPI)⁵⁹ (on which the current sample size calculations are based). This is a validated instrument with 12 domains, completed in an interview with a carer to assess the prevalence of behavioural and psychological symptoms experienced by the person with dementia he or she is supporting.
- The Bristol Activities of Daily Living Scale (BADLS)⁶⁰ was used to assess the functional impairment of the person with dementia.
- The 28-item General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-28)⁶¹ was used to provide a measure of the carers' mood and quality of life.
- The European Quality of Life-5 Dimensions (EQ-5D) (see www.euroqol.org/about-eq-5d.html; accessed 23 June 2014) was used to assess carer quality of life and to generate quality-adjusted life-years (QALYs).
- The Client Service Receipt Inventory (CSRI)⁶² captures service utilisation data for the carer and the patient (including institutionalisation, extra patient care during therapy), unpaid carer support and other aspects relevant to health economics. The rates and dates of entry into institutional care are recorded.

The person with dementia was assessed in the following ways:

- The Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE)⁶³ was used as a measure of cognitive function.
- The Dementia Quality of Life (DEMQOL) scale³³ was completed if the patient scored ≥ 11 on the MMSE, in line with guidance. The DEMQOL scale is a generic measure from which it is possible to generate QALYs.

Discontinued measures

The decision was taken before recruitment of participants to remove two of the measures included in the original protocol. The scale measuring quality of life in Alzheimer's disease (QoL-AD)⁶⁴ was removed as we were already measuring quality of life with the EQ-5D and the DEMQOL scale; the researchers felt that the extra measure was excessive and therefore unnecessary. Similarly, the 12-item Health Status Questionnaire (HSQ-12)⁶⁵ was removed and the GHQ-28 was retained.

Adverse events

The numbers and details of adverse events (e.g. emergency admission to hospital) or serious adverse events (e.g. deaths) were recorded.

Qualitative data collection

In-depth qualitative interviews were conducted with members of a range of stakeholder groups to explore different perspectives on case management. Those interviewed included people with dementia (patients), carers, case managers, the case manager mentor (hereafter 'mentor'), health and social care professionals and members of the research team. Separate interview topic guides were developed for each stakeholder group to reflect different levels of engagement with case management. During data collection, interview topic guides for all stakeholder groups were adapted through an iterative process in light of low levels of intervention delivered in practice and emerging themes.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Interviews were conducted by members of the research team at various stages of the feasibility study to capture processes and experiences of case management at different time points and to capture key events such as case manager training. The majority of interviews were conducted face to face with individuals; however, when this was not practically feasible, a small number of interviews were conducted with two or three participants in a group or by telephone.

Patient and carer interviews

A purposive sample of patients and carers was invited to participate in a single in-depth qualitative interview to explore their experiences and views of case management (*Table 2*). Some interviews with patients and carers were carried out jointly at the request of the participants; however, when possible, interviews were conducted separately to enable exploration of potentially differing carer and patient experiences.

Case manager and mentor interviews

In total, there were four case managers throughout the pilot study. The views of the mentor were also sought through interview. Case managers and the mentor participated in several interviews throughout the study to explore changing expectations, the development of the role, training and supervision, the implementation of case management in practice and their views on the value of the case management approach. In total, 13 interviews were conducted (four with the mentor, two with each of three case managers and three with one case manager).

Research team interviews

Two members of the research team were interviewed and informal discussions were conducted with a further member of the team. These interviews/discussions explored the induction process, expectations of case management, barriers to implementation and their views on the value of the case management approach.

Health and social care professional interviews

In total, 18 in-depth interviews were conducted with a range of health and social care professionals (*Table 3*). Some practitioners reported direct interactions with the case managers whereas others gave a more theoretical perspective on case management (e.g. one of the commissioners). These are reported in *Chapter 7*.

Interviewees	London	Norfolk	North-east	Total
Patients	1	4 ^a	1	6
Carers	3	4 ^a	3	10
Total	4	8 ^a	4	16
a Dyad interviews.				

TABLE 2 Patient and carer interviews by area

TABLE 3 Role of participating health and social care professionals (n = 18)

Profession	No. of participants
GP	6
Administrative practice staff	5
CMHT	2
Voluntary sector worker	3
Commissioner	2
Total	18

Qualitative data management and analysis

All interviews were audio recorded, transcribed, checked and anonymised. In the initial stage of analysis individual team members (CB, KB, MP and LR) read and reread a number of transcripts to familiarise themselves with the data and identify preliminary themes. A series of data workshops were then held in which team members discussed these preliminary themes and developed a draft coding frame. This was then applied to a small number of transcripts and the findings were discussed in subsequent data workshops. Following a series of iterations, and informed by the theoretical domains framework,⁶⁶ a final coding frame was agreed. All transcripts were coded in NVivo (version 9; QSR International, Warrington, UK) to facilitate data management using the final coding frame. In the next stage of analysis, the output for different stakeholder groups was reviewed. This led to the combination of some codes, the identification of new subcodes and the production of a narrative summarising the key themes for each group. These narratives were then compared and overarching themes identified across the stakeholder groups.

Confidentiality

Although we recruited both male and female case managers, to avoid identification we have referred to all case managers as female and we have not attributed quotes to individual case managers. By virtue of her role, the mentor was identifiable and she has reviewed and agreed to the use of all quotes attributed to her. Quotes from patient and carer interviews are identified by site (A, B or C) and unique identifier within each site.

The findings from WP2 are presented in the following four chapters:

- 1. Chapter 4 recruitment to the study of practices and patient–carer dyads
- Chapter 5 implementation of the study including recruitment processes, acceptability and feasibility of outcome measures, patient and carer views on study participation and case manager and mentor views on study procedures
- 3. Chapter 6 capturing what the case managers did during case management
- 4. Chapter 7 stakeholder perceptions of case management for people with dementia.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Chapter 4 Recruitment to the study and characteristics of participants at baseline and follow-up

This chapter describes the recruitment and follow-up of study participants, by site, and provides a baseline description of participants' characteristics as well as baseline and follow-up values for the following outcome measures: the NPI, the EQ-5D visual analogue scale, the BADLS, the GHQ-28 (total and domain scores), the MMSE and the DEMQOL scale (total and selected domain scores). We present the data primarily to characterise the sample and document the extent of follow-up. Finally, serious adverse events occurring during the study are described.

Recruitment

The recruitment target was 44 dyads (person with dementia plus a carer), 11 from each practice. The number of dyads recruited was 29; 14 were recruited from the two north-east practices, nine from the Norfolk practice and six from the London practice. Recruitment was halted at the Norfolk practice to deal with a backlog of case management work and this practice would probably have achieved its target had more time been available to the nurse case manager. Case identification using the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) dementia register was supplemented by searches of electronic medical records to identify those taking cholinesterase inhibitors who were not on the QOF dementia register. Additional searches for patients with symptoms suggesting possible dementia (memory loss, confusion) allowed medical records to be checked for evidence that a formal diagnosis had been made but had not been added to the patient record. *Figure 2* shows the derivation of the participant sample for the feasibility study.

Of those patients not living in care homes, 45 [33%, 95% confidence interval (CI) 29% to 48%] met all of the criteria for inclusion in the study apart from providing informed consent. In total, 28 of these (62%, 95% CI 46% to 76%) agreed to participate.

Recruitment and follow-up by site

In London, six participant dyads (12 participants – six people with dementia and their main carer) were recruited between 17 August 2012 and 18 December 2012. Three potential participants agreed to speak with the researcher but declined to participate in the study. Reasons provided for this were not having the time to participate (two people) and not wanting their relative with dementia exposed to research questioning (one person). In London, a female patient was referred to the study and agreed to meet one of the researchers but it became apparent that she was unlikely to have dementia. The researcher checked with the surgery, which had placed her on the QOF dementia register without a diagnosis of dementia confirmed by secondary assessment. The researcher wrote to her to thank her for her time and withdrew her from the study. Follow-up appointments for the recruited participants in London were completed at 5 months. Six dyads were successfully contacted and follow-up data were collected.

In Norfolk, nine participant dyads (18 participants – nine people with dementia and their main carer) were recruited between 7 August 2012 and 24 September 2012. Three patients who were invited to participate returned the opt-in form stating that they would not be interested in taking part but gave no details about why they were declining participation. In Norfolk, all 18 participants recruited into the study completed a follow-up appointment at 5 months.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.



FIGURE 2 Recruitment flow diagram.

Thirteen dyads plus one carer-only participant were recruited in the north-east. Ten dyads were recruited through the larger practice. Recruitment took place between 30 July 2012 and 27 November 2012. Only one patient returned the opt-in form stating that she was not interested in participation.

A further four participants were agreeable to their details being passed to the researcher; however, either the patient or the nominated carer declined participation when approached by the researcher. Reasons for declining participation included patient illness/hospital admission and other family or care commitments. Despite multiple attempts, the researcher was unable to contact an additional two patients who had expressed an interest in participation through the GP contact. *Table 4* shows the derivation of the denominator for outcome assessment at all sites.

TABLE 4	Recruitment	of	dyads	and	follow-up	by	site
---------	-------------	----	-------	-----	-----------	----	------

		Follow-up at 5 months			Denominator for outcome and
Area	Dyads recruited		Rate (%)	95% CI (%)	quality of life data at 5 months
London	6	6	100	54 to 100	4 ^a
Norfolk	9	9	100	66 to 100	9
North-east	13	10 ^b	77	46 to 95	4 ^c
Total	28	25	89	71 to 98	16

a Follow-up for two patients was after the deadline for the study database to be locked.

b Three patients declined to be followed up at 5 months.

c After it became clear that that no viable care plan had been implemented, the amount of data collected at follow-up was reduced; six patients were not asked to complete the quality of life questionnaires.

Baseline data collection

Baseline data were collected from all dyads (nine from Norfolk, six from London and 13 dyads and one carer from the north-east). All nine dyads from Norfolk and all six from London were followed up at 5 months, with complete data collection. Ten of the 13 dyads from the north-east were successfully followed up at 5 months (outcome data were collected from four and the other six indicated that they were willing to provide it). Two dyads in the north-east indicated that they were not willing to provide outcome data (one patient had moved into residential care and her carer felt that the patient was not capable of participating; one patient did not receive the intervention and the carer felt that data collection would be too upsetting for the patient) and one further patient was lost to follow-up.

Demographics of participants at baseline

Tables 5 and 6 show the characteristics at baseline of the carers and the people with dementia, respectively.

TABLE 5 Characteristics of carers (n = 29)

	Centre	Centre			
Demographic	Norfolk (n = 9)	London (<i>n</i> = 6)	North-east (n = 14)	All (n = 29)	
Age (years), mean (SD)	71.2 (14.0)	62.7 (13.6)	64.1 (13.7)	66.0 (13.8)	
Gender female, <i>n</i> (%)	5 (56)	4 (67)	10 (71)	19 (66)	
Marital status: married/partnered, n (%)	6 (67)	2 (33)	10 (71)	18 (62)	
Level of education: no qualifications, n (%)	3 (33)	0 (0)	6 (43)	9 (31)	
Work: retired, n (%)	7 (78)	3 (50)	8 (57)	18 (62)	
Children at home, <i>n</i> (%)	1 (11)	0 (0)	1 (7)	2 (7)	
Ethnicity: white British, n (%)	9 (100)	3 (50)	14 (100)	26 (90)	
SD, standard deviation.					

TABLE 6 Characteristics of patients with dementia (n = 28)

	Centre			
Demographic	Norfolk (n = 9)	London (<i>n</i> = 6)	North-east (<i>n</i> = 13)	All (<i>n</i> = 28)
Age (years), mean (SD)	81.1 (3.5)	79.8 (6.6)	79.8 (11.6)	80.2 (8.5)
Gender female, <i>n</i> (%)	6 (67)	5 (83)	9 (69)	20 (71)
Relationship to carer				
Cared for by a spouse/partner, n (%)	7 (78)	2 (33)	6 (46)	15 (54)
Cared for by a son or daughter, <i>n</i> (%)	2 (22)	3 (50)	7 (54)	12 (43)
Marital status: married, n (%)	7 (78)	2 (33)	5 (38)	14 (50)
Level of education: no qualifications, n (%)	4 (44)	3 (50)	9 (69)	16 (57)
Ethnicity: white British, n (%)	9 (100)	4 (67)	13 (100)	26 (93)

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Outcome measures

For each variable we provide an indication of the distribution of responses at baseline, usually in the form of a box and whiskers plot. Additionally, we present descriptive statistics for each of the measures of outcome and quality of life used in the pilot study. The purpose behind this is to facilitate the planning of any future studies. In particular, measures of variability are likely to inform sample size calculations; it is not intended that the data be used to make comparisons between the particular sites that participated in this study.

Neuropsychiatric Inventory

The NPI was chosen as the likely primary outcome measure for a definitive trial. The NPI assesses 10 behavioural disturbances occurring in dementia patients: delusions, hallucinations, dysphoria, anxiety, agitation/aggression, euphoria, disinhibition, irritability or emotional lability, apathy and aberrant motor activity. Higher scores suggest higher levels of disturbance. The distribution of total scores for the patients recruited to the feasibility study is provided in *Table 7* and *Figure 3*.

Time point	Centre		Minimum	Maximum	Median	Mean	SD
Baseline	Norfolk	9	1	54	12.0	16.00	16.64
	London	6	7	32	10.0	15.33	10.58
	North-east	14	1	85	19.0	25.43	24.63
	Total	29	1	85	13.0	20.41	20.13
5-month follow-up	Norfolk	8	5	40	20.0	19.62	11.33
	London	4	2	13	8.5	8.00	4.97
	North-east	4	4	29	13.0	14.75	11.18
	Total	16	2	40	13.5	15.50	10.68
SD_standard_deviation							

TABLE 7 Neuropsychiatric Inventory total scores: descriptive statistics





In *Figure 3* (and subsequent box and whiskers plots), the horizontal line within each box corresponds to the median value, the lower and upper edges of the box correspond to the 25th and 75th percentiles and the whiskers indicate the range, except for any outlying values, which are indicated by circles and or stars. *Figure 4* plots the NPI scores at 5 months against the baseline scores.

Most of the scores at 5 months are greater than the scores at baseline. There are four exceptions, three of which correspond to responses from London carers or patients. The mean increase in NPI total score is 4.3 (95% CI –0.31 to 8.56) (based on 50,000 bootstrap samples).

European Quality of Life-5 Dimensions visual analogue scale

This general health rating scale (0–100) was completed by carers. Higher values suggest a higher quality of life. *Table 8* shows the descriptive statistics for the EQ-5D visual analogue scale at baseline and at the 5-month follow-up and *Figure 5* shows a box and whiskers plot of baseline values.

Bristol Activities of Daily Living Scale

The BADLS was designed specifically for use in patients with dementia and assesses 20 daily living abilities. A score of 0 suggests total independence and a score of 60 suggests total dependence. *Table 9* shows the BADLS scores at baseline and at 5 months' follow-up and *Figure 6* shows baseline values as a box and whiskers plot.



FIGURE 4 Plot of NPI scores at 5 months against scores at baseline.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Time point	Centre		Minimum	Maximum	Median	Mean	SD
Baseline	Norfolk	9	65	90	80.0	77.22	7.120
	London	6	60	92	77.5	75.00	11.900
	North-east	14	20	100	72.5	68.57	21.700
	Total	29	20	100	75.0	72.59	16.571
5-month follow-up	Norfolk	9	40	95	75.0	72.78	18.047
	London	4	40	80	69.5	64.75	17.231
	North-east	4	70	95	80.0	81.25	10.308
	Total	17	40	95	75.0	72.88	16.507
SD standard deviation							

TABLE 8 European Quality of Life-5 Dimensions visual analogue scale: descriptive statistics





Time point	Centre		Minimum	Maximum	Median	Mean	SD
Baseline	Norfolk	9	1	44	24.0	22.78	17.548
	London	6	8	40	17.0	19.83	12.937
	North-east	14	1	32	13.0	15.00	10.720
	Total	29	1	44	15.0	18.41	13.550
5-month follow-up	Norfolk	8	4	48	23.0	24.00	15.381
	London	4	8	30	14.5	16.75	10.372
	North-east	4	1	29	4.0	9.50	13.178
	Total	16	1	48	17.5	18.56	14.325

TABLE 9 Bristol Activities of Daily Living Scale total scores: descriptive statistics

SD, standard deviation.





© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

General Health Questionnaire

The GHQ-28 has possible scores across four domains in the range from 0 to 84, with higher scores suggesting higher levels of psychological disorder. The four domains are (A) somatic symptoms, (B) anxiety and insomnia, (C) social dysfunction and (D) severe depression. *Table 10* shows the GHQ-28 total scores at baseline and at 5 months' follow-up and *Figure 7* shows the GHQ-28 total scores at baseline as a box and whiskers plot. *Table 11* shows the domain scores at both time points and *Figure 8* shows the baseline domain scores as a box and whiskers plot.

Time point	Centre		Minimum	Maximum	Median	Mean	SD
Baseline	Norfolk	9	14	54	20.0	24.44	13.182
	London	5	7	21	20.0	17.00	5.958
	North-east	14	9	71	15.0	23.00	16.530
	Total	28	7	71	17.5	22.39	13.974
5-month follow-up	Norfolk	7	8	45	18.0	21.00	12.728
	London	3	11	32	16.0	19.67	10.970
	North-east	4	9	28	11.0	14.75	8.921
	Total	14	8	45	15.5	18.93	10.930
SD, standard deviation.							

TABLE 10 General Health Questionnaire total scores: descriptive statistics





Time point	Centre		Section A	Section B	Section C	Section D
Baseline	Norfolk	n	9	9	9	9
		Mean	5.56	6.44	9.44	3.00
		SD	2.455	3.712	4.157	4.416
	London	n	5	5	5	5
		Mean	3.20	5.60	8.00	0.20
		SD	1.789	2.510	2.915	0.447
	North-east	n	14	14	14	14
		Mean	5.79	6.29	8.43	2.50
		SD	4.264	5.902	2.503	5.460
	Total	n	28	28	28	28
		Mean	5.25	6.21	8.68	2.25
		SD	3.460	4.677	3.116	4.600
5-month follow-up	Norfolk	n	9	7	9	8
		Mean	7.22	6.57	7.22	2.13
		SD	3.898	4.036	2.682	3.643
	London	n	3	3	3	3
		Mean	4.33	6.67	8.00	0.67
		SD	4.041	4.509	2.646	0.577
	North-east	n	4	4	4	4
		Mean	3.25	4.75	6.75	0.00
		SD	2.872	6.850	0.500	0.000
	Total	n	16	14	16	15
		Mean	5.69	6.07	7.25	1.27
		SD	3.911	4.714	2.236	2.764

TABLE 11 General Health Questionnaire domain scores.^a descriptive statistics

SD, standard deviation.

a A, somatic symptoms; B, anxiety and insomnia; C, social dysfunction; and D, severe depression.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.



FIGURE 8 General Health Questionnaire domain scores: box and whiskers plot. A, somatic symptoms; B, anxiety and insomnia; C, social dysfunction; D, severe depression; and Tot, total.

Mini Mental State Examination

The range of scores on the MMSE is from 0 to 30, with lower scores suggesting worse cognitive impairment. *Table 12* shows the MMSE scores at baseline and at 5 months' follow-up and *Figure 9* shows the baseline MMSE scores as a box and whiskers plot. A MMSE score of < 10 suggests advanced dementia (*Table 13*).

Time point	Centre		Minimum	Maximum	Median	Mean	SD
Baseline	Norfolk	7	9	27	19.00	17.57	7.786
	London	5	12	29	23.00	20.20	7.050
	North-east	13	4	26	21.00	20.15	5.757
	Total	25	4	29	21.00	19.44	6.436
5-month follow-up	Norfolk	6	7	24	20.00	17.17	7.548
	London	3	22	29	23.00	24.67	3.786
	North-east	4	15	27	20.00	20.50	5.196
	Total	13	7	29	22.00	19.92	6.512
SD, standard deviation.							

TABLE 12 Mini Mental State Examination scores: descriptive statistics



FIGURE 9 Mini Mental State Examination scores: box and whiskers plot.

TABLE 13 Mini Mental State Examination category at baseline

	Centre			
MMSE category	Norfolk	London	North-east	Total
≥10	6	5	12	23
< 10	3	1	1	5
Total	9	6	13	28

Dementia Quality of Life scale

The DEMQOL is a quality of life measure in which higher scores imply better quality of life. Participant total scores at baseline and at 5 months' follow-up are shown in *Table 14*; *Figure 10* displays baseline values as a box and whiskers plot. The DEMQOL scale includes five domains, three of which are reported in *Table 15* ('feelings' = health and well-being; 'memory' = cognitive function; and 'everyday' = daily activities and looking after yourself). Baseline domain scores are provided in *Figure 11* as a box and whiskers plot.

Safety: serious adverse events

In London, two serious adverse events were reported. One involved a carer being admitted to hospital and one involved a patient (from a separate dyad) being admitted to hospital. These admissions were the result of falls and were unrelated to the study but were expected because of the nature of the patient and carer population. In the north-east, four serious adverse events were reported. One patient was hospitalised twice, both times because of a fall. Another patient suffered a fall and one patient was hospitalised with suspected pneumonia. Again, these serious adverse events were expected because of the age of the patients recruited. No serious adverse events were reported in Norfolk.

Costs

Case management salary costs for WP2 amounted to £52,890 across all sites. Training and mentoring by an Admiral nurse cost £5201 and £6273, respectively.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Time point	Centre		Minimum	Maximum	Median	Mean	SD
Baseline	Norfolk	4	91	107	96.50	97.75	7.274
	London	4	84	98	96.00	93.50	6.455
	North-east	12	72	108	97.50	92.67	13.282
	Total	20	72	108	97.00	93.85	11.008
5-month follow-up	Norfolk	4	90	111	98.00	99.25	9.979
	London	3	80	103	84.00	89.00	12.288
	North-east	4	75	111	92.50	92.75	17.017
	Total	11	75	111	92.00	94.09	12.888
SD standard deviation							





FIGURE 10 Dementia Quality of Life scale total scores: box and whiskers plot.

Time point	Centre		DEMQOL: feelings	DEMQOL: memory	DEMQOL: everyday
Baseline	Norfolk	n	4	4	4
		Mean	42.75	20.25	34.75
		SD	6.397	1.500	1.500
	London	n	4	4	4
		Mean	42.25	19.50	31.75
		SD	1.708	3.109	3.686
	North-east	n	12	12	12
		Mean	39.42	19.92	33.33
		SD	8.372	3.848	2.674
	Total	n	20	20	20
		Mean	40.65	19.90	33.30
		SD	7.066	3.243	2.755
5-month follow-up	Norfolk	n	4	4	4
		Mean	44.00	20.00	35.25
		SD	5.715	4.082	1.500
	London	n	3	3	3
		Mean	38.67	17.67	32.67
		SD	6.351	4.726	3.215
	North-east	n	4	4	4
		Mean	38.75	21.00	33.00
		SD	10.532	2.944	3.830
	Total	n	11	11	11
		Mean	40.64	19.73	33.73
		SD	7.632	3.744	2.936
SD standard doviation					

TABLE 15 Dementia Quality of Life scale domain scores: descriptive statistics

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.



FIGURE 11 Dementia Quality of Life scale domain scores: box and whiskers plot.

Chapter 5 Implementing the pilot study: review of processes and procedures

As part of the embedded qualitative study, data were collected on a number of aspects of study processes and procedures, including:

- recruitment processes
- acceptability and feasibility of outcome measures
- patient and carer views on study participation
- case manager and mentor views on study procedures.

Data on study processes and procedures were obtained through interviews with stakeholders and from reflective field notes made by the researchers responsible for conducting the baseline assessments. Although all researchers recorded whether or not there had been any problems relating to consent, detailed field notes on the conduct of the baseline assessments were kept for only one site.

Recruitment processes

One aim of the feasibility study was to explore whether or not it was possible to recruit 11 patient–carer dyads from each of the four participating practices. As described earlier, none of the participating practices succeeded in recruiting the target number of dyads. Factors influencing recruitment, explored through the qualitative interviews and documentation on the consent process, are summarised below:

- the user-friendliness of the information provided to patients and carers
- the extent to which practice dementia registers were comprehensive and up to date
- the introduction of additional screening criteria by the case managers and other professionals within the practice
- the complexity of the recruitment process, which involved a series of contacts by up to three different individuals (GP, case manager and researcher).

Accessibility of patient and carer information sheets

Both the mentor and the case managers expressed concern over the language used within the recruitment letter and information sheets:

I suppose for me at the beginning, we've got the title 'effectiveness of collaborative care' and straightaway I'm thinking that's going to exclude quite a lot of people straight away you know if they're reading that, they might go, 'oh well what do those words mean?'

Case manager

The failure to provide information in appropriate community languages was criticised, and it was thought that the information was inaccessible to many people for whom English was not their first language (participants who could not read English were excluded from this study):

There are issues around the documentation not being user-friendly for those where English is not their first language. And there was a delay, there was this one particular gentleman who has dementia where he was put to one side because he didn't understand the wording and he had to wait until his son could read and interpret it for him.

Mentor

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. Although none of the patients or carers recruited to the study commented on the documentation, this may reflect the possibility that only those people who understood the participant information sheet agreed to take part in the study.

Problems with practice dementia registers

The practice QOF dementia registers were used to identify potential participants. However, additional searches of electronic medical records indicated that several patients being treated with cholinesterase inhibitors had not been included in these registers. Careful review of their medical records indicated that in some cases a formal diagnosis of dementia had not been made; instead, terms such as 'cognitive impairment' or 'memory problems' had been used as diagnostic labels in the letters received from secondary care specialists. At other times, patients were not included on the practice dementia registers because, although they had been given a formal diagnosis, the initial Read Code used to describe their symptoms (e.g. 'memory problems') had never been updated. It was therefore necessary to use different search strategies to identify patients with dementia:

There was a list of 'possibles' with those who may have had medication for dementia but were not coded as being a dementia patient. So she [case manager] went through those . . . and found some more.

Practice administrative staff

Discussions with GPs within the practices also highlighted other potentially eligible patients who were not included on the practice dementia registers:

I have been in a couple of the GP meetings . . . and the GPs were in fairness, they were very keen, they were very enthusiastic and they were all shooting names out of patients . . . 'oh you know I think Mr and Mrs Anybody here or bla bla bla there, they would be perfect, could you look at them?' . . . but it was interesting these people they were suggesting weren't on the list [the QOF dementia register].

Case manager

The patients identified by the GPs could have been added to the practice dementia registers and thereby become eligible for inclusion in the study, providing that a formal diagnosis of dementia had been made and communicated, but this opportunity to increase recruitment was not explored. The failure to capitalise on the interest shown by the GPs in referring patients may have affected recruitment within these practices, as the following suggests:

I mean they showed some initial interest in referring cases and I think if they could have done that it would have been very different but obviously they couldn't, we weren't open to the GPs referring people in so I think ... that they really didn't bond with it.

Case manager

A further shortcoming of the practice dementia registers was that information on place of residence was not always up to date, meaning that patients on the register were not always eligible for the study:

It's been very difficult to recruit because the last time I was sat in her [case manager's] office we went through the QOF register together and it's not up to date enough, so by the time she gets to actually ringing and doing follow-ups people have either gone into residential care or the situation has changed, they're in hospitals, they're acutely ill and it's not appropriate to approach them.

Mentor

Information on carers was not always clearly recorded in the records, adding to the difficulties of identifying eligible patients:

To be honest for some of the records they didn't have a next of kin on, it was blank. For example, I remember a lady who's 69, diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease . . . and there was no next of kin. I didn't know if she lived alone and I didn't know if she had any daughters, any other family but it was only when I went into the consultations [section], there was a little message to say 'attended with husband'.

Case manager

Introduction of additional screening criteria

In some instances the inclusion/exclusion criteria from the study protocol had been modified or amended during the process of screening patients for the study. For example, one case manager excluded patients aged < 65 years and in another practice the requirement for patients to have a family carer became the perceived need for a co-resident carer:

I think the goal post kept shifting a little bit as well as to who was eligible and who wasn't eligible. To begin with they had to live with a carer and then it wasn't necessarily that they had to live with a carer, the carer could live miles away.

Case manager

Although both of these errors were identified and corrected, the potential for misinterpreting the inclusion/ exclusion criteria was clear. The issue of whether or not patients who were already receiving a form of case management should be excluded was an ongoing source of confusion for both research team members and the case managers themselves. It also became apparent that in most practices there were multiple layers of 'informal screening' by other members of practice staff, during which patients who (for unspecified reasons) were 'not suitable' or 'not amenable' were excluded, as the following extract illustrated:

Case manager (CM): Straightaway I was with my nurse manager who could say yes, no, yes, no, yes, no.

Interviewer: So how could she say yes, no, yes, no?

CM: Because she knows them, she's been in the surgery for 15 years she knows lots of patients very well.

Interviewer: But on what basis is she saying yes or no?

CM: From the criteria.

Interviewer: Oh right ok so we have the criteria.

CM: It was housebound and living in residential or being too mad, too 'past it' to actually benefit.

Interviewer: Was it housebound? Is housebound in there?

CM: Well she was putting housebound by lots of them so no but it was if they could come to surgery we were looking at it from that perspective or how long ago she had seen them.

Interviewer: I see, right.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. CM: So she was looking at it from a practical point of view without knowing all the variables I suppose and then I spoke to one of the senior partners who had another spin on who would be amenable.

Interviewer: Right.

CM: Because obviously some families as a feasibility it probably wouldn't work with and of course they have the right to refuse which is fine.

Complexity of the recruitment process

A final barrier to recruitment was the complexity of the recruitment process; patients and carers were initially sent a letter and were then telephoned by either the case manager (when this was a practice nurse) or a GP and contacted by a researcher, who then completed a baseline assessment before any contact was made by the case manager. As well as possibly being off-putting to patients and carers, delays between contacts and a potential lack of consistency between the various members of the practice making the telephone calls were identified as potential barriers to recruitment:

There's also, in terms of consistency of approach that's diluted isn't it because you may have one person with a particular approach doing a follow-up call and somebody else in the practice doing the next follow-up call.

Mentor

Even when details had been passed on to the research team, it was not always straightforward to make contact with patients and carers. Multiple telephone contacts had to be made with many participants to arrange an appointment. Carers were sometimes not able to speak on the telephone because they were busy with other commitments, for example work or care of grandchildren; the telephone numbers provided by the GP practices were not always up to date; participants did not always answer the telephone (either because they were not at home or they picked up the telephone only when they recognised the number of the person calling); participants did not always respond to telephone messages left by the researchers, necessitating further calls; and sometimes participants reported that because of hospitalisation or family problems they were not able to take part at the moment but would like to be contacted again in the near future.

There were also tensions over whether it would be more appropriate to call the patient or carer first when they did not live together. Some patients asked us to contact their relative instead; others were happy to be called but clearly experienced difficulties with short-term recall and retaining information about the purpose of the call. One perceived consequence of this approach to recruitment was that study participants were not representative of the broad group of community-dwelling people with dementia, with the complex recruitment process off-putting to those people in greatest need of support:

I think there is a concern, for me anyway, that the people we're getting are quite well educated, quite middle class, quite skilled, resourceful client group. ... I think it is a little alarming that we're not getting the people who are from a lower socioeconomic class who maybe don't have the skills and resources and who maybe are in a bit more crisis.

Case manager

Process of seeking informed consent

A structured form was produced on which the researchers recorded their experiences of obtaining informed consent from patients and carers. Information on the process of recruitment was available for 23 patients and 23 carers. In nearly all cases consent was obtained from the patient and carer at the same visit. When two researchers attended, typically the process of explaining the study was carried out with the patient and carer together; one researcher would then focus on taking consent from the patient and one would focus on taking consent from the carer. Three carers were seen by themselves and one couple was seen with their daughter. Typically, the process of explaining the study and seeking consent took about 20 minutes, although in two cases it took > 25 minutes. One person with dementia seemed very acquiescent and it was difficult for the researcher to gauge her level of understanding; following discussion she was thought to lack capacity to consent and a personal consultee form was completed. The second very long consent process was with a couple; in this case, the patient wished to discuss every aspect of participation in detail, often losing track of the discussion.

Clarification of the patient information sheet was required by five patients and four carers; most of the queries related to issues that were of particular relevance to individual participants (e.g. arrangements for accessing usual care, reassurance regarding confidentiality and questions about the case manager). One carer requested that the patient information sheet was not used with her mother because it included the term 'memory problems'. Clarification of the consent form was required more frequently (for 10 patients and seven carers). Typical issues noted by the researchers were the need to remind participants to initial rather than tick the boxes; to provide assistance to patients; or to explain the sections relating to a personal consultee and the qualitative interviews. Two patients had difficulties completing the form because of problems with fine motor co-ordination; others had difficulties with writing their initials:

The patient found it very difficult to complete information due to his ability to write and hold a pen. Made him slightly embarrassed, I completed some of the form for him.

Referring to patient B12

The consent form seemed too long and complex for someone with memory problems. Whilst cognitively capable of understanding the form, the patient was quite slow signing her initials and it felt quite uncomfortable having to keep asking her to sign the various boxes. She was aware that she was quite slow and made some self-detrimental comments (e.g. about being 'useless').

Referring to patient B03

The most frequent comment made by the researchers about the process of consent was that the form was too long for people with dementia; the fact that it ran over two pages was thought to generate confusion.

Acceptability and feasibility of the outcome measures

Details of completion rates of outcome measures are reported in *Chapter 4*. The data suggest some blurring of boundaries between the assessments carried out by the researchers and the work with case managers. Participants sometimes perceived members of the research team to be a source of support and someone to 'open up to', with assessments and interviews being perceived to have therapeutic value:

She was really putting on a brave face ... and clearly seeking reassurance and comfort. She said I was the only person she had spoken to about this, and she normally hides herself away in her room or throws herself into something like decorating as a distraction.

Field notes, B10

Specific issues relating to the outcome measures for patients are described first, followed by a description of problems noted with the outcome measures for carers.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Outcome measures for patients

Only two outcome measures were administered to patients: the MMSE and the DEMQOL scale (a measure of health-related quality of life for people with dementia). The MMSE was administered first as the DEMQOL scale is not appropriate for people with severe dementia (MMSE score < 10). In general, the assessment with patients took between about 30 and 60 minutes. Although some patients seemed to take the assessment in their stride, it was clear that others became anxious and, at times, seemed stressed by the questions:

After the assessment, I asked the patient how he had felt about answering all of these questions. He said that there were quite a lot and he was worried that he hadn't done very well. I reassured him that he had done well.

Field notes, BO4

Mini Mental State Examination

The MMSE was abandoned with three participants as the researcher considered them too cognitively impaired to continue. Some practical issues with completing the MMSE emerged for patients who had difficulty writing because of other conditions such as arthritis or Parkinson's disease:

The participant had struggled to sign his name on the consent form and I was unsure whether or not to ask him to write the sentence. I gave him the option and said he should stop at any time if he wanted to. He really gave this a good attempt despite his significant tremor but was unable to complete it. When he really started to shake I asked if I could complete if for him. It was clear that he was trying to write 'wish you were here' and understood the concept of a sentence but lacked the motor skills to be able to complete it. I did not ask the participant to attempt the intersecting pentagons as he had commented on how he was 'hopeless' and the writing task had clearly made him upset.

Field notes, B04

Some patients were familiar with the MMSE (having previously completed it at the memory clinic). Knowing what to expect was comforting for some participants but created anxiety for others. 'Serial sevens' (in which participants are asked to deduct seven from 100 and then to keep subtracting sevens from their answers) seemed to cause respondents the greatest anxiety, regardless of overall score or performance:

B51 commented that she was pleasantly surprised that the questions were OK – and they weren't too personal. During the MMSE, she commented on her lack of arithmetic skills (and serial 7's was the only question she really seemed to struggle with).

Field notes, B51

Some patients expressed an awareness of being 'tested', which made them defensive or concerned about getting the right answers:

MMSE – PWD [person with dementia] wasn't particularly happy about doing this, and I said that she didn't have to do anything she wasn't happy with. Husband was still present and encouraged her to have a go at least. She warned me that she hated maths and wouldn't do those (but she did and got 5/5). It was quite amusing when she wrote what she thought about doing the assessment in the 'write a sentence task' (I am sick of this test!). She was jokingly defiant with me when she handed it back and was laughing.

Field notes, B09

Dementia Quality of Life scale

All researchers involved in baseline assessments highlighted problems with the wording of the DEMQOL scale. The initial questions of the DEMQOL scale, which focus on feelings, begin with the stem,

'In the last week, have you felt ...' and were generally straightforward to administer. However, the questions relating to memory and everyday life start with the stem, 'In the last week, how worried have you been about ...'. Several patients responded that they 'never worried' or that they were 'not a worrier' when asked the first question in these sections; but we then had to ask a further 14 questions asking how worried they had been about various aspects of their life. Ironically, one of the later questions asks, 'how worried have you been about people not listening to you'. The extract from field notes in *Table 16* illustrates the verbatim responses spontaneously given by one patient (B06).

A further concern was that a small number of patients asked us 'whether I should be worried', suggesting that we were potentially creating anxiety. Even when the specific issue was a problem for patients, they did not always 'worry' about it, as in the example below:

The patient's main comments were that he experienced problems with his memory – but he wasn't really worried about them. He said that because of this, he found it hard to choose a response. Field notes, B02

These problems with the DEMQOL scale were not universal; however, eight of the 12 patients for whom detailed field notes were made and who completed the DEMQOL scale reported that they did not worry. This suggests that this was not an isolated issue relevant to one or two patients. For other patients administration of the measure was straightforward:

The patient had no problems in understanding any of the questions, and seemed to understand and apply the appropriate response options. The options seemed unproblematic, and only a few times did I have to clarify which response would be most appropriate based on her verbatim responses. Field notes, B10

Other participants found the response categories problematic, explaining that they did not capture their perceptions and experiences:

It was a real challenge (understatement), to get the respondent to use the four response options to the questions. He would discuss at length how inadequate each response option was and how this did not reflect his experiences. This was not a case of the patient being unable to grasp the concepts – anything but. He fully understood them, but found them unrepresentative and 'badly phrased' – he particularly took umbrage with the phrase 'quite a bit' – stating that this wasn't particularly positive and 'bit' meant only a small amount. . . . The tack I found effective was to get the patient to respond in a way he felt was relevant, note these verbatim, and then choose an appropriate response. I explained this to him and put it to him that the only other alternative would be to abandon the

In the last week how worried have you been about:	Response
Difficulty making decisions	I'm not worried at all
Not having enough company	Always got company
How you get on with people close to you	I don't worry darling
Getting help when you need it	I'm not worried
Getting to the toilet on time	l just don't worry

TABLE 16 Extract from field notes relating to patient B06

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

questionnaire. He was keen to keep going and commented that this would end his sport for the afternoon!

Field notes, B05

Some patients also commented that basing their responses on the previous week would not be representative as that week had been atypical:

The first 5 questions about feelings in particularly prompted her to give a lot of context to her feelings and how this was not a typical week (as she had a visit to her sister who lives at the other end of the country) and how she was more likely to rate things positively in some ways, but then felt a bit down and tired on return – so there could be a negative influence on some questions too.

Field notes, B09

The guidance on the DEMQOL scale suggests that it is not suitable for patients with severe dementia (MMSE score < 10). However, one participant with an MMSE score of 14 was considered unable to grasp the concept of the assessment and the DEMQOL scale was abandoned.

Outcome measures for carers

Given the option, carers generally preferred the self-completion questionnaires to be administered by the researcher rather than completing them independently.

Neuropsychiatric Inventory

The main problem with administering the NPI was that carers sometimes found it difficult to quantify aspects of patients' behaviours, particularly in terms of frequency rather than severity.

She found some aspects of the NPI hard to quantify in terms of frequency. Specifically in relation to certain behaviours (G – apathy/indifference; L – appetite and eating). She felt that these weren't 'one off or individual' episodes, but things that were either present or not.

Field notes, B01

Carers who did not live with the patient understandably found it difficult to answer questions about sleeping habits.

Bristol Activities of Daily Living Scale

Although the BADLS was considered relatively straightforward by most participants, some carers felt that the response categories did not fit well, especially around finance. This is perhaps complicated by matters such as power of attorney and may not reflect the severity of functional impairment:

The question about finance was problematic; she described how mother repeatedly sits and counts money and can sign her name but doesn't need to deal with money since her daughter deals with it all. Field notes, B10

General Health Questionnaire

This questionnaire caused considerable distress for several participants. Section D – relating to negative aspects of mental well-being and including issues such as suicidal thoughts – proved particularly emotionally challenging and resulted in several carers becoming tearful and upset:

GHQ – Question D1 caused the carer to break down. This came from the left-field as, up until then, she had shown no signs of being distressed or stressed either when completing the questionnaires or in our general discussions. We took a small break; I reassured the carer and asked if she wanted to get a drink/tissue etc. I asked her if she was fine to continue and she said she was. I reassured her that lots

of people found this section difficult and she said she was fine to continue and suggested we just 'blasted through them'!

Field notes, B06

The wording of some questions was unfamiliar; in particular, some participants were unsure of the meaning of to 'make away with yourself'.

European Quality of Life-5 Dimensions

Respondents generally found this measure straightforward and easy to complete (including the visual analogue scale).

Client Service Receipt Index

Although the researchers who were familiar with the CSRI from earlier research studies found this measure straightforward to complete, those who had not previously used this measure experienced a number of problems. The design of the CSRI could be improved to facilitate data entry for analysis; for example, the addition of a column indicating whether or not services had been used would eliminate the need to record that the frequency of service use was 'zero' for services with which there had not been any contact.

Overall, carers often found events over a 6-month period difficult to recall. This particularly related to service use for themselves and patients. Carers often relied on secondary sources such as diaries and care plans to facilitate accuracy. Carers lacked confidence in reporting financial benefits; although they could describe receiving benefits, they were often unsure of the official name.

Other areas of difficulty related to quantifying the length of time that patients could be left alone (for those who lived with the patient) and quantifying how much support they provided (for carers who did not live with the patient). Husbands and wives of patients sometimes reported that they had always done everything together and so did not spend time apart; non-co-resident carers sometimes reported that family members provided a network of support:

The carer struggled to quantify one particular question on CSRI (about the amount of time he is able to leave his wife for), as he doesn't really do this. He wanted to give a 'not applicable' response (however this is not an option). He recounted a couple of rare examples when he would leave his wife but how it was impossible to put a time on this as he would never leave her so long that she would become distressed, and this hasn't happened yet 'touching wood'.

Field notes, B11

The range of response options was also queried in relation to other questions on the CSRI. For example, the daughter of one couple organised all of their finances. Neither the patient nor the carer knew which benefits they received but there was not a 'do not know' response option.

Patient and carer views on study participation

This study explored the feasibility and acceptability of case management delivered as part of a research study rather than as part of an established service. Many of the patients and carers participated in the study because of their desire to support research, rather than because of their need for case management. Although some participants identified personal benefits from case management, this was perceived as a bonus. Altruistic drivers for participation include a desire to help others through improving services; to more broadly raise awareness about dementia and its effects on patients and carers; and to contribute to research in general:

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

I think it's been good. Like I say, when we were first offered it from the doctor we didn't even know what it was. She just said, 'It's CAREDEM research . . . something to work out of the doctors' surgeries.' I said, 'Yes. Anything to make people aware; I think it's a good thing. Really.'

One dyad in particular felt empowered by participation in the research and felt that they may now be in a position to help others in a similar situation and described how they might like to take on a supporting role. Other participants expressed how participating had made them 'visible' again and 'got the ball rolling' in terms of access to services. As mentioned earlier, some participants found participation in the baseline assessments and qualitative interviews useful for airing issues that might otherwise not have been identified, as the following extract illustrates:

Carer: just hold on a second, the fact that you are here has brought up issues that we've discussed while you have been here about you know obviously mum's feelings have changed about going to the ...

Interviewer: Alzheimer Society.

Carer: Alzheimer's meeting you know, so the fact that you are here has addressed that again which I'll now . . .

Person with dementia (PWD): Well I think you have to face the situation you are in and help yourself the best you can.

Carer: But last time we did have the conversation you didn't feel that way mum, so you know that's good you know and I know.

PWD: Well that's cleared the air isn't it?

Patient and carer, CO4

Case manager and mentor views on study procedures

In addition to identifying, recruiting and case managing people with dementia and carers, the case managers were also expected to undertake a range of research activities (e.g. completing a recruitment log, allowing members of the research team to observe assessments and participating in interviews and informal discussions). When members of the research team were based in the same geographical area there were more opportunities to build relationships and to have informal meetings; however, the multiple demands on the case managers could lead to tensions over workload:

I felt that sometimes I was getting lots of emails from people saying 'could I do this, could I do that, have you done the log, have you done this paperwork' ... I didn't think people really understood the role of a practice nurse.

Case manager

I wish your research team would see that as a whole afternoon, that it isn't just the assessment, you don't just write. If you see a couple in an assessment then you have to formulate what their needs are, that all has to be done in the office.

Mentor

There could also be tension between the requirements of the research team to collect data, for example by observing the case manager undertaking assessments, and a case manager's desire to prioritise patient and carer needs:

I think it's been quite hard to avoid the fact that ultimately this has been for the benefit of the study not for the service users or patients and carers etc. And I think ... there has been a feeling that the participants don't really matter and that they are just tools to gather this information to get a research paper out of it.

Case manager

At other times, members of the research team were regarded as a key source of support by case managers, providing a sounding board or an opportunity to discuss issues arising with the practices or clients:

You've been very supportive and helpful throughout which I appreciate isn't really part of your role ... I think certainly for day-to-day support, discussing cases, discussing where the project is going, you've been the main link really and again you've been absolutely fantastic.

Case manager

The expectations placed on the case managers at the outset of the project (particularly the practice nurses) were articulated by a team member:

These poor case managers have half a day a week to get their heads round dementia, recruitment, case management, research, mentor's training; so many new elements are thrown at them at once. Team member

The familiarity of the research team with recruitment processes, in particular applying inclusion and exclusion criteria, meant that the difficulties that the case managers experienced with these research tasks were underestimated. Although the mentor was in regular contact with the site principal investigator, more formal links and systematic communication between the research team, mentor and case managers may have helped develop a better understanding of the research process:

Where I think it would have been so much better was if communication all round had been better ... I don't think we ever had the time to do all of that but you know part of, it's all that soft intelligence that comes out of informal conversations and things that perhaps wouldn't be recorded on a documentation or in an email which is really helpful to keep in touch and have that continuity which I feel I was sort of out of the loop really.

Mentor
Chapter 6 Capturing what case managers do

Case notes and data extraction

Structured forms were provided for data collection but were underused by case managers who generally preferred to write freehand notes. To provide a description of case management in practice, two researchers (CB and AW) jointly reviewed all available documentation for each participant and systematically coded the information for analysis. Documentation included:

- the formal paperwork provided
- freehand notes produced by the case managers
- correspondence sent to GPs to summarise the case management intervention.

To illustrate this process, *Table 17* provides an extract from the case manager notes and the way in which this was coded.

Actions taken were similarly coded; a code was included to indicate when investigations were already under way by another professional. The full coding frame was a slightly modified version of the documentation provided to case managers.

Limitations of the data

The lack of consistent use of the formal documentation was not ideal as the researchers had to rely largely on the narrative accounts provided by the case managers. The researchers' interpretation of needs was not necessarily consistent with that of the case managers. For example, one case manager recorded that a couple had 'no unmet needs' despite documenting that the husband's (carer's) sleep was disrupted to the extent that he is 'frequently tired during the day'. Any statements that seemed to indicate an underlying need were coded.

TABLE 17 Illustration of coding of case manager notes

Extract from case manager notes	Researcher coding
Things she mentioned without prompts: Loss of motivation Weight loss 'muzzy' head in the mornings More muddled Forgetting more things That her husband must 'roll his eyes at times with her' although 'he never says anything' Needing a nap after lunch	PWD unmet need relating to coping with dementia-related problems
Rash/spots abdomen that occur occasionally? cause; itchy but feels ok with it	PWD unmet need relating to physical well-being
Both undergoing a lot of stress with family member ill	PWD unmet need relating to emotional well-being; carer unmet need relating to emotional well-being
PWD, person with dementia.	

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. Through informal discussions with case managers, observations of case management and contact with patients and carers, the researchers were aware that contacts and actions were under-reported by all of the case managers.

The researchers were also aware of the potential for introducing bias when they had previous knowledge of the patients and carers (either through baseline assessments or qualitative interviews). By undertaking the coding jointly, the two researchers working from different research sites were able to ensure that they relied solely on what was recorded in the paperwork provided by the case managers.

Demographic information on patients and carers

In designing the paperwork the team was mindful of the need to avoid unnecessary duplication of information; however, a section on demographic information was included as not all of this information was always readily available in the GP records. *Table 18* shows the documentation of participants' demographic information by case managers.

Although the case manager working in the most multicultural area always recorded religion and ethnicity, those based in more culturally homogeneous environments were less likely to consistently record this information. Whether or not a patient's religion had implications for the way in which services were provided was noted for only around half of those patients (n = 7) whose religion was recorded. One case manager recorded no information on the number of informal carers; this appeared to be because of a photocopying or printing error on the recording sheets used.

Although worksheets were available for recording information on more than one carer these were so rarely used that we focus only on information relating to the main carer. In general, case managers were less likely to record information relating to the main carer than information on the person with dementia (*Table 19*). Whether or not a statutory carer's assessment had been undertaken was documented for only half of the carers and this varied significantly between case managers.

We also compared the recording of demographic details according to the professional background of the case managers, but there were no differences in the amount of missing data between the case managers who were practice nurses and the case manager from a social work background.

Information	Recorded	Not recorded
Age/date of birth	19	5
Gender	24	0
Living arrangements	22	2
Diagnosis (type of dementia)	19	5
Year of diagnosis	17	7
Preferred language	12	12
Religion ^a	12	12
Ethnicity	18	6
Number of informal carers	11	13
a Difference between case managers $p < 0.05$.		

TABLE 18 Recording of patients' demographic information by case managers

Information	Recorded	Not recorded
Age	15	9
Gender	23	1
Relationship to patient	23	1
Employment status	15	9
Statutory carer's assessment ^a	13	11
Preferred language	11	13
Religion	7	17
Ethnicity	13	11
Whether or not registered with the same GP practice	17	7
a Difference between case managers $p < 0.05$.		

TABLE 19 Recording of demographic information on the main carer by case managers

Type and frequency of contact

Details were recorded for 63 contacts, the majority of which were with patients and/or carers (n = 59); it was not clear whether the case manager had seen the patient, the carer or both for 15 contacts. Only four contacts with other professionals were recorded: two with GPs, one with an old age psychiatrist and one with staff from the local Alzheimer's Society.

The number of contacts with patients (either alone or with the carer) ranged from zero to eight (mean 1.08) whereas the number of contacts with carers (either alone or with the patient) ranged from zero to six (mean 1.42). The median number of contacts per patient–carer dyad differed significantly by case manager (independent samples median test p < 0.001) (*Table 20*). Although two of the case managers predominantly had a single contact with each of the patient–carer dyads recruited to the study, one case manager had an average of just over five contacts per patient–carer dyad. This case manager was also the only one to record any contacts with patients only (see *Table 20*). It is noteworthy that the case manager with the greatest number of contacts was one of the practice nurses who had only half a day per week allocated to case management.

To achieve this number of contacts within the allocated hours, the case manager relied extensively on telephone follow-ups, although she also had an initial face-to-face meeting with each patient–carer dyad. The type of contact varied significantly by case manager (applying an extension of Fisher's exact test p < 0.001) (*Table 21*).

		With patient and/or carer					
Case manager	Number of patients	Patient only	Carer only	Together	Not specified	Other	All
1	9	10	17	10	6	3	46
2	6	0	0	3	4	1	8
3	9	0	1	3	5	0	9
Total	24	10	18	16	15	4	63

TABLE 20 Number of contacts recorded by case managers

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

		Type of contact				
Case manager	Number of patients	Face-to-face	Telephone	Letter/e-mail	Not specified	Total
1	9	10	26	0	10	46
2	6	3	0	2	3	8
3	9	3	0	0	6	9
Total	24	16	26	2	19	63

TABLE 21 Type of contact by case manager

Needs identified

The 14 areas of need included in the paperwork were grouped into five broad areas for analysis: daily living and routines (including informal or social networks); physical well-being and medication; emotional well-being and support (including willingness to accept help, adjusting to diagnosis and managing transitions); coping with dementia-related problems (including behavioural and psychological symptoms); and financial and legal needs (including access to benefits and lasting power of attorney). The frequency with which needs in each of these areas were identified for patients and carers is shown in *Table 22*. Case managers were more likely to document unmet needs than met needs or areas in which there were currently no needs for both patient and carer. Unmet needs were more likely to be recorded for patients than for carers in all areas with the exception of financial and legal needs, which were documented more frequently for carers (see *Table 22*).

Examining the needs identified by different case managers indicated that, although they identified a similar range of needs in relation to patients, there were significant differences in the types of carer needs identified (p < 0.01). The areas of need with most variation between case managers were daily living and routines (which accounted for between 9.1% and 50.0% of carer needs identified); emotional support and well-being (accounting for between 0% and 47.1% of carer needs identified); and financial and legal needs (accounting for between 5.9% and 54.5% of carer needs identified). When examined by the professional background of the case managers, there were no significant differences in the areas of need identified, suggesting that the variation reflected personal differences in style rather than professional training.

Actions taken

The actions taken for unmet needs are summarised in *Table 23*; as can be seen there was a discrepancy between the number of unmet needs identified (n = 116) and the number of actions recorded to address these (n = 58). Although a small number of actions were recorded that were not specifically linked to

	Patient			Carer		
Area of need	No need	Met need	Unmet need	No need	Met need	Unmet need
Daily living	8	10	20	1	0	10
Physical well-being and medication	0	5	22	1	2	3
Emotional well-being and support	6	2	15	6	2	10
Coping with dementia-related problems	5	2	20	0	2	5
Financial and legal needs	1	4	3	0	2	8
All needs	20	23	80	8	8	36

TABLE 22 Needs identified

Action	n
Provision of written information	6
Provision of verbal advice/information	16
Advocating	1
Identify appropriate services	3
Liaise with professionals	6
Monitoring	2
Referral	10
Other	6
No action, being addressed by other professional	8
All actions	58

TABLE 23 Actions taken for unmet needs

unmet needs, there was no documented evidence of any action being taken for almost half of the unmet needs identified. There was only one recorded instance of a case manager giving a patient–carer dyad one of the leaflets produced in WP1.

The extent to which actions were taken by area of need is summarised in *Table 24*. Seven unmet needs that were being addressed by another professional have been excluded. Overall, at least one action was recorded for 25.7% of patient unmet needs and for 48.6% of carer unmet needs. The proportion of needs for which actions were recorded varied significantly by area of need for carers (p < 0.001) but not for patients. Actions were most likely to be recorded for financial and legal unmet needs; this may reflect the clear referral pathway for such needs.

There were significant differences between case managers in the likelihood of some actions being recorded for unmet needs (range 25.0–51.8%, p = 0.05); further analysis indicated that the proportion of patient unmet needs with actions was similar for all case managers, whereas the proportion of carer unmet needs with actions varied significantly (from 25.0% to 81.8%, p < 0.05). The differences between case managers were not linked to their professional background. Case managers were equally likely to record actions for patient and carer unmet needs in all areas of need with the exception of needs relating to emotional well-being and support, which were more likely to be addressed when identified for carers than for patients (p < 0.05).

TADLE 24	whether	or not any	actions w	ere recordec	i by case	managers by	alea ol u	ninet neeu	

	Patients		Carers		All	
Area of unmet need	No action recorded	Action recorded	No action recorded	Action recorded	No action recorded	Action recorded
Daily living	13	7	9	1	22	8
Physical well-being and medication	12	5	3	0	15	5
Emotional well-being and support	13	2	4	5	17	7
Coping with dementia-related problems	16	3	2	3	18	6
Financial and legal	1	2	0	8	1	10
All unmet needs	55	19	18	17	73	36

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. The discrepancy between unmet needs and actions recorded may in part reflect the different judgements of the researchers and case managers, as in several sets of notes the case manager explicitly stated that the patient and carer had 'no unmet needs' despite having clearly documented a number of areas in which there appeared to be unmet need. One example of such a discrepancy, mentioned earlier, is illustrated in *Table 25*.

Views on the documentation

During interviews and informal discussions with case managers and other team members we explored the reasons for the limited use of the documentation and lack of systematic recording of activities. Given that the case managers were experienced professionals within their own disciplines and were used to the requirement to record contact with patients/clients, we had not anticipated the problems with documentation. Key reasons for the limited use of the documentation are summarised in *Box 1* and explored in detail below.

TABLE 25 Sample discrepancies between researcher and case manager

Extract from case manager notes	Researcher coding
[Patient's] main problem at present is in relation to her bladder. She stated that she constantly feels that she needs to urinate and	PWD unmet need relating to physical well-being
can go to the toilet 30–40 \times per day. This is very distressing for her and has affected her confidence in going outside	PWD unmet need relating to emotional well-being
This also has an effect on [husband] as [patient] frequently forgets where the toilet is and requires [husband] to take her to it. This means that [husband] feels that he needs to be constantly with her and the result is he also now rarely goes out unless it is absolutely necessary	PWD unmet need relating to daily routines
Investigations are on-going as to the cause of [patient's] bladder problems, but as of yet nothing has been found. Various medications have been tried, but none have seemed to make any	PWD unmet need relating to coping with dementia-related problems
difference. [Patient] has been supplied with incontinence pants from the district nurse and wears them all the time	Action – physical well-being being addressed by other professional
[Patient] reports that she generally sleeps okay, but usually has to get up $3-4 \times$ during the night to go to the toilet. This affects	PWD unmet need relating to coping with dementia-related problems
toilet and each time can take up to 30 mins. [Carer] stated he does not tend to be able to go straight back to sleep and the	Carer unmet need relating to daily routines
nightly disruption does mean he is frequently quite tired during the day	Carer unmet need relating to physical well-being

BOX 1 Case managers' key reasons for limited use of documentation

- Lack of ownership.
- Inadequate training.
- Resource issues (time, access to printer/computer).
- Lack of supervision.
- Problems with the documentation provided.
- Lack of familiarity with research.

Lack of ownership

Much of the work on developing the documentation had to take place before the appointment of the case managers. Once the case managers were in post, the emphasis initially was on providing induction and on identifying potential study participants. As a result, there was little opportunity for the case managers to contribute to the refinement of the documentation. The lack of clarity over the role of case management added to the difficulties in co-designing the paperwork. One case manager reviewed the documentation and felt that it was workable; however, she then resigned. As a result of the lack of involvement of the other case managers in designing the paperwork, they may have had little sense of ownership or commitment to using the documentation.

Although increased ownership may have improved both the paperwork and compliance with recording, within statutory services staff are expected to comply with existing recording systems without having ownership over them. Such discrepancy may need to be further explored in other studies.

Training in research instrument use

A brief session to introduce the documentation was included in the first meeting of the case managers, which took place in May 2012. Unfortunately, one of the case managers was unable to attend this meeting; for this case manager the introduction to the documentation was limited to sessions with the case manager mentor, which were already time pressured. The poor completion of the documentation and confusion over certain sections, in particular the log of contacts, reflected the case managers' lack of understanding and familiarity with the paperwork:

[Case manager] asked if s/he should set up a log of contacts to share with the research team. I suggested that this would already be captured via the paperwork but s/he didn't think this would be. Field notes of telephone conversation with case manager

Resource issues

Time pressures were a recurrent problem for those case managers whose input was limited to one session per week. The perceived time required to complete the paperwork was highlighted as a key barrier:

I'm finding in my visits, documenting everything I want is really difficult . . . I do use the pack the 11 pages that you've given me. Do I fill everything out beautifully? No. Do I get back to it when I want to all the time? No. Have I got a good sense of what happened in that meeting? Yes. What I've worked out is that I need to have time fairly soon after that meeting to write more coherent notes, have I been able to do that every time? No I haven't. It's time.

Case manager

In addition to the time requirements, concerns were also raised about the potential duplication of work if the case managers had to record their work in both the practice electronic record system and the separate documentation for the research project. Although concerns were raised over the time required to complete the documentation, the paperwork requirements were seemingly far less stringent than those within statutory services. One of the case managers estimated that approximately 80% of social worker time was spent on documentation. The small numbers of cases and resistance to using the study documentation may have had the effect that the case managers never fully familiarised themselves with the paperwork, which would have made the process of completing the documentation less time-consuming.

Lack of clarity over responsibility for documentation

Although the paperwork was primarily designed by members of the research team, responsibility for monitoring how it was used was never formally agreed. Furthermore, the use of a paper-based rather than an electronic system meant that it was difficult for the research team to gain access to the paperwork and therefore provide feedback on how the case managers were documenting their work. Although existing

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

line management arrangements were intended to continue throughout the project, the value of such arrangements was questioned:

I mean technically I get supervision from my [line] manager . . . she's great but at the end of the day she doesn't know anything about CAREDEM, she isn't involved in CAREDEM, doesn't know any of the patients, any of the cases. So with the best will of the world you know there's nothing really she can do which, you know, isn't her fault but it's not really an ideal set up.

Case manager

Problems with the documentation

An electronic version of the documentation would have been (from the research team's perspective) preferable in terms of ease of transfer and analysis of data, but also ease of data entry, as a well-designed system would have prompted the case managers for key information and would have facilitated consistent data entry through the use of drop-down menus. However, before the production of an electronic version there was a need to field test the content of the documentation to make sure that it captured the key elements of case management. Issues relating to access to computers and printers and a lack of confidence with information technology (IT) were also raised as potential barriers to the introduction of an electronic version of the paperwork:

[Researcher] felt that the case managers just didn't have time to learn how to manage the [IT] systems, even if these were set up and this was no reflection on them or their skills.

Researcher

It seemed that aspects of the documentation did not work and that some of the case managers found this very frustrating:

It was so un-user-friendly; I tried my level best to use it, I really, really did, but it just got so tedious at the end.

Case manager

One case manager, however, found the paperwork a useful tool for structuring assessments:

It's really useful to have such a clear structure because you can come back. If you don't have a structure, you can go off wherever you want, but it's quite difficult to come back. I'm sure the paperwork could be improved upon but I find it very easy to work through.

Case manager

Other criticisms of the paperwork related to the order or sequencing as the sections were not perceived as logical in flow. As the paperwork was provided as loose leaves, it could have easily been reorganised to suit case manager preferences; however, their difficulty in engaging in general with the paperwork meant that such options were not explored. The research team had hoped that the paperwork would facilitate the process of case management through systematically linking needs, desired outcomes and actions; however, this was rarely evident in practice. Desired outcomes were rarely explicitly recorded and, as illustrated earlier, actions were not always linked to areas of need.

Lack of familiarity with research

Although all three case managers were experienced in keeping records of work with clients/patients, this had previously been in the context of routine work. To provide a detailed description of the intervention provided we wanted to capture their activities more systematically. However, this was not successfully communicated to the case managers and their commitment to documenting their work varied.

Chapter 7 Implementing case management for people with dementia in general practice: views of key stakeholders

This chapter summarises the results of the nested qualitative study and presents the views of key stakeholders. Participants' perspectives are presented in terms of three stakeholder groupings:

- patients and carers
- health and social care professionals from participating GP practices and associated voluntary sector services
- case managers, case manager mentor and members of the research team.

For all three stakeholder groups, key findings were amalgamated into three specific themes:

- knowledge and skills that they felt were required for case management
- practical delivery of case management compared with the theoretical concept, including the perceived and actual benefits of case management and clarity, or lack of it, over the case manager role
- delivery of case management through primary care.

Knowledge and skills required for case management: patient and carer perspectives

Core knowledge and skills

In terms of knowledge and skills required by case managers, participants expected them to be able to provide information around dementia and local services. Participants felt that case managers should have sufficient knowledge to signpost people to appropriate services and provide information. Access to information about dementia was crucial in enabling participants to manage the practicalities and uncertainties of the condition and to empower patients and carers to understand their condition and plan for the future:

Professional carers that's their vocation they understand it, they've been trained for it. If you're a son, the child, who's been doing something else you don't know what the nature of the beast is and if you misunderstand it you can say 'well that person is just being difficult' even though they've never, they've been a beautifully loving person up until that point when they sort of change. If you don't, if you haven't been counselled, it hasn't been explained to you, you misinterpret that can cause for stress. The more you understand this disease and the behavioural symptoms then the better you are to deal with it. So again somebody like [case manager] you know being a point of contact.

Care, A04

Professional background

Most patients and carers expressed no strong preference regarding the professional background of case managers. Although one participant felt that the nursing/medical status was important, another patient–carer dyad felt more comfortable with a non-medical professional as so much of their life was already medicalised. Benefits of both a nursing and social work background were identified, but neither

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

was seen as a core requirement. From the perspectives of patients and carers, nurses were perceived as providing a more direct link to the GP and advice and support around comorbidities and minor ailments:

Interviewer: And obviously [case manager] is a nurse and is that important to you that she's got a nursing background, a medical background?

A02: Yes, oh yes it's always very important, yes it's because as I say I have got different things wrong with me but I feel pretty good most of the time, I don't feel like an invalid, not yet anyway. Patient, A02

In contrast, social workers were seen as closely linked to formal or paid support services. There was also a feeling that there were established routes for seeking help with medical issues, whereas patients and carers were less familiar with where and how to seek help for social problems and therefore valued the specialist knowledge of case managers with a social work background:

I don't think the clinical side probably comes into it, it's probably more having access to knowing what services are available and more helpful in that way. I mean obviously the doctors would be the ones that would be doing the medical side of things as regards the illness, but it's more about managing the problem and it wouldn't make any difference to me where it came from, and what department or whatever, so no, it's not a problem.

Carer, B01

Interpersonal skills

In describing the skills needed for case management, patients and carers emphasised interpersonal skills such as empathy, the ability to listen, making people feel at ease and not rushing people. Advocacy was also suggested as an important professional skill by one carer. In addition to skills, personal attributes of case managers were considered important. Case managers were described positively and adjectives were used such as 'nice', 'pleasant', 'bubbly', 'lovely', 'easy to talk to', 'a friendly face', 'comforting' and 'supportive':

I think the most important thing is the care. That's what I think. Because having worked in that sort of industry there were people who came along that obviously had fantastic qualifications to see the people that I was looking after but they didn't seem to have any empathy.

Carer, A02

Case management in theory and practice: patient and carer perspectives

Potential and actual benefits of case management

The perceived and actual benefits of a case manager from the patient and carer perspective included acting as a first point of contact and also as a 'safety net' for all concerns, potentially providing a one-to-one, therapeutic relationship for future ongoing support and offering information and direct links to the practice and other services. Some participants suggested that the case managers should also be able to take on a more active role in negotiating or brokering with local services. Participants valued the ability of case managers to address both health-care and social care problems. Patients and carers were generally satisfied with their experience of case management and several participants were clear that they wished the service to remain in place (both for their own benefit and to benefit others). The service created feelings of security or comfort for some patients and carers. In addition, a number of practical benefits were reported, including easier access to GP appointments, benefit checks and links with other services:

What was very useful was when I told her that trying to get appointments is really difficult; she's actually used a pop-up system now in the surgery to get the earliest appointment without me having to say 'is it possible, can you bring the appointment a bit forward?' Because I might be off on a

particular day. She used the pop-up system so it comes up on the screen to let us have, without debating, the earliest appointment in view of my being a carer and at work and mum being not been able to wait a long time for an appointment.

Carer, A06

At the minute, we're going through a care plan [for a personal budget], and that's where you get an amount of money and it's done through the council, which we never know about. It was [case manager] who directed us in that way and we can go and spend it like – [patient], basically, can go out and spend it. It covers your care needs and everything, and that's something we never knew about. It was just [case manager] directed us in that, and checking that our benefits were in place. Carer, B02

However, outcomes were less positive for some patients and carers. For example, one carer was waiting for information on whether or not her mother could keep a cat in sheltered accommodation:

Carer: It's the one thing that my mum said that she really, really would love to happen but as I say I don't know whether it would be possible.

Interviewer: And has there been any follow up with [case manager]?

Carer: We haven't heard anything. No we haven't heard anything yet. But it wasn't that long ago so maybe she's tried to get in touch with them.

Carer, A02

A key aspect of case management valued by patients and carers was the idea of background support that could easily be called on at a time of need. This was described as providing a sense of back-up, a safety net, security and knowledge that help was available if needed. This concept of contingency was considered key to avoiding or averting crisis:

Carer: She [case manager] was good. She said if there was anything, 'Don't sit there worrying. Pick up the phone and we'll sort something out.'

Interviewer: Did you ever have the opportunity to pick up the phone and call her?

Carer: No, no, but it was just nice to have that safety blanket there, because I've got her number in my phone now, so if there's anything that comes up, or anything like that, I know the phone number is there to get in touch with [case manager]. So it's really good.

Carer, BO2

For patients and carers to feel comfortable about contacting the case manager in the event of difficulties, there needed to be time and opportunities to develop a deeper relationship. Regular contact, the provision of case management from the early stages of the condition and continuity were seen as crucial for establishing a good relationship:

Carer: I think it needs to be regular [...]

Interviewer: Right, even from that early stage?

Carer: I think so.

PWD: Yes.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. Carer: So that then when it gets to a stage when we really do need help we've got the confidence in the person you've been seeing all along.

PWD and carer, C04

Face-to-face and telephone contact were both considered acceptable, although face-to-face contact was often preferred as it facilitated relationship building better than telephone contact. One participant would have preferred more face-to-face visits at regular intervals rather than just telephone follow-ups:

I was hoping that we'll get regular support and I think visits on a regular basis . . . it would be nice to think that I know that we are going to have another visit say every 3 months or something like that. Carer, C04

Clarity over the case manager role

The remit of case managers was unclear to some patients and carers and there was a degree of uncertainty about the specific areas of support available:

Interviewer: Do you think a case manager could have helped to support you in that role, or ...

Carer: Eeh, I don't know, is it their job to do that is it?

Interviewer: Well, case managers can support the carer and the person with dementia as well, so, or did you feel that you navigated it fine by yourself?

Carer: Well no, I didn't – I had to go to the, I'm still going to the council, I was there yesterday.

Carer, B13

In addition, there was some overlap of roles, with dementia advisors (piloted in one site) and case managers being perceived as offering similar types of support. The potential for case management to offer continuity of care was one aspect of case management that was potentially distinct from other services. Participants reported having been discharged from other services and even in primary care found it difficult to consistently see the same GP unless they were prepared to wait for an appointment:

Carer: We never had that [ongoing contact] before. It was just like, we'd got the diagnosis, go to the doctors' appointments and things, and then that was it; we were just sort of left.

Carer, BO2

PWD: Because very often you can't get in to see a doctor

Interviewer: *Right, is it difficult?*

PWD: It can be. It is yes. I mean I just see whoever, not like the old days when you used to see your doctor.

Patient, CO2

Implementing case management in practice

Key issues for patients and carers included access to and availability of the case manager, the most appropriate time for them to access case management and the perceived severity of the problems that the case manager would deal with.

Access and availability

Although all carers in one area were aware of the case manager's time constraints, often spontaneously mentioning how busy she was, they reported that she had nonetheless made time for them during

assessment visits. They also reported that they would have no qualms in contacting her should the need arise:

I think [case manager] is a very busy woman so to pile things onto her would be wrong but it's lovely knowing she's there if I need her, I can pick that phone up, I can even ring her at the surgery and she'd listen which is nice, but I wouldn't want to say to you 'oh I'd like to see her two more times a week' or something like that where at the moment she's running, she'll get here at a gallop won't she, if I want to see her too much, so it's just nice her being there so I can ring.

Carer, CO3

One issue that arose for patients and carers recruited later in the study was the lack of time to build up a relationship with the case manager, although first impressions had generally been very positive:

She is . . . very nice, I could only say as I, she's amazing, she's nice, she's a lovely person, well she came over as lovely to me. As I say I don't know her very well, sometimes it does take a while to get to know people.

Patient, A02

The relatively short duration of the pilot study meant that relatively few changes occurred and the situation of most patients and carers remained stable. Contingency therefore remained a hypothetical concept rather than one that participants had personally experienced. It was also clear that there were some tensions and inconsistencies around the concept of contingency. Despite their apparent enthusiasm for flexibility and responsiveness, participants frequently expressed a reluctance to initiate contact with the case manager, somewhat undermining the idea that they could ask for help when needed:

I wouldn't personally ask. I'm happy to accept it all, if somebody points me in the right direction, I just won't initially ask. I mean I wouldn't say to you, 'I'm struggling with this. Can you help me with that?' I just wouldn't do it. I've never done it. I just don't feel comfortable with it.

Patient, BO2

Timing of case management

Many participants reported that their greatest need for information was at the point of diagnosis and in the early phases of the condition when they had been faced with navigating the system without any support. They felt that the lack of information at this point had compounded the difficulties of coming to terms with the diagnosis. However, those patients and carers who were still at the early stages often felt that they did not need any support at the moment but could see a point in the future when they might have needs requiring input. This mismatch in the views of people in the early and later stages of the illness trajectory may reflect the possibility that patients and carers are able to see their needs more clearly retrospectively than at the time.

In the light of these difficulties in recognising and articulating needs, it was interesting that some participants explicitly commented on the problems of identifying their own needs. Whereas they were too immersed in the situation, they felt that a case manager might bring a more detached perspective and could be in a better position to identify needs through regular contact and monitoring:

You need somebody to be able to look at the bigger picture, who knows where you're going, who's seen it before and [who could] deem and assess your situation to be stable and tenable or not and either talk to you about it, get you the right support or what have you but you can't be the judge of your own situation. I mean obviously you know it's bad but sometimes you just don't know what to do.

Carer, A04

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Although early intervention was considered to be the optimal way of identifying and addressing needs, this was somewhat at odds with the ability of patients and carers to identify low-level needs and to initiate contact with the case manager. Achieving the benefits of case management in practice may require a more structured, formal approach in which the case manager initiates regular contact with patients and carers.

Identification of patient and carer concerns about case management: major problems compared with 'day-to-day' issues

A further barrier was the difficulty that patients and carers appeared to have in identifying their needs, with many having few or no needs (any identified were considered low level). Both patients and carers frequently stated that they did not have any needs:

And she also rang me since she came to say 'have you got any problems?' At that stage we haven't got really anything to report.

Carer, CO4

We haven't, luckily we haven't had any major problems; it's just day-to-day things.

Carer, CO2

It appeared that many patients and carers seemed to associate case management with 'major' problems, with input being seen as most relevant in times of significant change (e.g. move to a care home). The 'day-to-day things' described above may have been a legitimate focus of attention for the case manager but tended not to be raised by patients and carers. This limited the ability of the case manager to provide a preventative, proactive service. Rather than focusing on current needs, participants tended to emphasise past and future needs, for example describing how case management either would have been helpful in the past or would be helpful in the future:

The things that [case manager] had to offer were perhaps something that I would have found very useful at the beginning of my mum's Alzheimer's and not so much [now] because I've learnt by trial and error on how to deal with it.

Carer, B01

At the moment you see with my wife things are in early stage, aren't they? [mmh mmh] so you know we might be very, very glad of [case manager] in months, years, a couple of years to come you know, I hope she's still about to help us, of course with her doing this she's the person you want to help you. Carer, C03

Delivery of case management through primary care: patient and carer perspectives

For most people, going to the GP surgery is an ordinary thing that ordinary people do in their everyday lives. It is not a new experience or a 'special' experience such as a hospital attendance or intervention through another agency such as social work. Neither patients nor carers expressed any concerns about going to their surgery, which was an accepted activity for many because of their management of other conditions.

Participants often described general practice as the 'gateway' to the 'formal' system of care and support. The GP was considered as the first point of contact for participants. The most appropriate way to access case management was thought to be through the GP around the time of diagnosis. This would ensure support at a time when participants have identified that it would be most beneficial. It would also avoid the difficulties that carers reported in negotiating support systems and allow people to 'seamlessly' access the service, as the following interview extract illustrates:

Interviewer: How important is it to you that [case manager] is based at the medical practice?

Carer, A06

Another aspect of being in primary care was the perception that this would provide a 'one-stop shop' in the sense that other conditions as well as dementia could be managed through the practice rather than having to engage with multiple agencies, as this carer suggested:

Interviewer: What are the advantages [of case manager being based at the surgery]?

Carer: Well probably because she's got other medical staff there that she can, if there's a bigger problem, then she can discuss it with them and then.

Carer, CO2

Although the case manager was located within the practice, participants generally thought home visits were the most appropriate way of engaging with the case manager. Given the choice, patients tended to opt for a home visit rather than arrange to see the case manager at the practice. Aside from the logistics of organising an appointment, some carers also acknowledged the broader benefits of home visits in relation to assisting with assessing need. The option of surgery appointments was valued when the carer wished to see the case manager in private. The primary care setting was seen as offering a range of opportunities for contact, some serendipitous and some organised more formally:

At the moment I can just ring [case manager], you know we've got so used to [case manager] now, seeing her at the surgery, seeing her coming here, I think she's going to come round and see us again which she said yesterday didn't she? She said 'I'm going to pop round and see you', so another little moment I can have you see, so this is handy isn't it?

Carer, C03

The only potential disadvantage of case management being delivered through primary care related to the issue of 'medicalisation', which was raised by one couple.

Knowledge and skills required for case management: perspectives of health and social care professionals

Professionals felt that a core knowledge of dementia and excellent interpersonal skills were essential attributes for case management; the professional background of case managers, either social work or nursing, was felt on the whole not to be important. Having the ability to adopt a holistic approach to care was also fundamental.

Core knowledge and skills

Participants generally felt that having an interest in working with people with dementia was the most important aspect of the role:

I think it's knowing something about dementia and handling dementia.

GP

It seems to me that you need to be a dementia specialist but you don't necessarily need to be a nurse. Voluntary sector worker

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. It was suggested that knowledge about dementia was crucial for supporting carers, who often had limited understanding about the behavioural changes and illness trajectory of dementia. For carers, an empathic approach and practical strategies were seen as more important than medical knowledge:

So a lot of carers who come to us are struggling with coming to terms with how different that person has become, with perhaps that they're beginning not to recognise them, that they are in some cases quite difficult, their behaviour is difficult at times. So it's about information but also a discussion then around how that impacts and kind of validating how that person feels about that and helping them to think about strategies and communication techniques that will improve that, because they're dealing with it all day every day. So slightly the medical knowledge is almost less important than how you deal with that day in and day out.

Voluntary sector worker

Professional background

The professional background of the case manager was not felt to be crucial to adopting a case manager role.

Well I think that the important thing is really the background of the worker and the fact that they've got experience in working with people with dementia and an interest in continuing to do so. So their professional background is less important I think than that. But I wouldn't have said that it needed to be a role that any particular profession is best at, I think it very much depends on the individual rather than what their background is.

CMHT worker

Although many respondents felt that a clinical background was not important, some professionals thought that a nursing background would equip case managers with appropriate skills:

I do think the nursing team are the place where most of the skills are to help to do things like case management. Yes, there's the medical and there's tablets now so doctors suddenly and neurologists suddenly get all excited about dementia, but actually a lot of it is to do with a more nursing perspective and looking at problem-solving around practical things a lot of the time.

GP

One participant thought that the stigma associated with having a social worker might prove to be a barrier to accepting case management in the early stages of dementia and suggested that a nurse might be more acceptable to patients and carers:

We do get people who find it very difficult to feel that they've got social workers involved, there's still that certain stigma involved isn't there? Having you know, in your family, having a social worker. So I can see that particularly at an early stage there could be some advantages in it being a practice nurse. Voluntary sector worker

Interpersonal skills

Some participants identified the importance of good interpersonal skills and the need to build up the relationship with the patient and carer over time:

Going into someone's home and assessing the situation fully takes a lot of time and my own experience is that carers are often a little bit anxious about what you're going to suggest and what you're going to try and do and whether you're going to be critical of – they might know that their care is falling short of the ideal a lot of the time but it's their husband or their wife and they want to carry on. I think people are very scared and it takes a while to build up a relationship, to actually develop that – so I think half a day a week in a practice like this which has got a large elderly population, you could easily use that and double it and possibly more.

Although some professionals recognised the value of a series of face-to-face contacts, they suggested that telephone calls could also be an effective way of maintaining links with patients and carers:

Well I think it depends on the patient but ... I don't think it has to be a rigid structure. I think it doesn't necessarily have to be visits; I'm a big fan of the phone call. I think because they take two minutes, you know, but actually people just really appreciate the ringing up to say 'oh you know we talked about this last time, how's it going?' and 'oh it's great!' or 'no it's not quite working' or 'we'll do some tests'. It takes no time at all but patients really appreciate it, or patients and carers.

Holistic approach

Professionals thought that case managers needed to use a holistic approach that allowed them to 'see the bigger picture'. Rather than a medical focus an in-depth exploration of the impact of the disease was required:

If there were specific medical questions they [case managers] would be able to direct somebody to whoever could give them those answers. It's more important from our point that it's a sensitive discussion around 'how does that feel for you?' 'Do you feel you are going to be able to look after, is the family going to be able to do some of this looking after?' 'What impact is that going to have on you, do you need some support around you?' That sort of thing. In a, you know [laughs] a more sensitive way maybe than I've just done but that's the discussion that we need somebody to have and I think that's about the way you have that discussion rather than a particular expertise around the medical side of dementia. I can't see that that would make that much difference.

Voluntary sector worker

GP

The lack of attention of existing services to the psychosocial aspects of diagnosis was highlighted by the recent professional experience of a dementia support worker:

I saw a couple in [place] last week and it's a recent diagnosis. She said, 'of all the medical professionals, no one has asked me how I feel about it'. This had been going on 2 months. Had the diagnosis, she was seeing someone about medication. 'Nobody has said to me, except for you, how are you feeling?'

Voluntary sector worker

Case management in theory and practice: perspectives of health and social care professionals

Potential and actual benefits of case management

Professionals focused on potential benefits to those with dementia, their carers and then finally the GP practice. Case management was seen as potentially benefiting the person with dementia by providing continuing care, with an individual maintaining contact over a long period of time and dealing with problems at an early stage. It was seen as complementary to existing secondary care and social services, neither of which had the capacity to monitor patients and carers nor to provide support at an early stage in the illness trajectory:

We do know that people with dementia, their needs change dramatically over time in different ways and ideally we would keep them on and monitor and follow up and provide support as their needs do change, but that's impossible. So they have to be discharged, and then hopefully are re-referred before a crisis occurs but sadly it's often at the point of crisis so, that's one area where the case manager in primary care can plug that gap.

CMHT worker

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

So people at the beginning of their dementia actually don't come to us. It's when they're wandering or they're not safe or if they're a risk to themselves."

Commissioner

The lack of routine reviews for people with dementia was highlighted as a shortcoming of existing services (although the introduction of the dementia reviews within primary care will ensure at least annual follow-up):

That would be great if everybody who was given a diagnosis had a review a year later because they don't at the moment. ... I sit there at these multidisciplinary team meetings, and people write in and say: 'Mr Bloggs has got dementia and it's got worse. Can he be re-reviewed?' Basically, the mental health team will say, well, unless there are any specific behavioural problems, unless there are any other particular problems, and something has changed; if it's just the fact the dementia's got worse, they won't pick them up.

Voluntary sector worker

By introducing regular, informal contact with patients and carers, case management was seen as having the potential to identify problems at an early stage and facilitate appropriate support:

I think that if you can induce sort of joined up care and if you can almost form a circle around a patient, these vulnerable people and if something happens or you're worried or something goes wrong or they're not quite so well, if you can communicate with other people involved often you can catch them. Whereas if you don't know who's involved it can take you ages or it can send you off on another referral pathway or get too many cooks involved and I think that's the secret of looking after these people – is to have a few people involved but who are involved all of the time. The advantage of it is that I think the patient gets better care, things get picked up sooner, there's less upheaval for them if they're moved from one person to the other, there's less duplication of investigations and possibly conflict even of treatments and from a personal point of view as a GP it's actually less hard work if you know who to ring and you're all on the same page.

GP

It was also suggested that carers would benefit from early and ongoing support:

From our point of view, the earlier that the carer is recognised as part of the care that needs to be given, the better, so if they're part of care planning right from the beginning then they're going to feel recognised and valued. They're also going to recognise some of the stresses on themselves and be able to make informed decisions about how much care they want to give and how much they want to ensure is given by other services. So you just get a more balanced development in terms of a caring role. I think unfortunately what quite often happens is that carers arrive here at the point where they've hit a brick wall.

Voluntary sector worker

There were also perceived to be benefits for the practice, in terms of potentially saving appointment time, having a specialist in dementia within the practice and, on a personal level, the opportunities for professional development for any practice nurse who took on the role of case management:

I think several things for the patients and their carers, someone in the practice who was known to them as having an interest in dementia and would be a point of contact for them. And also some professional, not, professional development is not quite the right word, but some increasing professional self-esteem really for [case manager] who was doing it. All participants found it difficult to evaluate the extent to which these potential benefits of case management had been realised in practice. The lack of feedback from case managers about their work with patients meant that GPs were often unaware of which patients and carers had received the service:

To tell you truthfully, I have no idea if you had picked the two, the people up that I referred and I have no idea what has been done with them on behalf of the project and I have no idea if it's made a difference.

GP

Health and social care professionals beyond primary care similarly found it difficult to assess the impact of case management other than having received a small number of referrals or requests for information from the case manager. Even when positive feedback from patients and carers had been received, there was recognition that they were often very grateful for help and that it was often difficult to get anything other than positive feedback:

Certainly one or two, and certainly good feedback, they like her ... I think patients and carers obviously kind of value almost anything that's offered and that they're very grateful for any additional support that can be provided and particularly if it's just on their doorstep ... you get good feedback, but actually in terms of being constructively critical you need to actually dig a bit deeper don't you? CMHT worker

Clarity over the case manager role

Although, in theory, professionals could see that case management potentially 'plugged a gap' in services, in practice there was confusion over the boundaries between case management and other professional roles. Concerns were expressed over potential duplication of roles and the difficulties of identifying the most appropriate referral pathway:

I just remember at the time we all sat there and said, 'Well, where do you fit in?' This was the mental health nurses and myself: 'Where do you fit in compared to all the people who are already visiting these people with dementia?'... I think it was felt that there was going to be some duplication. Voluntary sector worker

The provision of support for people with dementia and their care is so stretched that somebody else providing a kind of direct link between if you like the primary care and other services would be a good idea. So yes, I was very supportive of the plan ... I think that the problem sometimes is that roles aren't clearly, or maybe not clearly defined enough, between for example our community mental health nurses, the dementia advisor that we work with and the case manager. And I do admit sometimes that, when I've got somebody who I know needs support, I'm not at all sure necessarily who would be best to refer to. And so, if I think if anything I think the definition of roles and responsibilities needs to be much clearer for it to be most effective."

CMHT worker

Implementing case management in practice

Several practical issues were raised about the implementation of case management in practice. The time required for the role was identified as a potential issue by several professionals:

I know [case manager]'s feeling quite pressured in actually trying to find the time to do this – my impression was that this was feeling like something additional that had to and I think it's just that whole thing of having to, even if you've got funding for something, you still have to fight for the time and fight for other people to recognise it as being important, and that's quite hard sometimes.

GP

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. Although home visits were recognised as taking significant time, there was a strong view that the ability to offer home visits was essential with this client group, partly because of mobility issues for older people but also to gain a better understanding of their social environment:

You know you see the nicest turned out people who they make an effort, they come into the doctors but you go home and then you realise there's mouldy food in the fridge and the milk's still on the doorstep or they're sleeping downstairs or you walk in and you get a picture straight away usually, particularly about circumstances. . . . If they know they're coming to the doctors, often you dress and think appropriately and plan that out. Also, the other thing is quite often if they do have dementia and unfortunately they quite often forget their appointment and it means that you don't get any follow-up anyway.

GP

For the purposes of the feasibility study, patients with dementia were identified from the practice dementia registers and so the patients who were included were at different points on the illness trajectory. We asked professionals when they felt that case management should be provided. Overall, early intervention was seen as the best practice, although views varied whether it should be offered at diagnosis or slightly after diagnosis (e.g. on discharge from the CMHT at the memory service):

Probably it should happen at diagnosis so that the patient and the carers are aware that the service is there without being awfully intrusive, so that they get used to the idea. So I would have thought from the word go ... and then we go in say once every 3 months or if there's a crisis, or even once every 6 months depending on what they're like.

```
GP
```

I don't think it should be offered at diagnosis, because I think that's where in fact patients get the most contact from us, and in particular if somebody is starting on Alzheimer meds [medication] then they're seen sort of fairly regularly by ourselves. I think what would be helpful would be for us to be able to offer the case manager at the point of discharge from ourselves and . . . maybe we'll arrange for you to see her once just so you can say 'hello' and then you know that she's there if you've got any concerns. I think that as I said before, I think that would kind of plug the gap really, and to some extent at least, rather than people feel they've been discharged so they're not quite sure where they can go now to get help.

CMHT worker

Some of the GPs noted that similar systems of providing a contact for a known person within the primary care team were already in place for other patient groups, such as those with cancer:

We'll have a cancer watch list so as soon as they're diagnosed there may be absolutely no need at that time but I'll make contact and the district nurse will make contact so at that point there might be nothing, but at least they've met us, we've said 'hello, we're available get in touch'.

GP

Potential barriers to case management were that some people often do not identify themselves as a 'carer', particularly in the early stages of their relative's dementia, and that people from some minority ethnic groups were reluctant to be diagnosed because of the perceived stigma:

So if you look at some of the minority ethnic communities often there's a reluctance to get a diagnosis for dementia; there's still a lot of stigma attached to it ... and even more of a difficulty in terms of people recognising themselves as a carer because it's just seen as the role within the family. I've done some work with older Bangladeshi women ... and one of the things that that you discover is that there isn't a word in their language that directly translates the word carer because there isn't that concept. Do you see what I mean? It's just seen as within the family, that's what happens. Voluntary sector worker

Delivery of case management through primary care: perspectives of health and social care professionals

Advantages and disadvantages of siting case management in primary care

A range of advantages and disadvantages of case management being based in primary care was identified (*Box 2*). Ease of access was identified as a key benefit; professionals working for a local voluntary service felt that being based at the GP surgery would facilitate uptake of support:

If we sat in a surgery we'd pick up a lot more trade, wouldn't we? We'd have a lot more people than we do at the minute, if we were based in the surgery.

Voluntary sector worker

Overall, the benefits of being based in primary care far outweighed the disadvantages identified.

Although primary care was seen as the most appropriate site for case management, the importance of being linked with other local services (either the voluntary sector or CMHTs) was highlighted. It was thought that this would help clarify role boundaries and facilitate joint case work. One suggestion was for the case manager to attend CMHT meetings:

I know she's on the end of the phone but ... maybe not weekly, but maybe every now and again [she could come to the CMHT meeting] to discuss the people that she's got on her caseload and the people we've got on our caseload, and in particular the ones that are shared.

CMHT worker

GP

GP

Embedding case management in primary care

A key advantage of being based in primary care was the potential for the case manager to liaise with colleagues in the event of concerns about individual patients and carers. The extent to which these links were enacted in practice varied considerably. There seemed to be particular challenges in developing effective working relationships for the case manager from a social work background who had not previously been known to the practices. From the GPs' perspectives, the lack of visibility of the case manager, together with the lack of feedback on work carried out with patients and carers, meant that liaison had been minimal:

If I'm honest we hardly ever saw [case manager] within the practice. We only saw the person twice, once at the very start and once after I think I'd met with you and said we haven't heard or seen her and she then turned up once again.

Two participants suggested that the lack of embeddedness of this particular case manager was perhaps more to do with the individual than the role:

That might be an issue with her rather than the role as a whole.

Even in practices in which existing practice nurses took on the role of case manager, it was unclear exactly how familiar their colleagues were with their activities:

Interviewer: Do you think the other practice staff knew what [case manager]'s role was when she was doing this other role?

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. **BOX 2** Perceived advantages and disadvantages of delivering case management through primary care (views of health and social care professionals)

Advantages

Normalising context

I think a lot of people feel that going to the GP practice is more, it's kind of more normal for them isn't it? Everybody has a GP; everybody goes along, so being involved in some ways is easier particularly at an early stage. Voluntary sector worker

Opportunity for ad hoc contacts

To use the fact that people go into that surgery for other purposes but to take the opportunity to discuss their dementia and the problems associated with it at that time.

CMHT worker

Links to GPs and practice nurses

We will catch things and we will pick things up sooner because they notice when things change. Or they might share and say to a GP, 'have you seen so and so yet, have you noticed?' or 'oh I'm a bit worried about so and so'.

GP

Creation of expertise within primary care

I think somebody who deals with a lot of dementia tends to get good at their job too. So I think I kind of thought there was a level of expertise there that would be good for us.

GP

Fit with long-term focus of primary care

I think that's where general practice – and obviously I'm going to say this because I'm a GP – so I think it always trumps secondary care, is that it does have that long-term view and a long-term commitment to patients and their carers which the secondary services because of their constant reorganisations, they don't have that same focus on the long term and being there and just raising things early on about changing needs and still being there to actually address those.

GP

Disadvantages

Patients and carers may prefer to keep issues confidential from their GP

Where patients are already relatively well known we know their social context we've often, we know the family quite often. We've kind of had some sort of continuity but we certainly don't know everything about them and you do come across situations where people definitely don't want their GP to know because they're afraid they will get put in a home or taken to hospital . . . the neighbours and the family and social workers may well know things that we don't.

Commissioner

Issues with backfilling posts and nursing capacity

It's impacted a little bit on my colleague who's helped [case manager] get her appointments organised and home visits organised and telephone consultation organised because obviously that's taken her out of her practice nurse sessions.

Administrative staff

Administrative staff: I don't think they did necessarily because you are right, we are a large practice. We've got 15,500 patients. We've got 19 doctors, three nurses, etc. Nine or eight loads of people to staff, receptionists, etc. So I don't think, everyone just gets on with their parts of the work and one or two might decide to find out and so on. But we might have mentioned it in the newsletter or one of the staff meetings on a couple of occasions last year, but I don't think anyone really knows. But then if you ask me 'do they know that there's a midwifery service?' I don't think they know what's on here. Do you see what I mean?

In general, primary care staff had little knowledge of what was actually being delivered to patients. This was compounded by different approaches to recording case management work in the primary care notes. Only one case manager made detailed entries; one simply noted times and dates of contacts; and the final case manager felt that it was inappropriate to record any details in the GP notes. Instead, a summary of the work with each patient–carer dyad was sent to the GPs at the end of the project; however, although the GPs found this very useful, they would have preferred more timely feedback.

A number of participants felt that having a summary or key points recorded in the patients' notes would facilitate communication; it was suggested that the model of recording used by counsellors attached to GP practices would be ideal. It was also suggested that regular feedback through practice meetings would have been beneficial. Furthermore, appropriate meetings were identified that a case manager might usefully attend, including CMHT meetings, district nurse meetings or the multidisciplinary team meeting:

Every 3 months we have a meeting with [name] who is our consultant psychiatrist and I think that could be a useful tag on to that. It could be, if that was inconvenient, it could be a tag on to our regular meetings with the district nurses.

GP

I think for benefit further would be for [case manager], and maybe [mentor], to host an education meeting for the GPs, and to cascade what they've learnt. I know we do have, every Friday lunchtime, an education meeting and ... if it wasn't ever discussed, it's a route that we ought to go, so the nurses, peers and the GPs, they all can learn.

Administrative staff

The value of informal ad hoc meetings was also mentioned:

I think if it could be from somebody who was in and around the building who you bumped into or who you could have internal e-mail contact with that would be the ideal.

GP

The extent to which the practice nurses engaged in these meetings within their own practices was unclear, although no comments were made about their integration (or lack of it) in the interviews with their primary care colleagues. Although the practice nurses had the advantage of already being embedded within the practice, the potential difficulties of integrating an 'outsider' were not seen as insurmountable, provided that they had the necessary communication skills and desire to link with the primary care team. There were, however, other advantages to having existing members of the team act as case managers. These included their existing knowledge of patients and practice information systems, the benefits to the practice of developing the skills and roles of existing team members and the perception that using an existing member of staff was somehow more holistic:

But how would she know how to use the system? Time wise because obviously she'd have to go to someone to find out, how do I source these patients, how do I go through their records, just to get to know a medical system I know from just my experience here that you know it isn't just a quick

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

lesson, there really isn't. My gut feeling would say it's a downside. I would think it's far better where people are familiar with the system.

Administrative staff

I think it makes her work seem more valid, rather than just being an add-on. And I think for patients it feels – I think for our patients, we know our patients, they like the surgery here, they like the nursing team, and it feels more solid, it feels more a part of their overall health care and their overall, that they're being looked after holistically rather someone else coming in and doing an add-on.

GP

The one benefit of being an 'outsider' to the practice and coming in to the case manager role was the perceived ability to legitimately 'ring fence' one's time. Professionals working in small practices felt that it would not be appropriate to have a case manager embedded within their practice, but suggested that a different model was needed, such as a mobile service that could attach itself to the practice at certain times:

You can't have an embedded person because actually they haven't got the resources to do it so you're probably looking at a model where you do have one person covering several practices. So for example we have, I know it's not the same thing but one of the things that's come up, is the 24-hour blood pressure monitoring which is a new NICE [National Institute for Health and Care Excellence] guideline. We have a lady who comes in every two weeks because our population's smaller and that suits our population so they get seen quickly and efficiently and it actually only takes one afternoon a week to cover our patient load.

GP

Supervision and support of case managers

Although existing line management arrangements continued for all case managers, there was little evidence that this had included any detailed discussion of work with clients for the practice nurses involved. Only minimal contact between the lead GP and case managers was reported in three of the four participating practices:

But I've just let her get on with things really, and I sought her out I don't know, probably end of November time, a bit before Christmas just to see how things were going and touch base at that point.

GP

The extent and form of supervision provided by existing line managers seemed inadequate to support the case managers in their new role. There was no evidence that line managers facilitated or encouraged case managers to participate in relevant practice meetings, checked that work was being recorded in the primary care notes, helped them to ring fence the time available for case management or reviewed their work with individual clients:

So what [case manager] was doing was she was also going on home visits to meet these patients on our register. When she went on these visits she'd either let me or her colleagues and the nursing team know that she's on these visits. I think they took about over an hour or so, a long time for a consultation. She'd come back and do the documentation, etc. and so on. My question with her was 'Do you need as much time as you're spending for six patients?' ... I always received the answer 'Yes'. I didn't bother going beyond that really.

Administrative staff

With more robust practice-based support and supervision, it is possible that the case managers could have achieved more within the time and resources available.

Knowledge and skills required for case management: perspectives of case managers, the mentor and the research team

The case managers brought different skills, professional backgrounds and experiences to their role (*Table 26*), which impacted on their training needs and the implementation of case management. In addition, the dedicated time available for case management varied between practices. Although there were only three case manager posts, with one post designed to cover both of the north-east GP practices, these were covered by four case managers as one resigned to take up a new post and was replaced during the period when patients and carers were still being recruited. The case manager who resigned and the replacement were similar in terms of gender, professional background (social work) and experience, with the exception that one had more experience of working with people with dementia. The details in *Table 26* are for the case manager who was in post for the majority of the feasibility study. To maintain confidentiality, quotes from interviews are not attributed to individual case managers.

Core knowledge and skills

There was recognition by the mentor and members of the research team of the range of knowledge and skills required by the case managers. Knowledge of dementia and available interventions and awareness of local services were highlighted as core skills. Existing knowledge of dementia varied significantly between case managers; although one person had no direct experience of working with people with dementia, two case managers had a specific interest in dementia and were keen to develop or utilise their skills in this new role:

Dementia's my special interest anyway; I've worked for many, many years in dementia care. I've got a diploma in dementia care as well.

Case manager

The process of recruiting case managers varied between sites; whereas the social workers had to formally apply for secondment to the role, arrangements for the practice nurses were less formal:

I was nominated and I had the right to refuse but I was nominated . . . I suppose as soon as they got a whiff of my case management experience my fate was sealed.

Case manager

Although this practice nurse had extensive case management experience (in paediatrics), she had little knowledge or experience of dementia. The feasibility of developing sufficient expertise within the time available was questioned and it was suggested that a more formal interview process, perhaps including discussion of scenarios, would be useful in ensuring that the case managers had core knowledge and skills relating to dementia:

For me one of the fundamental flaws was perhaps recruiting people into a dementia case management role where not everyone had a basic understanding around dementia.

Mentor

TABLE 26 Characteristics of case managers

Characteristic	Details
Gender	Female $n = 2$, male $n = 1$
Professional background	Practice nurses $n = 2$, social worker $n = 1$
Experience of working with people with dementia	None $n = 1$, limited experience $n = 1$, significant experience $n = 1$
Experience of case management	No experience $n = 1$, experience of care/case management $n = 2$
Experience of community-based assessments	None $n = 1$, significant experience $n = 2$
Dedicated time for case management (per practice)	One session per week $n = 2$, five sessions per week $n = 1$

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. The value of knowledge of local services was emphasised by the case managers and mentor, who saw signposting as a key part of their role:

I think families will want to know about 'what's the name of that day centre, two streets away?' but I think that will come with the practitioner's knowledge and I think that's when I would say 'well actually I've got a leaflet on [a particular] day centre, here it is' or 'I can talk about that'.

Case manager

Although the case manager with a social work background had a good knowledge of local services (and often had contacts within such services that further facilitated the process of referral and liaison), developing this knowledge was challenging for practice nurses, particularly in one setting where the practice population spanned two local authorities:

I've learnt a lot about different services and networking and I feel like there's a lot to learn still, loads and loads and loads, I still feel 'oh, I don't know who to turn to with this'.

Case manager

Professional background

Views on the relative merits of different professional backgrounds for case management varied. In addition to their knowledge of local services and their skill set, social workers were also more familiar with working independently in the community, visiting people at home and working within existing policies for activities such as out-of-hours working. Practice nurses were used to working within the GP surgery and had some concerns about home visits:

They [practice nurses] don't see themselves as doing many home visits and they are concerned about insurance cover for doing that.

Team member

Whereas the practice nurses were familiar with the primary care environment and culture, being based in primary care was a significant shift for the social worker, in terms of both the physical environment and the lack of formal structure for their work:

I suppose it's quite a unique situation where you're not tied down by statutory frameworks, I suppose what I'm conscious of is that sort of freedom, that flexibility that's quite a unique situation to be in; I don't need to see the person every 6 weeks, I don't have to make sure that I've done that document in time and I've done particular things. I suppose I've just absorbed so much organisational policy that I'm so used to and it's just putting that different hat on, that's going to be hard.

Case manager

In addition to bringing their own professional knowledge and expertise, the case managers also brought their preconceptions about other agencies to the role. The views expressed by one case manager from a social work background may have impacted on her ability to work effectively with primary care colleagues:

I think medics have a very different approach from social workers. Obviously medics are quite problem orientated there is something wrong, we shall fix that, move on. Whereas obviously adult services, social services are more looking at the wider aspects, the bigger picture, more long-term changes which is certainly the way I see the care manager's role. It's [a] more holistic approach; it's not about there's a problem, diagnose it, cure it.

Although one of the social workers argued that a social work background was essential for case management, none of the other case managers had a strong view on the relative values of different professional backgrounds.

Interpersonal skills

Developing relationships with people with dementia and their carers, and managing potentially conflicting needs, were seen as key skills for the case managers. Again, case managers with a social work background felt that their training had equipped them with the necessary interpersonal skills:

The core social work skill is in communication, it's in observing, reflecting, evaluating information, being analytical with information, being able to probe deeper into systems, into relationships and from that being able to problem solve a situation.

Case manager

She knows how to think about information, synthesise it, check it with people and so on. She's aware of a lot of the issues around things like capacity and engaging family and social networks, managing the dynamics that can emerge.

Team member

Case management in theory and practice: perspectives of case managers, the mentor and the research team

Potential and actual benefits of case management

Among the case managers and members of the research team there was strong commitment in theory to the case management approach. A range of potential benefits of case management was identified (*Box 3*). The key differences between case management and other services related to continuity of care and flexibility over input:

It would be supporting people across the whole journey, and that's what families need and that's what they ask for, and they've been asking for it repeatedly for many, many years.

Team member

Only one potential negative consequence of case management was identified and this was the risk of creating dependency and disempowering patients and carers:

certain people will hold on too long and do too much for people and with the best will in the world, the best intentions will foster dependency . . . the potential [is] there for crossing a boundary of being too close, of de-skilling people and making people dependent.

Case manager

There was a sense of frustration among the case managers and mentor that there had been insufficient time in the feasibility study to really demonstrate the potential of case management. The time available for case management had been curtailed by the considerable delay (of almost 5 months) in obtaining ethical approval for a substantial amendment relating to recruitment and slow recruitment. As a result, the case managers had had relatively little time to develop their work with patients and carers and could identify relatively few concrete benefits for participating patients and carers. Several participants had gained financially through claiming benefits or a council tax reduction, and feedback from patients and carers to the case managers had generally been positive.

I mean all I've really been able to put in has been a few sort of like basic stuff things like welfare rights checks, benefits checks, some equipment like grab rails.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

BOX 3 Perceived benefits of case management (views of case managers)

A holistic approach

you see the patient and it's for a short, predictable space of time. An allotted space of time so it will be nice to get back into people's lives rather than just what they've come to you for.

A named contact who provides continuity

sometimes having an identified person as your first port of call solves three quarters of the problems.

So it's not a case of having to go through the GP and arrange an appointment and all that rigmarole – which can be really off putting – it's quite an easy opening point of contact where you can just call up and say 'look mum or dad whoever they're exhibiting this new behaviour, they are really not settling at night – what can I do?'

People relate best having one key person wherever possible and a consistent approach. Apart from anything that way the worker will get to know the people involved and they will be best placed to know how things change.

Provision of different levels of input as needed

you've got continuity, longevity, you've got an appointed person who can hold a case ... you've got that capacity ... so the carer or the person with dementia can call you and you can be involved in small level or big level.

the range of what the case managers can do is massive. You've got everything from full-on interventions to very mild kind of therapeutic interventions to more intensive CBT [cognitive-behavioural therapy] to the signposting element.

A proactive, rather than reactive, approach

I think so many people just manage or manage enough to not be at the A&E (Accident and Emergency) all the time but I don't think that means it's a constructive experience for them and that's what's got to change and I think that's the whole point of this.

potential outcomes for the patient, the carer, the NHS and adult services – from a budget point of view is awesome, because I think potentially you will avoid so much crisis, so much early admissions to hospitals or to residential care. And deteriorations in health . . . we know for a fact if people don't get appropriate help early enough, it adds to stress, anxiety.

Support with navigating services

I mean just myself trying to navigate all the different services and financial aspects and benefits and things like that em, you know, what must it be like if you're older and feeling muddled?

I would like to think that they have become aware of the different support there whether it's the Alzheimer's Society or the carer centre or social services and they've kept the numbers and they will feel more likely and be more knowledgeable about who to contact should things change, which they will, for them and they need that support.

BOX 3 Perceived benefits of case management (views of case managers) (continued)

The opportunity for longer-term therapeutic work when needed

And I think that's what case managing is all about; it's having that therapeutic assessment, it's really getting to the nitty gritty of what's going on here we've got a family situation, the carer's stressed, why is she stressed? What is she saying? How is she saying, how is she describing her loved one? ... it's being able to have that time to say how long we can manage this? What's going on here? Have you thought about this?

they [patients and carers] all said the same thing to me anyway that it was nice to know somebody was there and they all kind of appreciated that although I wasn't there 24/7 I was still a name and they could put a face to the name as well and they weren't always expecting me to know all the answers but they knew that I would do my level best to help them find the answer to whatever that may be.

Case manager

it was such a short project I feel almost frustrated we didn't have a bit more time to get through what I think are natural initial hurdles and actually get our teeth stuck in and make a proper go of it, so that's just a sense of frustration.

Mentor

Although the primary focus was on the benefits for participating patients and carers, there were also benefits for the case managers and their practices:

I think it's just flagged me up as being a member of the team who does have the special interest, does have some skills that I can bring to the practice concerning dementia care and now that's got the ball rolling with me doing the dementia QOF and reviewing patients that way.

Case manager

Clarity over the case manager role

A key issue for case managers (and team members) concerned the lack of understanding over what case management involved and how it differed from existing services such as Admiral nursing and dementia advisors:

Well I think there's a big question about what we mean by case management. I don't think there's any kind of real clarity about what the term means.

Team member

Certainly in the early stages it didn't seem very clear at all to me what was expected or what I was supposed to be doing, or how I was supposed to go about it. And I was relying on [mentor] a lot more, I didn't really fully understand what I was doing. But, now that I'm kind of on the road as it were, I feel, yes, a bit more confident in my own skills really.

Case manager

This lack of clarity occasionally led to case managers having misconceptions about their role. For example, one case manager carried out some 'informal' assessments with carers. When asked how these 'informal' assessments differed from the more usual assessments, the case manager explained:

I mean obviously the project is designed to work with the patient as opposed to the carer, so the informal ones have been basically where the patient hasn't wanted to be involved.

Case manager

Even towards the end of the project, case managers still expressed confusion about their role. The situation may have been compounded by the interest/background in Admiral nursing among some members of the research team and the mentor. This led to some concepts from Admiral nursing being incorporated into the project and also to inappropriate comparisons of case managers with their own role and that of the mentor:

I mean I don't really still understand the role of a case manager anyway I don't feel, I feel like I'm still learning because I'm not a case manager, I feel like I'm probably just giving people advice, I don't see it as case managing as such, not like [mentor] does.

Case manager

In contrast to the other case managers, the practice nurse with previous experience of case management felt that there was 'clear guidance' about her role.

Implementing case management in practice

A range of issues concerning the practical implementation of case management was highlighted, including time constraints for case management, the timing of the intervention and identification of needs. Issues relating to the documentation of case management activities have been explored in *Chapter 6*.

Time available for case management

As already described, the practice nurses had one session a week (4 hours) available for case management; in contrast, the social worker was full-time but covered two practices (equivalent to five sessions per week per practice). Although discussions with practice managers suggested that cover had been arranged for the practice nurses, neither of the practice nurses was aware of any additional staffing. The feasibility of effectively case-managing clients in the available time was repeatedly questioned:

How was I going to case manage 11 patients in 4 hours a week?... how was I going to manage with them if they were phoning me up and it was not Monday afternoon?... and anyway I kind of grew with it and said 'well you know I won't be able to answer you straight away but I will get back to you'. Case manager

The time constraints for practice nurses were exacerbated by interruptions during the dedicated sessions:

The last time I went to see her, she was pulled out to do two practical procedures in the middle of our meeting.

Mentor

After several months, the situation was partially resolved by a member of the research team visiting one case manager each week to facilitate the process of recruitment and to discourage the frequent interruptions from colleagues:

I can't do without it. You can't do the project without it. So she's [researcher] been able to really be my bodyguard so I've had time to do things. That's been very, very helpful.

Case manager

Although the other practice nurse experienced similar problems initially, she was more successful in preserving the time allocated. By the end of the feasibility study, she was negotiating with the practice to take over responsibility for the QOF dementia register and annual dementia reviews:

Well I've suggested actually that because everybody is now used to me having Monday afternoons for dementia that we keep that as a dementia afternoon so I can focus on all my reviews and the patients within the practice who have got ongoing problems.

Case manager

For both of the practice nurses, a period of reacclimatising to CAREDEM work was needed at the beginning of each session. One potential difficulty of confining the case manager role to one afternoon per week was managing both routine follow-ups and urgent requests from patients and carers. The situation was further exacerbated by the time required for travelling to home visits for the practice nurse working in a rural area. Concerns about access to the case managers were raised by the mentor and members of the research team after experiencing difficulties in getting through to the case managers by telephone:

From a patient perspective I could perceive problems with some practices in actually accessing the case manager because of the other responsibilities they have . . . when I've tried to get hold of case managers I've thought well I could be a patient trying to get hold of them and I've left three messages, they've got clinics back to back for example, when am I going to get my call back?

Mentor

Despite these concerns, access to the case managers did not emerge as a significant problem in the interviews with patients and carers. To some extent, expectations were carefully managed by one of the case managers and, following discussions with the mentor, the case managers set aside 30 minutes at the start of their dedicated afternoon for telephone calls:

They have both allocated half an hour at the beginning of the session where they can be contacted by families who know they're there. So that's a dedicated slot and if this family have had to call someone in practice on a non-CAREDEM day, the case manager in the practice will have to use that slot to do a follow-up call.

Mentor

To some extent, the potential difficulties with access were offset by either serendipitous or planned meetings at the surgery. One carer arranged a long appointment with the case manager during one of her normal clinics at which she had the opportunity to speak at length about her difficulties in managing the patient's repetitive questions. At other times the practice nurses were able to quickly catch up with patients and carers when they attended the surgery for other reasons:

one of the ladies that's a carer, she came to see me outwith CAREDEM, she left her husband at home and came to see me in a practice nurse appointment and we were able to talk about how to sort of understand repetitive behaviours and forgetfulness and things like that.

Case manager

I've done flu jabs for some of the people . . . so there's been continuity but I haven't done any second home visits but it's been corridor catch ups which can be very, very powerful.

Case manager

To manage the time constraints, one case manager relied on telephone contact rather than face-to-face follow-up visits, but recognised that this was not always ideal:

actually quite often if I've got a carer on the phone they were clearly trying to choose their words very carefully and I would be left saying 'I can see that it's difficult for you to talk to me at the moment'. Case manager

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Timing of the intervention

It was generally agreed that the best time to offer case management was at the point of diagnosis, although there was also recognition that some patients and carers would not be ready to engage with the service at that point. One of the case managers felt that there had been limited opportunities for case management with the patients and carers participating in the study:

We've either got people who are very, very highly functioning still who are still going out on their own, who are still doing their own housework, who are still going to the pub every other night in some cases on their own. Or we've got people who are a lot more incapacitated but have ... carers going in four times a day and the sons and daughters have a very clear schedule of visiting their mum and dad. There's not so far the unmet needs which we need for people to be contacting us, which again is quite frustrating.

Case manager

For some of the clients, it was felt that the service was offered too late to be of benefit as the carers had already single-handedly negotiated services and support:

At the end of the assessment with her mum and with her, she was like ... 'this would have been a godsend two or three years ago. It's exactly what I wanted, someone like you to come out and discuss and go through stuff, have time to discuss it, tell us what help is available and just to have someone to listen to us'.

Case manager

The recruitment process was thought to have influenced the types of participants recruited. A situation in which patients and carers self-referred to the service was thought to facilitate the provision of case management:

This wouldn't be the approach we'd have in normal case management engaging with families, we may have a different referral process or people could readily access or self-refer or relatives could self-refer, and then I think you'd probably have a more realistic cohort of people who would have already engaged through actually approaching and asking to speak to the case manager and be halfway there already into identifying the needs.

Mentor

Other case managers also felt that the clients involved were generally at a fairly stable stage in the illness trajectory and only in need of 'light touch' support. However, it is not clear to what extent the apparent low needs of participating patients and carers reflected the stage in the illness trajectory or the difficulties in identifying unmet needs, described in the following section.

Identification of needs

The time constraints of two of the case managers were a key factor influencing the scope to spread the assessment over a number of visits, and concerns were expressed that this may have impacted on their ability to gain an accurate picture of patient and carer needs:

The potential for patient and carers' needs to naturally emerge over time was lost. In addition, as the main assessment took place over one visit, there was little opportunity to see either the patient or family carer on their own, which may have facilitated a more open discussion as to what the main concerns were.

Mentor

The case managers acknowledged that most of their work had consisted of one-off assessment visits, but they were less likely to perceive this as a problem than the mentor:

My second visits have not actually been at people's homes. They've been much more I've seen people or I've spoken to people [in the surgery]. I don't think I've actually been back to anyone's house again, which feels okay because I haven't had to do tasks that need me to go back to the homes. I think if I was staying on longer I probably would, as a matter of not routine but standard follow-up, because you need to see people. Actually they need to see you as well.

Case manager

Well really it's been an assessment role. I was hoping it would be a therapeutic role and I think there are certain elements of that in the assessment process but mostly it's been assessing people's needs and finding very surprisingly that there weren't really any needs there to be met, or if there were needs that they already are being met.

Case manager

Despite the apparent enthusiasm to deliver interventions to patients and carers, there was little evidence of such work in practice. This was justified in terms of the needs of the clients:

I'm dying to do a bit of CBT [cognitive-behavioural therapy] with someone ... I love the psychosocial interventions, but no-one wants or needs them at the moment.

Case manager

However, analysis of the documentation seemed to indicate scope for therapeutic work. The reasons for this mismatch are unclear. Two of the case managers emphasised the need for patients and carers to be willing to engage, but did not seem to see it as part of their role to help people to move towards the stage of accepting help:

I think they probably need rehousing, but it's privately rented. It's a big choice for them. I suppose for [one patient], who rents it, it's about his independence even though I think his independence is so compromised and challenged. But I'm sure a lot more could be done for them. But they've got to want it. They've got to be willing to be scrutinised before anything will change.

Case manager

Even when one of the case managers acknowledged that it would fall within the remit of her role to encourage openness about the diagnosis in a family in which the person with dementia had not been told the diagnosis at her husband's request, this had not followed up:

The fact that he's not willing to admit it says as much about how he's dealing with it as she potentially would. So I would think that's exactly the kind of thing a case manager would do, but of course it depends on whether or not they let you, if they're willing to take part or not. But I think that kind of thing over time when you work with someone is probably one of the key things you would do. Case manager

The fact that social workers were used to working within Fair Access to Care Services (FACS) criteria and focusing on people with substantial and critical needs may have influenced their ability to identify low level of needs when working with patients and carers. This may particularly have affected the case manager who had been working as a duty social worker, to whom calls were typically from people in crisis:

They end up coming to social services because they're reaching absolute point of crisis where they literally can't cope and end up phoning up the GP and saying 'the carer has walked out or had a nervous breakdown'.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Delivery of case management through primary care: perspectives of case managers, the mentor and the research team

Advantages and disadvantages of primary care

Views varied on whether or not primary care was the most appropriate place for case management and a range of advantages and disadvantages were identified (*Box 4*). Although the key task for the social worker was to become integrated and embedded into the primary care team, the challenge for the practice nurses was to have their new role recognised and to be given the time to do it. The importance of support from the practice to enable the practice nurses to have protected time for case management was highlighted:

They need to be fully supported by the practice and I don't see that happening. It seems to be a bit tokenistic to me. They need that dedicated time and everything to be in place to support them in their role.

Mentor

The potential difficulties for the social workers of integrating into the primary care team were recognised by members of the research team:

My experience of working with multidisciplinary teams is that's it's been really very hard for social workers to become part of the system in that way.

Team member

Embedding case management in primary care

All of the participating practices had identified a lead GP with a particular interest in dementia; however, the contact between the lead GP and case manager varied between practices. Although one lead GP held regular meetings with the case manager, in other practices contact was limited, typically to one or two meetings to discuss case management throughout the whole period of implementation:

I think people are interested but people have to have the head space to be interested and yes they know I'm doing it but it's probably not that relevant to them on a daily [basis].

Case manager

It's been challenging to be honest. I'm quite confused over the reaction from the surgeries. ... I don't know, it's whether it's a priority or whether it's been lost in the mix, or people just don't know, quite know what expectations of roles are, but they don't seem as involved as I would desire ... there doesn't really seem a huge interest in it through some quarters.

Case manager

BOX 4 Advantages and disadvantages of case management in primary care (views of the case managers, mentor and research team members)

Advantages

Normalising context

People come to the doctor for all sorts of things ... It's not like having to go to see the psychiatrist or it's not like having to go and see the Alzheimer's Society people or all those other funny words that people use, the cognitive stimulation and all that sort of stuff. People go to the doctors for all sorts of things ... I think it's the best place.

BOX 4 Advantages and disadvantages of case management in primary care (views of case managers, mentor and research team members) (*continued*)

Opportunity for ad hoc contacts

Because I see people coming in for maybe a warfarin test or a leg dressing or I can see people on other people's lists and think 'oh I haven't seen them for a little while', I can pop my head round the door and just check they're ok.

Case manager

Creation of expertise within primary care

There's something about bringing this expertise closer to people, closer to the community, closer to the coalface. And certainly for Admiral nurses who are all mental health specialist, they are all mental health nurses, we've found that actually putting mental health specialists into primary care has been very welcomed because it's expertise that doesn't exist within primary care.

Team member

Potential for early involvement

Case finding absolutely has to happen there [primary care] because that's where the journey starts ... a lot of people never get to secondary mental health services, they never get as far as the memory clinic.

Disadvantages

Conflicting roles (for practice nurses)

Our hypothesis was actually having somebody who was part of the practice team would be really best placed to kind of do this work but in reality what seems to have emerged is a picture whereby the immediacy, the immediate issues of a GP practice, and working in a GP practice always takes precedence to some of this other work, and maybe that's de-railed it.

Team member

Space limitations

At [practice 2] I stopped booking rooms there because it was inappropriate, they have a limited amount of rooms, I had to book rooms which was taking rooms away from other people just to be you know just to be sitting there with not a great deal to do in the surgery.

Case manager

Culture clash

The surgery is set up for everybody to have 10- to 15-minute appointments with however many people you can cram into your day, it's not about sitting and reflecting and analysing and spending a lot of time on a person and within that person a particular problem for that particular person or the dynamic of whatever; it's not how a GP's surgery functions.

One case manager was proactive in taking on the dementia reviews and thereby created a continuing specialist role within the practice. However, there was little evidence that either of the other case managers thought strategically about their role or sought to create structures to support their activities within the practice:

I would imagine if the role became a permanent one, case managers and the GPs would have regular meetings and they would go through the lists, and discuss people, not just reliant on the QOF but a much more robust examination of who's on the books, as it were. And you know targeting people that way.

Case manager

Although this would have been a useful way of increasing the case manager's profile within the practice, there was no attempt to arrange any such meetings or to become involved in existing meetings within the practice that might have been relevant. The lack of involvement of other members of the primary care team became clear towards the end of the project when we asked case managers to suggest colleagues whom we could interview about their perspectives on case management:

Regarding the interviews – I'm not sure who to suggest really. I doubt if anyone here at the surgery would have any inkling of how the case management I have done will have impacted (or not) on the practice as a whole.

E-mail from case manager

Supervision and support of case managers

Developing case management skills

Each case manager received an induction session, lasting between 90 minutes and 3 hours, to orient them to the project, clarify their role and enable them to complete and discuss an educational needs assessment form. The variation in time was, in part, because of the different needs of the case managers and, in part, because of the time available, highlighting some of the difficulties encountered in preserving the nurse case managers' dedicated time in practices. The induction was supplemented by individual meetings with the mentor, the provision of the CAREDEM manual (developed in WP1; see *Chapter 2*), additional tailored materials provided by the mentor and self-directed learning. The educational needs assessment enabled the mentor to provide individualised training and support to each case manager:

What it [educational needs assessment] did do for me, is where there was an identified need it helped frame how I would support or ensure that need was met for that case manager either through training that I would deliver or direct them to access that training elsewhere but it was a document where we had written and agreed before we left about what the needs were and what we would do next, so I found that helpful.

Mentor

The educational needs assessment tool developed in WP1 focused on dementia-specific knowledge; one result of this may have been that there was less emphasis on assessing and developing the other skills outlined earlier:

[The] needs assessment's built around the trajectory of dementia, loosely speaking, so it starts with working with the person who has recently acquired or is just about to acquire the diagnosis and coping with the confusion that arises then and the other types of psychological responses you can encounter, managing that and then working through crisis in the support system, admission to hospitals and having some hospital in-reach function, advocating for the patient in the hospital. Relocation to a nursing home and the issues that arise there and end of life care so those are the five components of the needs assessment tool and we go through them.

Team member
Some reservations were expressed about self-identification of needs. There was a potential for training needs to be missed if the case manager was either unaware of her training needs or was reluctant to voice them at the induction meeting, which took place at an early stage in the project. Although in the current project the induction sessions were individual, this was not seen as viable for a larger project. Views varied on whether case managers would be more or less willing to voice their training needs in a group session. A more rigorous interview process was suggested as an alternative way of assessing the extent to which the case managers possessed the required skill set:

You're very reliant on the openness of the case manager and I'm not sure how you would assess for that; my own feelings are that some of those things could be assessed at interview.

Mentor

Interestingly, the documentation provided (the CAREDEM manual and supplementary materials) seemed to be valued most by those case managers with an existing interest in dementia; in particular, some of the assessment tools and information provided by the mentor were seen as potentially useful:

[They] are going to be very useful in the future, so I'm going to get a lot out of it, lots of assessment tools and things like that . . . I'll be able to see myself using these in the future, I'm very pleased with that.

Case manager

I've used a document that [mentor] gave me which is a summary, like a leaflet/pamphlet that she has produced, and there are just some really good ways of talking about dementia, that are accessible to older people.

Case manager

The leaflets for patients and carers produced as part of WP1 were seen as a useful resource for the case managers, particularly when they first started out in the role, but were rarely given to patients or carers. This seemed to be because they were not currently perceived to be relevant to the patients and carers recruited.

Although the intention was to provide on-the-job training, opportunities for training were limited by the time restrictions of the mentor and practice nurses. It was suggested that more time should be made available at the beginning to ensure that case managers had the basic skills:

I discussed some more front-loading of support and induction because all they've had is a couple of hours on MCA [Mental Capacity Act 2005] as part of the provision of the assessment.

Mentor

Support networks of case managers

The existing line management arrangements for all of the case managers continued throughout the study. In addition, a mentor was available to provide training and support with case management. It was clear that case managers also derived support from other sources:

I've got obviously support from yourselves, support from [mentor] and there's (lead GP) if I need to speak to her and there's that network of other case managers on e-mail . . . and I've also got my adult services' supervision as well so there's lots of different kinds of support that I can access which is good.

Case manager

Chapter 8 Conclusions and future work

D id the case manager role, as developed in WP1, fit within the routine processes of care of the four practices recruited to the pilot study? One way to answer that question is to compare the quantitative and qualitative findings of WP2 with the desirable characteristics of a diffusible innovation shown in *Table 1*:

- *Compatibility*. Case management did appear to be compatible with the values, norms and perceived needs of the practices, the case managers and the recipients of case management, although the compatibility was perhaps more evident at the conceptual level than at the practical level.
- Complexity/ease of use. The degree to which an innovation is expected to be free of effort influences its uptake and diffusion. The case management role was not seen as complex and difficult by all case managers, one of whom had previous experience of it with a different patient group; nonetheless, the other case managers experienced some lack of clarity about case management and concern was expressed about potential duplication of existing roles. The case managers' difficulties also arose from time constraints and unfamiliarity with dementia as well as from the demands of the research process. Although the perceived complexity of an innovation can be reduced by practical experience and demonstration, it was not clear that this occurred within the time frame of the pilot study.
- *Relative advantage*. The evidence from the pilot study does not suggest a clear, unambiguous advantage of case management in terms of effectiveness for patients.
- Trialability. Innovations that can be experimented with by intended users on a limited basis will be
 more easily adopted and implemented. The pilot study provided a 'trialability space' for the idea of
 case management for people with dementia in primary care, but the findings from interviews and the
 case manager group discussion suggest that the role as conceived and constructed was difficult
 to implement.
- Observability/result demonstrability. Positive patient and carer feedback, and the equally positive
 response from a PPI panel at the end of the project, may reflect the perceived value of the case
 manager role, but the low level of activity with dyads makes it difficult to be certain about
 observable gains.
- Reinvention. Adoption and implementation of an innovation are increased if the potential adopter can adapt, refine or otherwise modify the innovation to suit his or her own needs. Flexibility was built into the case management role, which was tailored to discipline (nurses, social worker), practice and individual, and one of the mentor's functions was to support that tailoring. However, such flexibility interferes with the research function, which needs to standardise measures and processes as much as possible – hence, the difficulties with modifying inclusion and exclusion criteria and incomplete research documentation.
- Image and visibility. We have no evidence that the case manager role added to the user's social approval (other than patient and carer feedback) or enhanced the practices' standing within their clinical communities.
- 'Voluntariness'. The degree to which the adoption of the case manager role was controlled by the
 potential user's free will varied between settings. Senior staff in practices made decisions about
 participation, encouraging their staff to take up the case manager role, but did not necessarily support
 them in the new role.

Implications for further research and development

From a theoretical perspective, the concept of case management potentially affords considerable benefit to patients, their carers and community-based professionals to improve the quality of dementia care through continuity of care with a named, trusted individual and the ability to provide proactive care to prevent a crisis. However, the findings of the feasibility study suggest that the actual need for this way of working in this population needs to be established. If the need is substantial then a number of changes are needed to

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

the model of case management implemented in this pilot study before these potential benefits could be achieved in practice. These changes are discussed in the following sections.

Clarifying the purpose of case management

The uncertainty expressed by professionals, people with dementia, carers and case managers themselves indicates the need for a clear definition of the theoretical concept of case management and hence the case manager role, as suggested by our review.²⁴ This study provides empirical evidence about the limitations of implementing a case management approach in primary care for people with dementia, which can inform the theoretical debate that is needed. One aspect of this debate might involve establishing the boundaries between a practice-based case manager and existing professional roles within the NHS, for example Admiral nurses and social services care managers.

Revisiting which skills and attributes are required for case management

Specific experience of working with people with dementia and with local service and support networks, and understanding how dementia impacts both patients and their families is essential. In addition, good interpersonal skills and the ability to work holistically, proactively seeking out 'day-to-day' issues that may become tomorrow's crisis, are required. For practice staff seconded to the case management role, time management skills were required to balance competing demands and protect time for delivering the intervention. Professional background is less important than the above skills and a positive attitude and enthusiasm to work with patients and families living with dementia. Practice nursing experience may facilitate links with GPs but social workers have experience of independent working in the community. The feasibility study highlighted the need for robust line management arrangements, peer support and supervision for case managers, especially in the early stages of implementation.

Embedding delivery of case management

Primary care is the preferred environment for implementation and contact with patients; this was thought to 'normalise' case management and provide opportunities for ad hoc proactive care. The primary care QOF dementia annual review provides further opportunities for case manager contact with those with dementia and their carers along the disease trajectory if, for example, patients or their families are not ready to engage at the time of diagnosis. However, for primary care-based case management to succeed, the practice must be supportive of the case manager role and allow protected time from other conflicting duties. When case managers work part-time, flexible arrangements are needed to enable a timely response if patients or carers need assistance outside the formally agreed hours.

Even when existing practice staff took on the role of case management, time and effort were required to 'embed' the case manager within the practice team and local mental health services. Attendance at joint meetings (e.g. district nurse meetings in primary care and CMHT meetings) was seen as a possible way of embedding case management in practice. Recording case management activities in primary care notes was seen as essential to ensure that colleagues were aware that the case manager was involved and to build links within the practice. An alternative model of case management (suitable for smaller practices) would be to have one case manager covering a number of practices. The most appropriate alternative site proposed for case management was within secondary care memory clinics as this would ensure that the service was available at diagnosis. Regardless of location, the ability to visit patients and family carers at home was seen as essential to facilitate detailed assessment of patients and their environment.

Establishing when case management is likely to have maximum effect

The timing of the introduction of case management may matter. If case management were available from the point of diagnosis, it might help establish a relationship and let people with dementia and their carers know that they have a named contact for future support; this is similar to the current primary care management of newly diagnosed cancer patients. Although patients and carers valued the idea of a 'safety net', it was clear that they would not necessarily seek help; this was partly because of an unwillingness to make demands on busy professionals but also reflected their lack of knowledge of the range of support available. Regular informal contact between case managers and patients and carers,

case manager led but negotiated with clients, is required to facilitate identification of areas of low-level need and allow proactive intervention to prevent future crises and/or reduce family stress. It is difficult to make recommendations about the time required for case management given the low rates of contact and intervention observed in the present study. It was clear that one session a week was not sufficient to deliver anything beyond signposting and brief follow-up telephone calls. Within the context of future research trials, adequate time needs to be allowed for research-related tasks, training, supervision and completion of any study-specific documentation.

Key issues for any future trial of case management

The findings of this feasibility study suggest that the model of case management developed in the CAREDEM study is not suitable for testing in a randomised controlled trial within the NHS as currently organised. Different approaches to recruiting GP practices, training and employing case managers and identifying people with dementia who might benefit from case management are needed. We encountered particular difficulties in recruitment and follow-up of people with dementia and their families and with applying case management methods.

Recruitment and follow-up

A complex, co-designed induction and training programme on case management for primary care workers can be embedded in practice, but the amount of time needed to fulfil the role is greater than we anticipated and the rate of case identification is slow. Delays in recruitment partly reflected the need to balance case finding with case management tasks and partly reflected the inconsistent recording of dementia diagnoses in electronic medical records in general practice. In some sites the recruitment of practices willing to take part in this study was more challenging than we anticipated; this experience alone suggests that a full-scale trial (initially anticipated as involving 56 practices) would be time-consuming and expensive to carry out, at least using the model of case management that we have evaluated. The recruitment target of 11 patients per practice was nearly achieved in two of the four participating practices and one practice would probably have achieved the target had the nurse case manager had more time available each week. Overall, we recruited 28 of the planned 44 dyads, a recruitment rate of 64%.

The inclusion criteria tested in this project were narrow. Our original assumptions about those attending specialist clinics or living in care homes not needing case management were generous; these two patient groups could be included among those invited to take up primary care-based case management in future studies although the case management intervention may need modification. Recruitment periods would need to be extended to > 6 months to reach the targets proposed in the original study protocol.

Follow-up rates were good. In total, 24 out of 29 patients (83%) were successfully followed up at 5 months (either by providing data or indicating a willingness to provide data), which was consistent with the retention target of nine out of 11 (82%). The response to the evaluation of the intervention, and to the idea of case management, was largely positive among people with dementia and their carers. However, the actual collection of data was variable. For example, the NPI outcome at 5 months was missing for 13 out of 29 (55%) overall but for only four out of 14 (29%) in the north-east. Likewise, follow-up data collection for secondary outcomes ranged between 50% and 59%.

Case management intervention

Only one of the four practices achieved a level of case management activity that might have had an impact on outcomes, with nine dyads recruited (and recruitment stopped to concentrate on follow-up work). There was an average of five contacts per dyad (compared with contact rates of less than two in the other practices) although most of these contacts were by telephone. In this practice the nurse acting as the case manager had a background in care work with people with dementia, but no previous experience of case management methods.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

There was evidence that the threshold for identification of unmet needs was high, that identification of unmet needs did not necessarily lead to action and that data capture for research purposes was burdensome to the case managers, who had not had previous experience of research.

Conclusions and recommendations

In conclusion, the key lessons learned from the feasibility study to be taken forward in any future trial of implementation of case management for people with dementia are summarised below:

- The case managers in the present study had little research experience and found tasks relating to recruitment and recording their case management activities onerous. In any future trial we suggest that the research team provides a brief introduction to research, and the individual research study, for those responsible for delivering interventions, to enhance their understanding of the rationale behind research tasks such as data capture.
- 2. It may be that case management for people with dementia is unlikely to work without substantially more time being allocated to it (as in the Netherlands and Finland) by dedicated practitioners who have had more training than we could provide in the pilot study. The overall experience of NHS case management (not for people with dementia necessarily) is not positive and so this type of intervention would still need to be tested in a randomised controlled trial.
- 3. Dementia syndrome may be too narrow a clinical problem for case management in primary care; frailty might be a broader and potentially more tractable clinical target.
- 4. Allowing time for research team members to develop an understanding of the context and day-to-day routines of those delivering the intervention (e.g. by shadowing professionals) is also recommended. This would help the research team to gain insight into the realities of the work of staff delivering the intervention, which is particularly important when this is combined with an existing role. This could lead to further simplification of the research data capture methods. Developing clear lines of communication and co-ordination of research activities would ensure that professionals are not overwhelmed by requests. Regular opportunities for links and communication between those delivering the intervention and the research team would also help to build mutual understanding.
- 5. To specifically facilitate the process of recruitment in future research studies it is essential to ensure either that practice staff responsible for recruitment have a good understanding of the inclusion/ exclusion criteria or that they devolve recruitment to research network staff or the research team. When practice staff are tasked with recruiting patients, we suggest that all exclusions are reviewed by the research team to ensure that the criteria have been appropriately used.
- 6. It was clear that the current dementia registers do not provide a comprehensive list of patients with dementia in general practice. Multiple strategies for identifying patients with dementia, for example informal discussions with primary care staff and systematic searches of electronic patient records for specific dementia-related drugs and terms that may be used as synonyms for dementia (e.g. 'memory problems', 'cognitive impairment'), could be used to ensure that dementia registers are up-to-date before recruitment.
- 7. Family carers were not systematically recorded in primary care records. Again, a range of strategies may be required to identify family members, for example searching on address (for co-resident carers), reviewing recent consultations for mention of family members and informal discussions with primary care staff may be helpful.
- 8. In the present study, case management was offered only to patients with informal carers approximately one-third of people with dementia in the UK live alone in their own homes;⁶ offering the service to patients who do not have family carers or informal support networks may ensure that the service reaches those in greatest need.

- 9. Consideration should be given to ways of increasing the image and visibility of any future case management study and of making any benefits from case management widely known. Practices (and other local services) need to be included in discussions about the implementation of case management, to maintain the profile of the intervention. This could extend as far as having a formal, written contract with participating organisations to clarify expectations and roles.
- 10. There may be advantages in working with Clinical Commissioning Groups to incorporate case management into a locally or directly enhanced service (L/DES) so that practices are reimbursed for the extra workload. Similarly, case management innovations could be incorporated into integrated care initiatives.
- 11. Developing a system for recording intervention-related activity that was acceptable to the case managers, facilitating the process of case management and providing sufficient detail for the research team to be able to adequately describe the intervention proved challenging. Possible strategies for improving record-keeping in future studies include:
 - making time to co-design the research paperwork to ensure that it meets the needs of the research team and also the practitioners, and deliberately involving inexperienced researchers in this process to reduce later risks of poor data capture
 - ensuring adequate time for initial and ongoing training
 - implementing robust systems for ongoing monitoring and review of documentation (which informs additional training needs)
 - providing early interim analyses of completed documentation to illustrate how the information will be used (and the consequences of inadequate documentation).

Further thoughts on methodological problems and their solutions can be found in Appendix 8.

Our findings and arguments need to be considered in the light of the limitations of the study's methods. The interviews with case managers, the mentor and team members were, in general, based on first-hand experience of case management (or an aspect of case management of which the respondent had specific knowledge). In contrast, the limited case management provided and the lack of visibility of case management to colleagues both within and outside the primary health care team meant that other stakeholders had limited practical knowledge of case management. Patients and carers were able to describe their experiences of assessment and any subsequent contacts with the case manager. However, many of their comments on the value of case management relate to hypothetical or potential benefits of this approach rather than personal experiences. Health and social care professionals, even those within participating practices, also reported a lack of contact with case managers and limited knowledge of their work. The data therefore are skewed towards views of case management in the abstract, rather than being based on practical experience of this approach.

In conclusion, although the feasibility study demonstrated that the concept of case management was valued by patients, family carers and professionals, there were significant difficulties in delivering the case management intervention. A range of factors influencing implementation was identified, which need to be addressed in any future trial of case management for people with dementia.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Acknowledgements

This study was funded by the National Institute for Health Research Health Technology Assessment (HTA) programme (08/53/99) and we are grateful for the support given by HTA programme staff.

We thank all the members of the WP1 development group in East Kent who gave their time and expertise in the development of the case manager role, practices and materials, and the members of the review and PPI groups who critiqued the work carried out in this work package.

We are grateful to the case managers for their efforts, to the general practices that took part in the feasibility study and to the people with dementia and their carers who participated in WP2.

The CAREDEM study benefited from the advice of its trial steering committee and its data management committee. The trial steering committee members were Professor Bob Woods (chair), Dr Zuzana Walker, Dr David Smithard and Ken and Janet Clasper (PPI representatives). The data management committee members were Professor James Lindesay (chair), Professor Murna Downs and Dr Mona Kanaan.

Contributions of authors

The CAREDEM research team was drawn from seven academic institutions and one charity.

University College London

Steve lliffe led the funding application, was co-chief investigator and finalised this report.

Amy Waugh and **Allana Austin** were research assistants working with the London and Norfolk practices respectively. **Amy Waugh** drafted *Chapters 1–3* of this report

Cornelius Katona was a co-applicant, chaired the study management committee and contributed to this report.

Gill Livingston was a co-applicant and site principal investigator for London and contributed to this report.

University of Newcastle

Louise Robinson led the funding application, was co-chief investigator and site principal investigator for the north-east and contributed to this report.

Katie Brittain was a co-applicant and was responsible for the qualitative research (with support from John Bond) and contributed to this report.

Claire Bamford and **Marie Poole** were a senior research associate and research associate, respectively, working with the north-east practices, and were also responsible for carrying out the qualitative research. They drafted *Chapters 5–7* of this report.

Nick Steen was a co-applicant and the study statistician and drafted *Chapter 4* of this report.

Elaine McColl and Chris Speed of the Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit advised on study design.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Vanessa Hogan of the Newcastle Clinical Trials Unit administered the study and contributed to this report.

Dementia UK

Barbara Stephens was a co-applicant, worked on WP1 and contributed to this report.

Pat Brown was the mentor for the case managers in WP2.

University of East Anglia

Chris Fox was a co-applicant and site principal investigator for Norfolk and contributed to this report.

King's College London

Jill Manthorpe was a co-applicant, helped co-ordinate WP1 and PPI involvement and contributed to this report.

Keele University

Carolyn Chew-Graham was a co-applicant and the study's expert on care co-ordination and contributed to this report.

University of Kent

Simon Coulton was a co-applicant and advisor on service modelling for the intended full trial.

London School of Economics and Political Science

Martin Knapp was a co-applicant and advised the study on economic evaluation methods.

Publication

Koch T, lliffe S, Manthorpe J, Stephens B, Fox C, Robinson L, *et al.* (2012) The potential of case management for people with dementia: a commentary. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2012:**27**:1305–14.

References

- 1. Department of Health. *Prime Minister's Challenge on Dementia Delivering Major Improvements in Dementia Care and Research by 2015.* London: Department of Health; 2012.
- 2. Department of Health. *NHS R&D Strategic Review: Ageing and Age-Associated Disease and Disability*. Report of Topic Working Group. London: Department of Health; 1999.
- 3. Department of Health. *National Service Framework for Older People*. London: Department of Health; 2001.
- 4. Department of Health. Our Health, Our Care, Our Say: a New Direction for Community Services. London: Department of Health; 2006.
- 5. Knapp M, Prince M, Albanese E, Banerjee S, Dhanasiri S, Fernandez JL, *et al. Dementia UK*. London: Alzheimer's Society; 2007.
- 6. Alzheimer's Society. Dementia 2012: a National Challenge. London: Alzheimer's Society; 2012.
- Smith T, Hameed Y, Cross J, Sahota O, Fox C. Assessment of people following hip fracture with cognitive impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr* 2013;57:117–26. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2013.04.009
- 8. Francis R. *Report of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry*. London: The Stationery Office; 2013.
- 9. Department of Health. *The Operating Framework for the NHS in England 2012/13*. London: Department of Health; 2011.
- 10. National Audit Office. *Improving Services and Support for People with Dementia*. London: National Audit Office; 2007.
- Downs M, Turner S, Bryans M, Wilcock J, Keady J, Levin E, *et al.* Effectiveness of educational interventions in improving detection and management of dementia in primary care: cluster randomised controlled study. *BMJ* 2006;**332**:692–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.332.7543.692
- 12. NHS Commissioning Board. *Facilitating Timely Diagnosis and Support for People with Dementia*. London: NHS England; 2013. URL: www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/ ess-dementia.pdf (accessed 30 June 2014).
- 13. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, Social Care Institute for Excellence. *Dementia:* Supporting People with Dementia and their Carers in Health and Social Care. London: NICE; 2006.
- 14. House of Commons Committee of Public Accounts. *Improving Services and Support for People with Dementia: Sixth Report of Session 2007–2008*. London: The Stationery Office; 2008.
- Richards DA, Lankshear AJ, Fletcher J, Rogers A, Barkham M, Bower P, et al. Developing a UK protocol for collaborative care: a qualitative study. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2006;28:296–305. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2006.03.005
- Bower P, Gilbody S, Richards D, Fletcher J, Sutton A. Collaborative care for depression in primary care – making sense of a complex intervention: systematic review and meta-regression. *Br J Psychiatry* 2006;**189**:484–93. http://dx.doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.106.023655
- 17. Gunn J, Diggens J, Hegarty K, Blashki G. A systematic review of complex system interventions designed to increase recovery from depression in primary care. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2006;**6**:88. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-6-88

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- Katon W, Von Korff M, Lin E, Walker E, Simon GE, Bush T, et al. Collaborative management to achieve treatment guidelines. Impact on depression in primary care. JAMA 1995;273:1026–31. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.1995.03520370068039
- Unutzer J, Katon W, Callahan CM, Williams JW, Hunkeler E, Harpole L, et al. Collaborative care management of late-life depression in the primary care setting – a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2002;288:2836–45. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.288.22.2836
- Hunkeler EM, Meresman JF, Hargreaves WA, Fireman B, Berman WH, Kirsch AJ, et al. Efficacy of nurse telehealth care and peer support in augmenting treatment of depression in primary care. Arch Fam Med 2000;9:700–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/archfami.9.8.700
- Mann AH, Blizard R, Murray J, Smith JA, Botega N, MacDonald E, et al. An evaluation of practice nurses working with general practitioners to treat people with depression. Br J Gen Pract 1998;48:875–9.
- 22. Chew-Graham CA, Lovell K, Roberts C, Baldwin R, Morley M, Burns A, *et al.* A randomised controlled trial to test the feasibility of a collaborative care model for the management of depression in older people. *Br J Gen Pract* 2007;**57**:364–70.
- Christensen H, Griffiths KM, Gulliver A, Clack D, Kljakovic M, Wells L. Models in the delivery of depression care: a systematic review of randomised and controlled intervention trials. BMC Fam Pract 2008;9:25. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-9-25
- Koch T, Iliffe S, Manthorpe J, Stephens B, Fox C, Robinson L, *et al.* The potential of case management for people with dementia: a commentary. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2012;**27**:1305–14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/gps.3783
- 25. Goodman C, Drennan V, Davies S, Massey H, Gage H, Scott C, *et al. Nurses as Case Managers in Primary Care: the Contribution to Chronic Disease Management*. SDO project 08/1605/122. Southampton: NIHR; 2010.
- Minkman MMN, Ligthart SA, Huijsman R. Integrated dementia care in the Netherlands: a multiple case study of case management programmes. *Health Soc Care Community* 2009;**17**:485–94. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2524.2009.00850.x
- Verkade PJ, van Meijel B, Brink C, van Os-Medendorp H, Koekkoek B, Francke AL. Delphi research exploring essential components and preconditions for case management in people with dementia. *BMC Geriatr* 2010;**10**:54. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-10-54
- Connor K, McNeese-Smith D, van Servellen G, Chang B, Lee M, Cheng E, et al. Insight into dementia care management using social-behavioral theory and mixed methods. *Nurs Res* 2009;58:348–58. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/NNR.0b013e3181b49910
- Vickrey BG, Mittman BS, Connor KI, Pearson ML, Della Penna RD, Ganiats TG, et al. The effect of a disease management intervention on quality and outcomes of dementia care – a randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 2006;145:713–26. http://dx.doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-145-10-200611210-00004
- Callahan CM, Boustani MA, Unverzagt FW, Austrom MG, Damush TM, Perkins AJ, et al. Effectiveness of collaborative care for older adults with Alzheimer disease in primary care – a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2006;295:2148–57. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/ jama.295.18.2148
- 31. Clark PA, Bass DM, Looman WJ, McCarthy CA, Eckert S. Outcomes for patients with dementia from the Cleveland Alzheimer's Managed Care Demonstration. *Aging Ment Health* 2004;**8**:40–51. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13607860310001613329

- Fortinsky RH, Kulldorff M, Kleppinger A, Kenyon-Pesce L. Dementia care consultation for family caregivers: collaborative model linking an Alzheimer's association chapter with primary care physicians. *Aging Ment Health* 2009;**13**:162–70. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13607860902746160
- Smith SC, Lamping DL, Banerjee S, Harwood RH, Foley B, Smith P, et al. Development of a new measure of health-related quality of life for people with dementia: DEMQOL. *Psychol Med* 2007;**37**:737–46. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0033291706009469
- 34. Pinquart M, Sorensen S. Helping caregivers of persons with dementia: which interventions work and how large are their effects? *Int Psychogeriatr* 2006;**18**:577–95. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1017/S1041610206003462
- Specht J, Bossen A, Hall GR, Zimmerman B, Russell J. The effects of a dementia nurse care manager on improving caregiver outcomes. *Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Dementia* 2009;**24**:193–207. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1533317508330466
- 36. Spijker A, Vernooij-Dassen M, Vasse E, Adang E, Wollersheim H, Grol R, *et al.* Effectiveness of nonpharmacological interventions in delaying the institutionalization of patients with dementia: a meta-analysis. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2008;**56**:1116–28. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.01705.x
- 37. Newcomer R, Spitalny M, Fox P, Yordi C. Effects of the Medicare Alzheimer's disease demonstration on the use of community-based services. *Health Serv Res* 1999;**34**:645–67.
- Miranda-Castillo C, Woods B, Galboda K, Oomman S, Olojugba C, Orrell M. Unmet needs, quality of life and support networks of people with dementia living at home. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 2010;8:132. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-8-132
- 39. van der Roest HG, Meiland FJM, Comijs HC, Derksen E, Jansen APD, van Hout HPJ, *et al.* What do community-dwelling people with dementia need? A survey of those who are known to care and welfare services. *Int Psychogeriatr* 2009;**21**:949–65. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/ S1041610209990147
- Mittelman MS, Haley WE, Clay OJ, Roth DL. Improving caregiver well-being delays nursing home placement of patients with Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 2006;67:1592–9. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1212/01.wnl.0000242727.81172.91
- 41. Challis D, von Abendorff R, Brown P, Chesterman J, Hughes J. Care management, dementia care and specialist mental health services: an evaluation. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2002;**17**:315–25. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/gps.595
- 42. Lam LC, Lee JS, Chung JC, Lau A, Woo J, Kwok TC. A randomized controlled trial to examine the effectiveness of case management model for community dwelling older persons with mild dementia in Hong Kong. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2010;**25**:395–402. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/gps.2352
- 43. Duru OK, Ettner SL, Vassar SD, Chodosh J, Vickrey BG. Cost evaluation of a coordinated care management intervention for dementia. *Am J Manag Care* 2009;**15**:521–8.
- 44. Pimouguet C, Lavaud T, Dartigues JF, Helmer C. Dementia case management effectiveness on health care costs and resource utilization: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *J Nutr Health Aging* 2010;**14**:669–76. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12603-010-0314-4
- 45. Chien WT, Lee YM. A disease management program for families of persons in Hong Kong with dementia. *Psychiatr Serv* 2008;**59**:433–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.59.4.433
- 46. Alzheimer's Disease International. *World Alzheimer Report 2011: The Benefits of Early Diagnosis and Intervention*. London: Alzheimer's Disease International; 2011.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- Department of Health. Report on the Review of Patient-Identifiable Information. URL: http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/ Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4068403 (accessed 20 June 2014).
- 48. Great Britain. Data Protection Act 1988. London: The Stationery Office; 1988.
- 49. Berwick D. Disseminating innovations in health care. JAMA 2003;289:1969–75. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1001/jama.289.15.1969
- 50. Miller WL, McDaniel RR Jr, Crabtree BF, Stange KC. Practice Jazz: understanding variation in family practices using complexity science. *J Fam Pract* 2001;**50**:872–80.
- 51. Moore GC, Benbasat I. Development of an instrument to measure the perception of adopting an information technology innovation. *Inform Syst Res* 1991;**2**:172–91. http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/isre.2.3.192
- 52. Rogers EM. Diffusion of Innovation, 5th edn. New York, NY: New York Free Press; 2003.
- 53. Waugh A, Austin A, Manthorpe J, Fox C, Stephens B, Robinson AL, Iliffe S. Designing a complex intervention for dementia case management in primary care. *BMC Fam Pract* 2013;**14**:101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-14-101
- 54. Kaulio MA. Customer, consumer and user involvement in product development: a framework and a review of selected methods. *Total Qual Manag* 1998;**9**:141–9. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1080/0954412989333
- 55. Grant J. Learning needs assessment: assessing the need. BMJ 2002;**324**:156–9. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1136/bmj.324.7330.156
- 56. Kochevar L, Yano E. Understanding health care organisations needs: beyond performance gaps. *J Gen Intern Med* 2006;**21**:S25–9.
- 57. Cohen D, McDaniel R, Crabtree B, Ruhe M, Weyer S, Tallia A, et al. A practice change model for quality improvement in primary care practice. J Healthcare Manag 2004;49:155–68.
- 58. Kahn WA. *Holding Fast: the Struggle to Create Resilient Caregiving Organisations*. New York, NY: Brunner-Routledge; 2005. http://dx.doi.org/10.4324/9780203324066
- 59. Cummings JL, Mega M, Grey K, Rosenberg-Thomas S, Carusi DA. The Neuropsychiatric Inventory: a comprehensive assessment of psychopathology in dementia. *Neurology* 1994;**44**:2308–14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1212/WNL.44.12.2308
- Byrne LM, Wilson PM, Bucks RS, Hughes AO, Wilcock GK. The sensitivity to change over time of the Bristol Activities of Daily Living in Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Geriatr Pscyhiatry* 2000;**15**:656–61. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/1099-1166(200007)15:7<656::AID-GPS163>3.0.CO;2-Q
- 61. Goldberg D. Manual of the General Health Questionnaire. Windsor: NEFR-Nelson; 1978.
- 62. Beecham J, Knapp M. Costing psychiatric interventions. In Thornicroft G, editor. *Measuring Mental Health Needs*. London: Gaskell; 2001. pp. 200–24.
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. The 'mini-mental state': a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatric Res 1975;12:189–98. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- 64. Logsdon RG, Gibbons LE, McCurry SM, Teri L. Assessing quality of life in older adults with cognitive impairment. *Psychosom Med* 2002;**64**:510–19. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/00006842-200205000-00016

- 65. Barry TL, Kaiser KL, Atwood JR. Reliability, validity, and scoring of the Health Status Questionnaire-12 version 2.0. *J Nurs Meas* 2007;**15**:24–35. http://dx.doi.org/10.1891/106137407780851778
- Cane J, O'Connor D, Michie S. Validation of the theoretical domains framework for use in behaviour change and implementation research. *Implement Sci* 2012;**7**:37. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1186/1748-5908-7-37

Appendix 1 Case manager job description

Case management is the provision of co-ordinated health and social care by a single health or social care professional.

The CAREDEM study is a randomised controlled trial of case managment for people with dementia and their carers, conducted in primary care.

Case managers in the CAREDEM trial will be employed by NHS organisations and will work under the supervision of a GP or other clinical lead and a NHS line manager.

The case manager in the CAREDEM trial will undertake the following tasks:

- 1. Identify people with dementia from general practice lists.
- 2. Review medical records of people with dementia ± their carers, noting any gaps in the record and also the involvement of other possible sources of support.
- Liaise with other professionals who know the people with dementia to learn their perspectives on individual or family needs.
- 4. Engage with the people with dementia \pm their carers to identify their main concerns or unmet needs.
- 5. Update or fill in gaps in GP medical records and when appropriate update social care records.
- 6. Analyse information obtained from the people with dementia and their carers.
- 7. Map support available to and wanted by people with dementia and their carers. Create a personal care or support plan with each person with dementia and his or her carer and initiate actions that will provide that support [e.g. help with seeking advice about benefits, liaising with the GP about treatment of other conditions and discussion of plans around finance, health and welfare decisions (details inserted here to limit the scope for interpretation of the job by those doing it).
- 8. Analyse information obtained by other relevant practitioners (e.g. GP, social worker, care home key worker).
- 9. Prioritise individual people with dementia and their carers: assess need for action in terms of 'intensive', 'maintenance' and 'holding' (for those already being case managed by other agencies).
- 10. Build the care plan into the GP medical records and share it with other disciplines and agencies as needed.
- 11. Organise systematic follow-up to review the outcomes of actions taken, meet regularly with the GP or other relevant clinical leads and act as an advocate for the people with dementia and their carers.
- 12. Meet regularly with his/her mentor to discuss the people with dementia and their carers with whom they are working, review prioritisation, resolve any problems that have arisen and plan the end of their role with the people with dementia and their carers, as appropriate.
- 13. Undertake professional updating and top-up training, as needed.
- 14. Meet with and communicate with members of the research team to discuss the case manager role as it develops.

Appendix 2 Case manager person specification

 $\mathsf{A}_\mathsf{pplicants}$ for the case manager roles in CAREDEM should have the following attributes and skills.

Attribute/skill	Desirable (D) or essential (E)	Assessed by
Already working in local NHS or adult services	D (could be a returner, etc.)	CV
Hold a relevant qualification for their discipline	E	CV
Basic IT skills, knowledge of local IT systems and experience in recording information electronically	E	CV and reference
Interpretation of medical and nursing records	E	CV, interview and reference
Knowledge of local dementia and older people's and carers' services	D	CV and interview
Communication skills, particularly with difficult topics (diagnosis itself, prognosis, BPSD, continence, anxiety)	E	CV, interview ^a and reference
Person centred (respects autonomy), non-judgemental attitudes and values	E	CV, interview ^b and reference
Capable of system-building, networking and increasing efficiency within services	D	CV, interview and reference
Awareness of confidentiality, family dynamics, adult safeguarding, sensitivity of financial issues, taboos (e.g. continence)	E	Covering letter, interview and reference
Skilled in maintaining dialogue, shared decision-making and interagency communication; ability to seek agreements on data sharing	E	Interview and reference
Experience in decision-making, risk assessment, prioritisation	E	CV, interview and reference
Skills in empowering PWD and their carers to identify and solve problems	D	Interview and reference
Verbal and written communication skills, ability to negotiate, able to create relationships and respect boundaries	E	CV, interview and reference
Able to vary involvement according to needs of PWD and their carers	D	Interview and reference
Openness to learning, prepared to develop skills	E	Interview and reference
Good at managing tensions and contradictory demands, good time and stress management skills	E	Covering letter, interview and reference
a Consider group interview.		

b Consider using scenarios.

Appendix 3 Educational needs assessment tool

Educational needs assessment for CAREDEM case managers' learning, induction and refresher courses

Thinking about	Themes	Confident about this	Need to learn about this
 People who are acquiring or who have just received a dementia diagnosis 	Able to establish relationship with the individual and their family that is at the levels and intensity of the protocol		
	Informed about sources of support locally (and beyond), including peer support		
	Able to inform practice with knowledge of memory aids and techniques		
	Able to reframe dementia as a disability		
	Able to assess individual/family adjustment to and assimilation of the diagnosis, able to set assessments in interprofessional and multiagency frameworks		
	Able to reinforce resilience		
	Aware of how to introduce advance care planning and other possible planning/decisions		
	Aware of psychosocial interventions and their availability, effectiveness and cost		
2. Managing breakdown of support systems	Able to analyse and respond to behavioural and psychological symptoms		
	Able to support person/carer to access sources of support for crisis and ensure that these are as effective as possible		
	Able to identify and analyse support networks and to develop or sustain support		
	Know how to advise about incontinence/aids and equipment/safeguarding/housing/community-based social care and other opportunities		
3. Managing acute illness and hospital admission	Able to command confidence and exhibit negotiation skills in liaison with multidisciplinary team. Able to advocate on the person's behalf or support them in self-advocacy. Able to advise on re-ablement		
4. Supporting decisions about relocation	Aware of resources and implications of relocation and able to discuss them with the individual to assist in considered decision-making		
5. Supporting the person with dementia and his or her family at the end of life	Able to command confidence that support will be available and that decision-making will be personalised. Able to elicit fears and concerns about the management of crisis, distress and pain. Able to offer support to bereaved carers and other members of the support network		

Appendix 4 The CAREDEM case manager's manual

CARE-DEM Learning materials – "The Manual"

16/2/12

Contents Page

Introduction

> Asking for Help

Communication

- Repetitive Behaviours
- Understanding Non-verbal Communication

Daily Routines

- Personal Care
- Eating and Drinking
- Dental Care
- ➢ Help with Sleeping
- > Mobility

Physical Health

- Hospital Admissions
- > Delirium

Activities for You and Your Relative

- Physical Activities
- Activities to Encourage

Looking after Yourself

> Feeling Depressed

Planning for the Future

- ➢ Legal and Financial
- What Support is Available?
- Important Decisions
- Seeking Further Advice

Help with Behavioural and Psychological Symptoms

Depression and Anxiety

Help with Wandering and Getting Lost

Aggression and Agitation

Unexpected Reactions

Help with Inappropriate Behaviour Help with Verbal Noises Help with Paranoia and Hallucinations

Introduction

Looking after someone with dementia can be challenging. These leaflets given to you by your case manager are designed to provide you with more information about your relative's illness. This can help you to understand some of the difficulties you might face and to help you manage possible changes in your relative's behaviour.

The main areas covered in these leaflets are to help you with everyday activities and problems (e.g. communication, daily routines, activities, physical health, looking after yourself and planning for the future). There are also leaflets which help to explain and manage the challenging symptoms and behaviours that can sometimes occur.

You may find that not all of this information will be relevant for you at the moment but you may find it helpful to look back at these leaflets in the future. You may wish to share this information with your family, friends or care worker.

Your case manager can talk through this information and difficulties you may be experiencing, and will be able to refer you to other people that can help you to care for your relative.

Asking for Help

When caring for your relative it is important to ask for help to make sure you:

- have all the information you need
- receive support
- have the breaks that you need to continue to care for your relative

There are different health and social care services that may be helpful e.g. your G.P, occupational therapists and adult services. However it is also important that you talk to your friends and family who will know you best and could help you to have a break from caring.

The Alzheimer's Society provides reliable and up to date information and factsheets which can be accessed online <u>www.alzheimers.org.uk</u> or using their dementia helpline 0845 300 0336 (Monday-Friday 8.30am-6.30pm).

Communication

Everyone is different and your relative will have their own way of communicating with you. This could change over time and become challenging or frustrating. There are ways you can change your interactions to support successful communication and to help maintain your relative's independence.

Your Communication

- Listen carefully
- Use a calm, gentle manner with open body language e.g. not crossing arms
- Speak slowly and clearly to ensure your relative can hear you
- Use positive facial expressions such as smiling or nodding
- Use short, familiar words and simple sentences
- You may find that you need to repeat yourself more frequently, this can be frustrating. Try to remember it is not their fault, it is a result of memory loss
- Give one direction or ask one question at a time
 - allow plenty of time for your relative to respond
 - if there is no response, repeat exactly what you said
- It may sometimes be necessary to identify yourself to your relative
- If your relative has difficulty finding the right words
 - > prompt them to find the word, by asking questions or providing visual cues
 - if they are still having difficulty, try guessing what they mean and check you have guessed correctly
- If the interaction becomes difficult, take a break and try again later

Attention

- Talk in a quiet place and try to reduce distractions e.g. turn down TV or radio
- Physical contact can help to get your relative's attention and reassure them
- Make sure your relative can see you clearly e.g. have good light in the room and position yourself so you are facing them
- Making eye contact at the start of a conversation can show your relative you are talking to them.
- It helps to be in the same room and not shout from other rooms

Visual Prompts and Reminders

It can be helpful to use large, clear calendars, diaries or clocks

- To help your relative identify where items are it may be helpful to have pictures or labels e.g. pictures of plates on the kitchen cupboard or important telephone numbers by phone
- Describing the steps of a task or activity with your relative can be useful e.g. when dressing describe each step in advance
- Miming actions can support what you are saying e.g. when asking them to brush their teeth you could also mime the action
- Try not to take negative things they say too personally
- > Always treat your relative with dignity and respect
- Communication can be difficult, sometimes it is better to end a conversation and come back when you are both calmer

Repetitive Behaviours

You may find that your relative will display repetitive behaviours such as frequently asking the same question, saying the same words, phoning you many times a day and dressing or undressing for no apparent reason.

Repetition may be:

- Caused by memory loss, so your relative cannot remember they have repeated themselves
- A way of expressing an emotion or feeling e.g. boredom, loneliness or anxiety
- A method of trying to communicate information which they cannot express any other way
- An attempt to regain some control in their life, receive reassurance or become socially engaged

Some Ideas to Help you Manage Repetitive Behaviours:

- Keep a daily routine so that your relative feels orientated to their day e.g. always knows what time lunch will be, instead of repeatedly asking you
- Distract your relative by keeping them busy
- Giving your relative written information may support their memory e.g. writing a note to say you are at the shops and will be home at 4.30pm, may prevent repeated phone calls
- Reassure them with a gentle touch

- Redirect their attention with music, food or family photos
- Answer questions in the same words and in the same tone of voice each time the question is asked
- Sometimes ignoring the behaviour is best, especially if you are getting frustrated
- Try and stay calm. Remember this is a symptom of the disease and they are not doing it to annoy you

Understanding Non-verbal Communication

We all communicate in different ways, words are not the only way people can express themselves. You may need to become more aware of your relative's non-verbal expressions and what this could mean for them.

Facial Expressions

- Even if verbal communication is difficult, facial expressions can let you know how your relative is feeling. You may need to look more closely to understand what they are trying to tell you
- Your relative's facial expressions may change over time and the same facial expression could have different meanings e.g. if your relative is frowning it may be because they dislike something, they are experiencing discomfort or they are confused
- Watching your relative's eyes could help you to see changes in their emotions e.g. sadness or surprise

Body Language

Paying attention to your relative's body language and movements can help you to understand their needs. Body language could have many meanings, for example:

- If they watch or follow you this could mean they are feeling restless, looking for company or need something
- Walking away, crossed arms or turning their back to you may mean they are not interested in something or they are unhappy
- Pacing, jiggling feet or rubbing body parts may indicate they need to use the toilet, are feeling discomfort, anxious or upset.

Sound Cues

- Pay attention to your relative's speed, pitch and volume
- There may be patterns in how your relative communicates e.g. speaking quickly could mean they are feeling nervous or shouting could mean they want attention

If you are having communication difficulties you can speak with your case manager or refer to the fact sheets provided by the Alzheimer's Society called 'communicating'.

- > Try to consider the meaning of your relative's non-verbal communication
- > The same expressions could have different meanings depending on the situation
- You know your relative best but you may need to become more sensitive and aware of the changes in their communication
- You may need to check with your relative that you have understood correctly what they were trying to communicate. If you cannot understand each other and are becoming frustrated, take a break and come back to it later

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Daily Routines

You may find that your relative will need help with their everyday personal care. At times this may be frustrating and stressful for both you and your relative. There are many ways in which you can support your relative during washing, dressing and meal times.

Personal Care

Washing

- Try to maintain a routine e.g. washing at the same time each day
- Keep bath/shower area safe to avoid falls or slipping e.g. no loose floor coverings, use non-slip mats and provide enough light
- Test the water temperature, make sure the bath is the right temperature for your relative and have everything ready
- Try saying "your bath/shower is ready now"
- For privacy, close the curtains and the bathroom door
- Allow time for your relative to enjoy their bath/shower
- If your relative finds washing distressing, strip washing some of the time may be helpful

You may be eligible for a risk assessment by your local authority. occupational therapists could visit you, and there may be specialist equipment available to you.

Toileting

- Try to look for signs that your relative needs the toilet e.g. they may become restless or agitated
- Encourage your relative to use the toilet regularly, e.g. every two hours
- Use the toilet before and after meals, and before bed
- You may need to lead your relative to the toilet and help them to begin
- Ensure your relative can easily find the toilet, you may need to use pictures or words
- Provide good lighting to, and in the bathroom
- Clothes should be easy to get off and on
- Ensure your relative drinks plenty of fluids e.g. water or juice to reduce risk of urine Infections
- Limit caffeine and alcohol
- Avoid sore skin by keeping your relative clean and dry
- If accidents occur, look for patterns of where and when they happen

If incontinence or constipation becomes a problem, there may be a medical reason. Seek professional advice and consider using continence products or equipment e.g. a commode if necessary. For further information see the fact sheet provided by the Alzheimer's Society calling 'Coping with Incontinence'.

- Don't embarrass your relative, try to maintain their dignity at all times
- Give one instruction at a time
- > Encourage your relative to do as much as possible
- Don't argue, fight or rush

Always consider your relative's safety, if you are concerned, never leave them alone

Getting Dressed

- Pull curtains and close doors to maintain privacy
- Try to keep wardrobes and drawers organised
- Encourage your relative to do as much as possible for themselves
- Watch for a sign that you need to help them e.g. inappropriate choice of clothing
- Try to simplify getting dressed e.g. laying a complete outfit on the bed or giving your relative clothes in the right order
- The environment can affect your relative e.g. they may undress when hot or refuse to undress when feeling uncomfortable in the presence of a new carer
- If dressing is becoming challenging try to avoid unnecessary clothing changes. Ask yourself "is specific clothing required today?" (e.g. GP appointment or cold day)
- Be flexible and ready to try a new approach

Clothing Ideas

Changing fastenings or types clothing could make it easier for you and/or allow your relative to dress more independently:

- Try replacing buttons with Velcro
- If your relative undresses at the wrong times, try different items of clothing e.g. belted trousers or clothing that goes over the head
- Try to ensure your relative is comfortable at all times, you may need to find different items for your relative to wear e.g. track suit bottoms or cardigans not jumpers

- > Always treat your relative with dignity and respect
- Let your relative do as much as they can for as long as possible and support more if needed in the future
- Talk through each stage providing clear encouragements where necessary
- Find a routine that works for both of you. Try to stick to it, however you may have to adapt to new and sometimes challenging situations
- Aim to reduce distractions so your relative can focus on the task e.g. switching off TV
- > Try to keep important things in the same place e.g. location of glasses / clothing
- > Avoid confrontation and if you can keep calm

Eating and Drinking

You may find that your relative's eating habits and preferences will change over time. You will need to identify how much support and assistance your relative requires. It is also important that you make time to look after yourself by eating regular and healthy meals.

During Mealtimes

- Try to offer meals at regular times, however you may need to be flexible if this becomes difficult
- Try soft, relaxing music at meal times
- Try to reduce distractions by removing from the table and using plain tablecloths and plates
- Consider which items would be most help for your relative to eat their meal/snack e.g. would a bowl be better than a plate? It might be beneficial for your relative to have only one plate and one utensil at a time
- Encourage your relative to feed themselves, give them plenty of time and support them if necessary
- You may need to pay attention when your relative is eating, watching for swallowing difficulties
- If appropriate, you may need to talk your relative through the different stages of eating e.g. telling them to "open your mouth", "chew your food", "have another bite" or "have a sip of water"

Food and Drink

- If your relative is eating less, you could consider providing regular snacks (e.g. finger foods) or trying to make food more appealing (e.g. varying colour, texture or presentation)
- Remember to pay attention to your relative's eating habits, their likes and dislikes
- Always pay attention to food and drink temperature
- Give regular drinks to avoid dehydration

- Be considerate of the number of alcoholic drinks your relative has: in excess alcohol can increase confusion
- Your relative's tastes could change over time e.g. they may develop sweet cravings. To avoid confrontation you may need to try different things

If there is a Problem

Facial expressions could provide signs e.g. they dislike the taste of something. Try and look for patterns to identify the cause.

- Are certain foods causing a problem?
- Is there a chewing or swallowing problem?
- Are other people causing agitation?
- Is something a distraction?
- Check for dental and mouth care problems

If you are concerned, or experiencing difficulties seek professional advice, such as an assessment with a speech and language therapist or a dietician. For further advice and information please take a look at the Alzheimer's Society fact sheet called 'Eating and Drinking'.

- Enjoy eating together, mealtimes can be a fun and social occasion
- Don't take it too personally if your relative does not eat foods they used to eat, their tastes can change

Dental Care

It is important that you monitor and maintain your relative's oral health. Your relative may not always tell you that they have a problem with their teeth or gums, which may later effect eating. Early attention can help maintain your relative's health.

- If possible keep a consistent routine for dental care
- Give simple one step instructions
- Show and tell your relative the behaviour you want e.g. brushing your teeth at the same time
- Use alcohol free mouthwash that can be swallowed
- Electric toothbrushes may be confusing
- Check regularly for mouth sores
- Check and re-check how dentures are fitting
- Over time you may need to help your relative more

Try to make sure you relative has regular check-ups with their dentist. Some dentists are able to provide a home visit service. Always seek professional advice from your relative's dentist if you have any concerns.

Help with Sleeping

Sleep is important for both you and your relative. You may find that changes occur in your relative's sleeping patterns, which can be difficult to manage. There are steps you can take to try and improve your relative's sleeping patterns.

- Provide a calm predictable setting
- Try and keep a consistent bedtime routine
- Take your relative to the toilet before bedtime
- Being engaged in meaningful activities may lead to improved sleep e.g. achievable physical activity or helping with household tasks
- Keep previous sleeping and waking habits in mind, but you may need to become more flexible
- Be aware that changes in your relative's environment may affect their sleep e.g. sleeping place, caregiver change or different visitors
- Consult your relative's GP, to discuss potential side effects of existing medications

If your relatives' sleeping is affecting you or you are concerned, contact your case manager. You may be eligible for an occupational therapy assessment. They may suggest some other ideas you could try, such as changing sleeping arrangements, provision of night time care, using a day centre or provision of equipment to make the environment more suitable for sleeping.

Mobility

Balance and Walking

Your relative may become unsteady on their feet, may develop a stooped / leaning posture or a shuffling walk. This is common as we get older or it could be a result of changes in the brain.

- Remove hazards e.g. loose floor coverings, rugs, or unnecessary obstacles such as low level furniture. Be aware that pets and their toys can pose a trip hazard
- Ensure all chairs and furniture are sturdy and the correct height
- Make sure handrails are installed properly
- It is important that your relative wears appropriate footwear e.g. shoes/slippers with good grip
- If they can't learn to use a walking stick or frame properly, then it is safer not to use it

Tell your case manager about any changes in your relative's walking, posture, stiffness, repetitive motions or loss of balance. This may be due to memory loss or they may be a reason that can be treated. It is important that your relative is assessed and supported where necessary.

Falling and Injuries

Your relative may become unsteady, bump into things, trip, or fall out of bed.

If a person falls:

- Remain calm and focus on helping your relative
- Try and help your relative to keep calm
- Check for pain and injuries you can see
- Watch for signs of pain. Physical signs may be swelling or bruises, and behavioural signs may be increased agitation or distress
- Call the doctor if these signs occur or if they hit their head

Reasons it's easy to overlook serious injuries:

- Older people are more vulnerable to broken bones from what seems like a minor injury
- They may continue to use a broken arm or leg
- People with memory loss may have difficulty understanding where their pain is coming from, they may not tell you they are in pain or may forget to tell you they have fallen

If you are concerned about your relative falling, contact your case manager. There is technology such as Telecare or panic buttons available to alert you if your relative does fall.

- Have a routine and check your relative for cuts and bruises
- > Changes in behaviour may be your only clue to an injury
- > Take your time, accidents happen when caregivers and relatives rush
- Don't injure yourself helping your relative, seek help from others. It is important that you look after yourself

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Physical Health

Introduction

It is important that you pay attention to your relative's physical health. As everyone gets older it is normal for physical health to change, this can be distressing for you and the person with dementia. You may find that your relative needs more support with maintaining their health e.g. making/attending doctors' appointments, taking medication or understanding of their needs.

There are different things that can affect your relative's health:

- Sight and hearing loss
- Medication / dosage changes
- Other illnesses such as urinary infections (symptoms of this include burning pain on passing urine, urinating more frequently, cloudy or different smelling urine)
- Constipation, pain or fever

These can cause changes in your relatives functioning and behaviour. They can sometimes be misinterpreted as symptoms of dementia. Your relative may also not tell you about problems they are experiencing, so it is important that you monitor your relative's health, receive regular health checks and contact their doctor if you are concerned.

For more information you can refer to the Alzheimer's Society fact sheet called 'Staying Healthy'.

Hospital Admissions

Your relative may need to go into hospital; this can be stressful for you both. Planning ahead can help you to manage this situation if it occurs.

Planning a Hospital Admission

- In advance plan transport to and from the hospital
- Bring with you a list of current medications, allergies and medical history
- If your relative wears glasses or hearing aids, bring them to the hospital so that they can use them
- Bring your relative some familiar belongings, favourite foods or drink

Whilst your Relative is in Hospital

- Make sure staff are aware that your relative has dementia and any special needs or behaviours that might occur
- Talk with staff about your relative's capacity, best interests and DNR wishes. Make sure these are documented in their notes
- Discuss with staff your relative's toileting and mobility needs, emphasise what they are able to do e.g. walking to the bathroom
- Let the staff know what your relative likes or enjoys doing
- Give your relative a note to remind them where they are and when you will be visiting
- Sit with your relative as much as possible and help to reassure and calm them
- Encourage your relative to stay awake during the day and discourage daytime napping
- Gently remind your relative several times a day about the day, time, where they are and the reason for hospitalisation. Keep a clock and calendar in your relative's room.
- Notify the doctors or nurses if your relative is experiencing pain or any unusual behaviour

Emergency Admission

If you relative is admitted in an emergency, you won't have as much time to prepare, however it is helpful to plan ahead just in case.

- Tell each staff member your relative has dementia. They will not have your relative's notes
- Carry with you a list with current medications, previous history and important information
- Tell your case manager as soon as possible about the admission
- Delirium can occur in hospital. Anaesthesia or a new medication can also change behaviour whilst in hospital

Delirium

People with dementia are at higher risk for developing delirium, as a result of medications, medical illness and hospitalisation.

Delirium is confusion that comes on very fast, sometimes in just a few hours.

- A person with delirium cannot think clearly, has trouble paying attention and is not aware of what is going on around them
- Sometimes they may even see or hear things are not there
- Delirium usually clears up after a few days/weeks
- If your relative is going to the hospital, the best thing that you can do to help is to work together with your relatives doctors and nurses
- Always consult your relative's doctor if there is a sudden change in their physical health or behaviour
- Make sure your relative is taking the right medications in the right dose at the right time

Activities for You and Your Relative

Physical Activity

You and your relative may find that being active helps to improve sleep and decrease agitation, frustration or stress.

To increase physical activity you may want to:

- Go for a walk in your local area
- Go shopping
- Do some gardening
- Walk the dog
- Attend an exercise class (e.g. yoga/swimming)
- Try some gentle exercises at home (e.g. stretching)
- Turn on your favourite music and dance

You may be doing some of these already or may have some more ideas of your own. The most important thing is that you and your relative are gaining some benefits from physical activity.

- Start slowly and try to incorporate into a weekly routine
- Try and do something every day, no matter how small
- You may enjoy these activities on your own or with your relative

Activities to Encourage

Your relative may become less likely to initiate activities for themselves: you may need to encourage or support their activities.

You may wish to consider:

- Discussing current events
- Talking about the past / looking at photos / reminiscence box or album
- Spend time with friends and family
- Reading magazines or newspapers
- Cooking or enjoying a meal together

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- Go to a place of worship
- Arts and crafts
- Music and dance
- Going for a coffee / tea
- Having a picnic
- Gentle exercise
- Gardening
 - > Try to build activities into your daily routine ensuring that each day includes enjoyable activities as well as chores or tasks
 - > Your relative may enjoy activities that are more simple, the most important thing is that they gain some pleasure from the activity
 - > Try activities that challenge your relative without causing them stress/worry

Looking After Yourself

Feeling Depressed

Caring for someone with dementia can be demanding and difficult at times. Some people find that they will experience some of the symptoms of depression.

If you experience a combination of the following, contact your GP.

- Sleeping too much or too little
- Waking up early in the morning and not being able to fall back asleep
- Eating too much or too little
- Nothing seems to make you happy
- Trouble concentrating
- Feeling guilty about things in the past
- Feeling sad all the time
- Wanting to die
- Feeling things will never get better
- Feeling helpless
- Loosing interest in things you would normally enjoy

Take Care of Yourself

Caring for a person with dementia is a difficult experience. In order to be able to look after your relative, it is important that you look after yourself.

Try and remember to:

- Get plenty of rest
- Eat regular and healthy meals
- Drink plenty of fluids e.g. water or juice
- Go for a walk or do some gentle exercise every day
- Think about who you can approach for support. This may be family, friends, neighbours or professionals
- Make time for yourself and what you enjoy, do things that help you to relax
- You may need to plan ahead to arrange transport or for someone to stay with your relative
- Look after your own health e.g. attend your doctors appointments, take your medications as prescribed and make sure you monitor your own repeat prescriptions

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. Caring for your relative can become demanding, especially if your relatives needs require you to provide more physical support during washing and dressing. It is important that you speak to your case manager, as an occupational therapy assessment and intervention could help you e.g. tips for safe manual handing or technology such as a bath or stair lift.

There are some things you can to look after yourself:

- Be realistic about what you can do
- You can't do everything e.g. encourage your relative to do as much as they are able to
- Try and do things you enjoy with your relative e.g. doing a crossword together
- Take it one day at a time
- Be good to yourself. Try and take a break from care giving as regularly as possible
- Communication with family, friends, your relative and professionals is essential
- It can be helpful to share your feelings about caring for your relative
- Some carers find it helpful to think about the future and begin to make plans e.g. discussing power of attorney or care choices

It can be difficult to ask for help when needed, this doesn't mean you're giving up, it is a sign of being a good carer.

Planning for the Future

Looking after someone with dementia often means that you face many practical problems. However it is also important that you set aside some time to think about legal, financial and support options for the future.

Legal and Financial

When caring for a relative with dementia, the benefits you and your relative receive may change. This could make a great difference to you, so it is important you are aware of what you could be entitled to.

The information on legal and financial issues is often changing and the best sources of advice can be found in the following and regularly updated fact sheets, provided by the Alzheimer's Society.

- Council Tax
- Financial and Legal Affairs
- Benefits
- Benefits Rates and Income / Saving Thresholds
- Mental Capacity Act 2005
- Enduring Power of Attorney and Lasting Power of Attorney

What Support is Available?

Everyone is eligible for an assessment of their needs from their local authority Social Services. This enables social services to understand the needs of your relative and identify services that can help you e.g. meals on wheels, home care or respite.

Important Decisions

In the future there may come a time when you need make decisions about your relative's health care, think about extra support and consider different care options. Making these decisions and knowing when to ask for or accept more help can be difficult.

Some people choose not to think about the future, however some carers find it helpful to know what their relative's end of life wishes are when making decisions.

If you have any concerns about caring for your relative in the future, please talk to your case manager, for example you may wish to discuss making a care plan, care homes or end of life care.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Seeking Further Advice

These issues can be overwhelming and difficult to understand. Therefore it is important that you seek information and advice that is relevant to you. On any of the above issues you can speak to:

- Your case manager
- Social Services
- Age UK
- Citizens Advice
- Alzheimer's Society

For more information you can refer to the Alzheimer's Society fact sheet called 'Community Care Assessment'.

Help with Behavioural and Psychological Symptoms

Depression and Anxiety

There may be times in the course of your relative's illness when they show symptoms of depression or anxiety. It can be difficult to know how to improve things for your relative if these occur.

<u>Depression</u> involves expressing feelings of worthlessness, hopelessness or being a burden to others

Anxiety involves feeling tense, uncertain or fearful

Managing Depression and Anxiety

Environment and Social Contact

- Provide a bright and cheerful environment
- Touch and hug your relative when they are crying and tearful
- Encourage social interaction with others
- Plan pleasant activities with people your relative enjoys being with
- Often too many visitors can be overwhelming
 - Encourage friends to visit one at a time
 - o Encourage friends to talk to your relative and maintain eye contact

Activities

- Sometimes enjoyable activities can distract your relative and help them to feel better
- Encourage your relative to talk about pleasant things, both present and past. Thinking about happy events and helping them remember good things can cheer them up
- Identify activities that your relative enjoyed in the past
- Increase and encourage activities that your relative can enjoy
- Observe your relative to confirm enjoyment of the activities
- Change activity if your relative becomes bored or anxious

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK. Speak with your case manager about how to manage these symptoms. If you are concerned you may wish to speak with your relative's GP who may consider medication. For more information you can refer to the Alzheimer's Society fact sheet called 'Depression'.

Take suicide threats or statements seriously, notify your relative's GP immediately

Modify the environment, social contact and activities to reflect your relative's current needs or level of functioning

Help with Wandering and Getting Lost

Some people will find that their relative starts to wander; this can be a common behaviour. This can be a worrying experience for a carer, especially if their relative might be at risk of getting lost or hurting themselves.

Wandering can take two forms:

- 1. <u>Aimless Wandering</u>: involves moving around and looking at things, much like window shopping
- 2. <u>Directed Wandering</u>: involves going a "mission" to see someone or something. This type of wandering is usually more difficult to redirect.

Both types of wandering can be meaningful and have a purpose to someone with dementia.

- Try to keep your relative's surroundings familiar and calm
- Frequently reassure your relative about where there are and that they are safe
- Try not to argue or reason with your relative
- Put things out of sight that might remind your relative to leave such as coats, hats, bags or keys
- Make the doors less noticeable e.g. use a draft curtain
- If your relative struggles with visitors coming and leaving, you could try making their entrances/exits more subtle, to avoid causing unnecessary distress
- If your home is safe and secure, allow them to wander

If you relative is content wandering in the house and not at risk, it is OK to leave them. If you are concerned about your relative's safety (e.g. leaving the home) or it is causing your distress (e.g. occurring at night) you can contact your case manager for further advice.

Coping with Wandering

If your relative's wandering becomes a concern for you, there are steps you can take or changes you can make to help the situation.

- Involve your relative in regular activities and exercise e.g. regular walks
- Have a plan for what could you do, when your relative starts wandering. Have a back-up plan
- You might be able to notice and think about what causes your relative to wander, and try to make changes e.g. noticing that your relative's wandering increases when they need to use the toilet
- Consider using monitoring devices that alert you to your relative's sounds and movements e.g. Telecare
- Make sure your relative has identification on them, such as a bracelet with their name and your phone number
- It is recommended that you have a recent photo of your relative, and contact the police if they become lost

You can contact the Alzheimer's Society for more details and information

Aggression and Agitation

People with dementia can become agitated or aggressive if they feel confused, frustrated, frightened, or as a result of disinhibition. This could involve your relative shouting, throwing items or trying to hurt you.

It is helpful if you learn what leads to you relative becoming agitated or aggressive. There are some steps you can take to avoid the situation occuring.

- Establish a calm, quiet environment
- Know what your relative can manage and what is too demanding for them
- Try and be flexible with what you are asking of your relative e.g. If bathing or showering every day makes your relative agitated, consider changing the time of day or frequency

If your relative does become agitated or aggressive there are some steps you can take to try and intervene early, and prevent a crisis.

- Speak with a reassuring and gentle voice, this can help to diffuse the situation by calming your relative
- Approach your relative slowly and calmly from the front, try to tell them what you are going to do
- Where possible remove your relative from individuals and situations that upset them
- Avoid arguing or trying to reason when your relative is agitated
- Use non-threatening postures
 - Standing over your relative who is seated or in bed can be frightening and can provoke them
 - Kneel or sit so that you are talking with them at the same level
- Redirect your relative and turn their attention to something unrelated
- Think about whether touching or hugging comforts or further distresses your relative

If you are concerned or feel threatened by your relative's behaviour it is important that you seek advice and support from you case manager.

For more information you can refer to Alzheimer's Society fact sheet called 'Dealing with Aggressive Behaviour'.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Unexpected Reactions

Over time your relative may react in different ways to a situation. These can be upsetting and difficult for you to understand. Trying to work out what causes these reactions can help you to understand how best to cope when they occur.

<u>Unexpected reactions</u>: sudden emotional responses which appear out of proportion to the situation. Examples of these are becoming alarmed or agitated by something on TV, or frequently crying over things that wouldn't have previously upset them.

<u>Sundown syndrome</u>: a name used to describe increased agitation and aggressive behaviour that occurs late in the day.

Why are these reactions occuring?	How to manage or prevent these reactions?
Your relative's environment is too stimulating or confusing	Simplify the environment e.g. do one task at a time, reduce noise or turn off TV programmes that upset them
Changes in routine or caregiver	Try to maintain a steady routine and where possible, avoid making sudden changes
Caring is difficult. Sometimes carers can become agitated, frustrated or impatient with their relative	Try to maintain a calm approach
Your relative is overwhelmed by the demands and decisions asked of them	Simplify requests or instructions and ask questions one at a time, allowing time for them to answer
Your relative may misunderstand their situation or surroundings	Try not to argue with them. What seems real to your relative is different to how you view the situation
Possible side effects of medication	Speak to your relative's GP

Unexpected reactions and sundowning symptoms can be very upsetting. It is important that you ask for support if you feel you are struggling to cope.

Help with Inappropriate Behaviour

There may be times when your relative behaves out of character or in a way that is not appropriate for the situation. These may include shouting or swearing in public, talking to strangers, undressing or sexualised behaviour which can be distressing for you, your relative and others present.

Inappropriate behaviour may involve your relative using words, actions, or physical contact that is unwanted and socially unacceptable for the situation. These behaviours are a result of changes in the brain that can cause disinhibition. However, these behaviours can cause embarrassment and be difficult to manage, especially if children are present.

Managing Inappropriate Behaviour

Things to Consider

- Is the room the right temperature?
- Is their clothing comfortable?
- Does your relative need to go to the toilet?
- Where possible keep routine, surroundings and responses to behaviour consistent
- Are there specific times when this behaviour happens?
 - o If so, speak with your case manager about managing this

Ways to Respond

- Try to ignore the remark or behaviour
- Avoid trying to reason with your relative, instead try to distract them with food, drink, a walk or another activity
- Physical affection such as holding hands, may help to reduce behaviour
- Try to remain calm and respond in a gentle and non-confrontational manner
- Try not to overreact, calmly take your relative to somewhere more private

For more information you can refer to Alzheimer's Society fact sheets titled 'Unusual Behaviour' and 'Sex and Dementia'.

It is important to speak to your case manager if your relative displays any difficult behaviours or you are concerned in any way.

Your relationship with your relative, the situation you are in and the location the behaviour occurs in will determine whether you view the behaviour is appropriate. This decision will guide your response to the behaviour.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Help with Verbal Noises

Some people with dementia can express verbal noises. These can take the form of screaming, screeching, murmuring, crying or moaning. This may never occur, or may occur for short periods. Verbal noises can be distressing and difficult to understand. Below are some strategies to help you manage this.

You could try and Manage Verbal Noises by:

- Creating a calm, predictable and relaxing environment
- Having a consistent routine
- Playing soft music or relaxing tapes
- Have good lighting
- Speaking in a soothing tone
- Using touch, massage, hugs or gently rocking your relative

You could try to work out the Cause of the Verbal Noises by:

- Looking for things in the surroundings that might upset them
- Providing enough meals, drinks and snacks
- Making sure clothing is comfortable
- Making sure they are clean and dry
- Regularly checking the position of their body
- Checking for pain or illness
- Asking your doctor or nurse to review medications
- It is important to remember that you may never understand what your relative is trying to convey
- These noises can be frustrating but your relative is not doing them on purpose and you should try not to take them personally
- If you are unable to stop your relative's verbal noises, you could try listening to some music or spending some time in another room

Help with Paranoia and Hallucinations

Because of memory loss, your relative may have trouble understanding what is real and what is not. At times this is overwhelming and it can be difficult to know what to do in these situations.

<u>Paranoia</u> involves being suspicious without reason, believing that others are judging you or trying to harm you in some way

<u>Delusions</u> are strongly held false beliefs or experiences that differ from reality and are not based on the person's surroundings

<u>Hallucinations</u> are not based on reality and cause people to misunderstand their surroundings. They can involve hearing, seeing or smelling things that are not there

Managing these Symptoms

Your Relative's Environment

- Establish a daily routine
- Keep familiar objects around
- Change the surroundings as little as possible, prepare your relative if things have to change
- Make sure there is adequate lighting
- Don't leave money and receipts lying around if your relative is suspicious of people stealing. You could consider paying for their bills with direct debits

How you React

- Avoid confronting your relative or arguing with them about the truthfulness of their experiences or beliefs
- Check out your relative's suspicions, they may be based on fact.
- Try to distract your relative and don't encourage their experiences

Other things you can do

- Take your relative to have regular hearing and eye tests
- Speak to your relative's doctor some medications can cause hallucinations
- Tell people supporting your relative to help them understand and manage these symptoms

If you notice any of these behaviours, speak with your case manager. Don't worry if it's not causing a problem or distress to you or your relative. If your relative is becoming distressed speak to your relatives GP

Do not take being accused personally, this can be part of the disease
 Understand that this is not a behaviour the patient can control

Appendix 5 Notes abstraction form

1. Patient details

Age (years)		
Gender	Female	1
	Male	2
Living arrangements	Lives alone	1
	Lives with main carer	2
	Lives with main carer and other(s)	3
	Lives with other(s) (please specify)	4
	Other (please specify)	5
Diagnosis	Alzheimer's disease	1
	Vascular dementia	2
	Frontal lobe dementia	3
	Dementia with Lewy bodies	4
	Mixed dementia	5
	Other	6
Date of diagnosis	dd/mm/yy	
Preferred language	English	1
	Other	2
Religion	None	1
	Church of England	2
	Catholic	3
	Muslim	4
Does the service user's religion influence the	Yes	1
way in which their service should be provided?	No	2
Ethnicity	White	1
	Mixed/multiple ethnic groups	2
	Asian/Asian British	3
	Black/African/Caribbean/black British	4
	Other ethnic group (including Arab)	5
Number of informal carers	Number	

2. Main carer details

Age (years)		
Gender	Female	1
	Male	2
Relationship to person with dementia	Friend	1
	Husband/wife	2
	Partner	3
	Parent	4
	Sibling	5
	Other relative	6
	Other (please specify)	7
Employment status	Working full-time	1
	Working part-time	2
	Retired	3
	Long-term sick or disabled	4
	Looking after home or family	5
	In full-time or part-time education	6
Has a formal carer assessment	Yes	1
been completed?	No	2
Preferred language	English	1
	Other	2
Religion	None	1
	Church of England	2
	Catholic	3
	Muslim	4
Does the carer's religion influence the way in	Yes	1
which their service should be provided?	No	2
Ethnicity	White	1
	Mixed/multiple ethnic groups	2
	Asian/Asian British	3
	Black/African/Caribbean/Black British	4
	Other ethnic group (including Arab)	5
Registered with practice	Yes	1
	No	2

Appendix 6 Notes from the case manager meeting

ondon, Monday 26 November 2012

Present: Steve Iliffe (co-chair), Pat Brown (co-chair), Claire Bamford, case managers, Marie Poole, Barbara Stephens, Amy Waugh

Session 1: Where we are now?

No researchers were present at this session to allow case managers and Pat Brown an opportunity to confidentially discuss their experiences of case management. The mentor and case managers then summarised their discussions to feed back to the wider group in session 2.

Session 2: Discussions of lessons learned (all)

Pat Brown summarised the key points of the discussion of what had worked well and not so well in case management. She encouraged the case managers to contribute to the discussion. The following key points were included.

Positive feedback from patients and carers

Informal feedback to the case managers indicated that patients and carers valued the continuity and consistency of having a named case manager. Other positive feedback to case managers related to ease of access to case management and being able to contact the case manager directly as and when needed rather than having to deal with appointment systems. The service could also react quickly when needed.

Issues with recruitment and identification of eligible patients

The process of identifying potential participants using the QOF register had highlighted a number of issues and areas for improvement. The Norfolk and Newcastle case managers had conducted additional searches to identify any patients with dementia who were not on the QOF register. One case manager described how some patient records included symptom codes only (e.g. memory problems/disturbance; cognitive impairment) rather than a formal diagnosis despite general recognition within the practice that the patient had dementia. The lack of formal diagnosis meant that these patients were not included in the QOF register. Another had identified a significant number of patients receiving anti-dementia drugs who were not included on the QOF register. A detailed review of their notes indicated that the majority of these patients had a diagnosis of dementia but this information had either not been added to the patient summary or not been properly coded and therefore the patient had not been added to the QOF register. Diagnoses were often included in correspondence, suggesting that data from incoming letters are not systematically coded. Because the diagnosis had often been made some years earlier and was often in correspondence (e.g. from old age psychiatry), the process of reviewing the notes to check for a diagnosis had been a lengthy and intensive process.

There was some discussion of the inclusion criteria for the study, in particular the issue of whether patients using secondary mental health services should be included. It was agreed that only patients being actively managed by the CMHT should be excluded.

Need for culturally appropriate recruitment processes

The need for culturally appropriate documentation was emphasised, together with detailed knowledge of specific local services for minority ethnic groups. The existing documentation was identified as a significant barrier to recruitment in the London practice, which serves a multiethnic population.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Whether the 'right' patients and carers are being recruited

The north-east case manager felt that in Newcastle only patients and carers whose situation was relatively stable were accessing the service. There was concern that those with high levels of unmet need were not engaging with the study. Possible reasons for this related to the research aspects of the study, accessibility of the information and the lack of emotional energy and time to get involved. Given that people with most needs may not be participating, it is difficult to gain an accurate picture of the time allocation required to fulfil the case manager role.

The approach to recruitment means that patients and carers are being offered case management at different points on their illness trajectory. Some cases had reported that the service would have been useful earlier, particularly when they had recently negotiated substantial care packages. However, some people offered the service shortly after diagnosis felt that they did not need any input yet. Barbara Stephens felt that people are not always aware of their needs and only realise with hindsight that some help would have been useful. However, increased awareness of current needs should be facilitated by good assessment and engagement with patients and carers.

Concerns over future management of patients and carers

Although one case manager felt that she would be able to continue to support patients and carers after the end of CAREDEM as part of the QOF reviews, the other case managers were concerned that families would be left in 'limbo' once the intervention is withdrawn.

Time allocated to case management

There was a clear message that half a day per week is not sufficient to fulfil the role, particularly when travelling time for home-based assessments is considered. The case managers and mentor did not think that a varied-enough caseload had been encountered (e.g. people with high levels of need or in crisis) to be able to accurately estimate the time required. One case manager felt that patients recruited to date in Newcastle were very homogeneous in terms of social class, education and cultural background, which may also give a skewed picture of workload. Although the case manager role allows time to build therapeutic relationships, the time constraints of the case managers limited the extent to which this was possible. Time is also needed by sessional case managers to 'pick up where you left off', and also to reflect on sometimes intense experiences within case management.

Case management as a distinct role

The case managers felt that the case management role should be a role with its own identity, rather than an add-on to another role, for example practice nurse. This was considered important as a message to others in the practice and for delivering a high-quality service. Even with additional time (e.g. 50% clinical management and 50% case management), the clinical case managers did not think that the two roles would 'sit' together well.

Boundaries between research and case management

Marie Poole raised the additional difficulties created by the embedding of case management within a feasibility study. Patients and carers in Newcastle seemed to focus more on the research element than case management, despite an emphasis on the service element. In contrast, participants in Norfolk seemed more tuned into case management than the research elements. Possible reasons for this were discussed such as a different relationship between the participants and practice nurses.

There was felt to be an overlap between the baseline assessment conducted by the research team and the initial assessment by case managers. Outside the trial the case managers were keen to develop assessment skills (e.g. in using the MMSE) and this could be a useful outcome for practices as well. Steve lliffe will investigate possible training opportunities for the case managers.

Some of the problems with recruitment may reflect a reluctance to engage with the research aspects of the study rather than a lack of interest in case management.

Location of case managers

One case manager queried the feasibility of delivering case management in GP practices. Colleagues in general practice tended to assume that the case managers were available for other work during their CAREDEM time, resulting in frequent interruptions. The extent to which the practice nurses were supported by their practices varied. One case manager had been asked to take on the QOF register and the dementia reviews, which would build on the experience and knowledge of local services she had developed in the project. Another reported being under pressure to 'give something back' to the practice, suggesting that case management is not valued in its own right and consideration needs to be given to ways of quantifying the benefits of case management to individual patients and carers and the practice.

A further issue with being based in general practice was the difficulty in getting through to the surgery by telephone if patients or carers wished to contact the case manager. One case manager suggested a work mobile and the possible use of texting (if acceptable to patients and carers); however, others did not think that this would be logistically possible as they may be undertaking clinical work and unable to respond. One case manager was concerned about her ability to offer a quality service outside of her allocated time (although as yet no participants had attempted to contact her out of hours).

Induction of case managers

Pat Brown suggested that the induction process could be improved, particularly as the case managers had variable knowledge of dementia and local services. A longer induction time could ensure that case managers were better equipped to deliver case management and help them get into their new role. Although the delays in recruitment created some additional time for training, they also resulted in a backlog of cases waiting for initial case manager assessment and limited opportunities for following up cases. PB felt more active support from the mentor would be helpful.

The north-east case manager felt that a background in adult services was an advantage, partly as existing knowledge of services and personal working relationships/contacts facilitated speedy referral, but also because access to social care records provided a more detailed and holistic picture of patients and carers. Another case manager commented that she would benefit from increased knowledge of social services provision.

Preparation of and liaison with existing services

A number of issues had arisen concerning boundaries and perceived overlap of roles with existing services. These concerns are likely to be heightened in the current climate of primary care services. Building up networks, developing knowledge of local services and liaising with colleagues are a key part of the case manager role and sufficient time needs to be allocated to these activities. One case manager had met with CMHTs to try to allay their suspicions about her role and potential overlap with their remit. PB reported that case management had been received positively by social work teams.

Steve lliffe asked the group for suggestions as to how some of the issues could be addressed.

Recruitment

Possible strategies to recruit the most appropriate participants were:

- to link to memory clinics or secondary mental health services with newly diagnosed patients automatically being referred for case management
- to alert GPs to involve case managers when concerns are first raised, at the same time as the process of diagnosis
- to offer a self-referral system so that relatives could approach a key person in the practice
- to have an aggressive information campaign with other community-based services to encourage referrals (e.g. from wardens, housing, banks, police and adult services).

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Most of the proposed strategies focused on identifying people early in the illness trajectory. If a prospective approach was used, we would anticipate that one new case of dementia would be identified each year per 1000 patients registered with a practice. Although some patients and carers might require intensive intervention early on (e.g. daily contact in some cases), a staggered approach to recruitment might be easier to manage than the approach that we had used, in which numerous cases were identified at the same time, leading to problems with following up patients and carers in a timely manner. It was important to ensure that recruitment strategies included people with vascular dementia as this group often receive fewer services than people with Alzheimer's disease.

Location

The team discussed the benefits and disadvantages of working in another environment. Some of the key disadvantages were constant interruptions by colleagues and systems-based pop-up messages. One case manager thought that being located elsewhere would increase efficiency. Possible alternatives were:

- Multiagency settings, which could enhance opportunities for liaison with other practitioners and raise the profile of the case managers. One potential difficulty might be remote access to GP notes. A specific issue for one case manager was the need to work across two local authorities.
- Home working or hot desking in Age UK offices might minimise the potential for mission creep but could also reduce the visibility of the service.
- Memory clinics (currently where Admiral Nurses are based).

Steve Iliffe suggested that there may be the same scope for interruptions and mission creep in other locations.

Time required

Cross-practice working was discussed in the light of one case manager's experience on CAREDEM and another's previous role as a paediatric case manager. We explored typical caseloads of case managers in other contexts. One case manager had a caseload of approximately 150, as do Admiral nurses. Community matrons were thought to have a similar case load. If we were recruiting prospectively, a typical practice of 12,000–14,000 patients would expect to have around 12 patients with a new diagnosis of dementia per year. Based on a caseload of approximately 150, a full-time case manager would be able to cover approximately 12 practices. The capacity of the case manager would depend on the availability of other services, which would determine whether the case manager primarily had a co-ordinating role or was providing direct help to patients and carers.

Session 3: Case managers' input into practice records (all except Amy Waugh)

Marie Poole asked the case managers to describe how they were documenting case management. There was consensus that the paperwork designed for the study was not user-friendly and, as a result, each case manager had developed her own approach.

One case manager had recorded the initial assessment in the study documentation and the GP notes but felt that this was an inefficient use of time. Subsequently, she had written a narrative summary of each contact in the practice notes and then cut and pasted this and kept a copy in a Word document for each patient and carer. This enabled her to quickly review her caseload each Monday. Although another queried whether it was appropriate to record case management in the GP records, this case manager felt that it was helpful for her colleagues.

Two case managers were not inputting any data on to the practice systems (EMIS; Egton Medical Information Systems), with the exception of one noting when telephone calls were anticipated. The other raised the issue of patient confidentiality as one patient had specifically requested that certain information not be shared with the GP. Pat Brown suggested that this could be managed by noting brief details of the contact in the GP notes but writing fuller notes elsewhere (perhaps even omitting details from these notes but including sufficient information to act as an aide memoire).

Marie Poole asked whether there should be some standardisation of recording data in the practice systems. It was agreed that at a minimum the GP notes should indicate that the patient was involved in the CAREDEM study. Steve lliffe suggested that, if there was a READ code for case management, this could be used to code each contact with the patient.

Marie Poole had drafted a QOF letter and proforma that could be completed by case managers and used to meet the requirement for annual review of patients on the dementia register. None of the case managers had used these to date. One case manager had now taken over responsibility for the annual reviews in her practice; however, these documents may still be relevant to the other practices. Another had discussed with the general practitioner adding scanned versions of case manager assessment documents to the patient notes, but had not yet done this.

Pat Brown raised issues around the practicalities of using paper compared with electronic documentation.

Session 4: Identification of cases for interview and observation (all except Amy Waugh and one case manager)

Claire Bamford asked the case managers about opportunities to carry out observations and interviews in London and Norfolk. She emphasised the value of including patients and carers with different characteristics in terms of the relationship between patient and carer (e.g. spouse vs. adult child), level of need, availability of social support and stage of dementia. She clarified that it is important to include cases in which the case manager had limited input rather than 'cherry-picking' cases with more substantial involvement that would demonstrate the positive impact of CAREDEM.

Claire Bamford and Marie Poole will liaise with case managers to arrange observations and interviews.

Session 5: Summary of the day and moving forward (all except Amy Waugh and one case manager)

Steve Iliffe summarised the key discussion points of the day:

- the utility of this meeting in terms of discovering important 'lessons learned' for case management in practice and the trial phase
- whether GP practice is the ideal setting for the delivery of case management and what the alternatives are
- whether case management can be an additional role or should be a distinct role, perhaps covering a broader practice base
- whether a second feasibility study is required to specifically focus on the outcomes of case management.

Appendix 7 Dementia and Neurodegerative Diseases Research Network public and patient involvement review

We really appreciate what you are trying to do The first statement on the notes written by group members after the discussion

Seven members of the DeNDRoN PPI Forum took part in a group discussion of the CAREDEM project on 19 March 2013. They were provided with a briefing document at the group discussion, which lasted 1.5 hours.

The discussion was organised within a modified nominal group format, with a specific task – the identification of lessons to be learned from CAREDEM – and with time to clarify answers and reach agreement on key topics (the modification was not prioritising answers or topics).

Steve lliffe facilitated the discussion, took notes and attempted to sum up the topics discussed. The next day written notes from a further discussion were given to the research team and these have incorporated into this report. This report will be sent to the group members to verify and validate the topics.

The group's response to the briefing document ranged across three main topics: the nature of the illness pathway in dementia and the implications for the timing and conduct of case management; the nature of existing services for people with dementia; and the attributes needed by case managers working with people with dementia and their carers.

1. Illness processes

Two things matter here. Comorbidities have an impact on the illness pathway and the case manager needs to understand them and their interactions with dementia. Conflict is common and the case manager has to be able to deal with it – the most difficult conflicts are those that develop between the person with dementia and their carers.

Timing of case management may be critical and it should begin around the time of diagnosis (to start the development of care plans early) whilst allowing for other and later routes of entry.

2. Services for people with dementia

The fragmentation of care is long-standing and will not easily be resolved by case management. The development time for case management may need to be longer than the 5 or 6 months allowed in the CAREDEM project – but one practice nearly reached its recruitment target (this practice would have reached its recruitment target if case management work had not taken precedence over recruitment in the one session per week allocated to case management), so perhaps the time needed will vary from one community to another. Services are very variable across the country, so localising case management will be important.

Existing services mostly do not do case management as defined in CAREDEM – this is true of most specialist mental health services, and most care homes – so their users should not be excluded from a future trial. However, clinicians need to be engaged with case management, both in the general practices

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by lliffe et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

and in local specialist services, both to assist the case manager and to avoid conflicts of interest, duplication of effort and misunderstandings about respective roles.

The demand for nursing skills is high, especially in general practice, so it may not be realistic to expect practice nurses to take on case management tasks.

3. Attributes of the case manager

These were summed up as authority, flexibility and being skilled in project management. The variability and high turnover of case managers were also mentioned (based in part on the personal experience of a group member from Northumberland, where there are case managers for people with dementia), and it was argued that the best case manager is a family member.

Authority was seen as necessary to make case management happen, partly through negotiation with senior managers in other services. Flexibility (and functioning in 'catch-up mode') is necessary for the case manager's response to (sometimes rapidly) changing needs in the person with dementia – described by one participant as 'a moving target' – and their carers. Project management skills were suggested as the core components of case management, rather than clinical skills, within an 'ambassadorial' role that had authority.

Appendix 8 Design lessons for a definitive trial

Challenges		Potential solutions
Recruitment of practices	Recruitment of practices is difficult in the present primary care environment	Consider how any new intervention will fit alongside Direct Enhanced Services for dementia, changes in the GP contract and the emergence of Any Willing Providers
Recruitment	How familiar are the case managers with recruitment? (e.g. follow-up calls, having to be proactive, importance of documentation during recruitment, etc.) Case managers' knowledge of inclusion/exclusion criteria needs to be accurate (e.g. all people with dementia – all ages and types – must have a family carer, etc.) Few people on the QOF dementia register	 Can research assistants or research network staff be of further assistance? Can help with recruitment (honorary contracts for access to records to help with/carry out screening and sending letters?) Provision of helpful materials/training? Ask the practice staff to update dementia register before the start of the project – may increase chances of successful recruitment? Different paths of recruitment: part of the discharge process of memory clinics, drug trials
	Not having carer details on GP record, especially if carer not registered with the same practice	Make sure case managers seek details of a family carer from the outset of screening – screen potential participants as dyads not individuals
Time limits in the south	 Half a day per week is not enough time for all of the case manager tasks if carried out by practitioners without experience of dementia care: training/supervision recruitment case management 	 Make sure time is protected Stagger recruitment to ensure that case management can happen too Allow more time for follow-up to avoid concentrating on recruitment to the detriment of follow-up Research assistants to have a bigger role in recruitment tasks (see above) Need to think about how much each of the research team and mentors are asking of the case manager – need to share things being asked of them so they are not overwhelmed
	Time is not dedicated to case management/ interruptions from colleagues during case management work	 Increase awareness of the project in the practice Encourage backfill provision Ensure interruption time is taken back/time is made up and is supported by the practice manager
	 Having a fixed case management time period means: cannot vary times to contact potential participants during recruitment – reduces potential for recruitment success if recruitment letters are not sent on the dedicated day it is another week before they are sent if carer/patient needs contact at any other time, what will happen? 	 Is there a way to introduce flexible working or to spread case management time across the working week?

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2014. This work was produced by liffe *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Challenges		Potential solutions
Other	Various requests from research team members who are unaware that colleagues have also contacted the case manager	Nominate only one member of the research team to contact the case manager plus the mentor in regular contact with the case manager to reduce excess demands on the case manager. Information can then be cascaded to the rest of the research team instead of the same information being requested from different members of the team. This should reduce the burden on the case managers

EME HS&DR HTA PGfAR PHR

Part of the NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

This report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health

Published by the NIHR Journals Library